From DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL NEUROSCIENCE Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

# INTERPLAY BETWEEN BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER DISRUPTION AND NEUROINFLAMMATION FOLLOWING SEVERE TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

Caroline Lindblad



Stockholm 2022

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet.

Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2022

© Caroline Lindblad, 2022

ISBN 978-91-8016-434-4

Cover illustration: Subventricular zone-astrocytes, stained following differentiation with GFAP, GLT-1, c-Jun, and DAPI. Color channels were modified for aesthetic purposes.

### INTERPLAY BETWEEN BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER DISRUPTION AND NEUROINFLAMMATION FOLLOWING SEVERE TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

### THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

### **Caroline Lindblad**

The thesis will be defended in public at Rolf Luft Centrum L1:00 Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset Solna, February 4<sup>th</sup> 2022 at 09:00.

Principal Supervisor: Professor Mikael Svensson Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience

*Co-supervisors:* Dr Eric P Thelin Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience

Dr Sebastian Thams Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience

Associate Professor Per Mattsson Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience *Opponent:* Professor Iver Arne Langmoen University of Oslo, Oslo University Hospital Department of Neurosurgery

*Examination Board:* Professor Eddie Weitzberg Karolinska Institutet Department of Physiology and Pharmacology

Associate Professor Anders Hånell Uppsala University Department of Neuroscience

Associate Professor Per Almqvist Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience

Till min mormor Ingrid

### POPULAR SCIENCE SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

A severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) is elicited when an external physical force affects the head and causes structural brain injuries that render the patient unconscious. Despite scientific progress, ~35% of afflicted patients die, and survivors often face disabilities. One explanation for this is that the trauma triggers secondary injury mechanisms within the brain. Although these may clear the tissue from dying cells and heal damaged structures, they also promote additional brain injury. Two particularly interesting mechanisms of such character are blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption and neuroinflammation. BBB disruption causes the brain's finer blood vessels to break, which provokes an inflammatory reaction within the brain. In addition, the inflammatory reaction is parallelly driven by the brain's inherent immune cells. This thesis aimed to characterize BBB disruption and neuroinflammation following severe TBI.

In paper I and II, we used cerebrospinal fluid and blood from TBI patients. In paper I, 17 patients were included, whereas paper II included 190 patients. We found that BBB disruption occurs among numerous patients at the time of trauma, whereafter it is sustained for at least a week (paper I). We also found that BBB disruption is of importance for clearance of brain-specific substances from brain to blood. We elaborated on this in **paper II**, where we found that BBB disruption constitutes a novel prognostic marker, strongly related to the neuroinflammatory response within the injured brain. Notably, a specific part of the neuroinflammatory response, the complement system, seemed to be involved. In order to characterize the locally injured tissue in even higher detail we conducted two laboratory studies (paper III, IV). In paper III we assessed how BBB disruption, neuroinflammation and brain swelling interplay following experimental TBI in rodents. We found that neuroinflammatory responses relating to the brain's inherent immune system cells were active in regions with cellular swelling. Interestingly, this also seemed to be related to one of the cells that make up the BBB, the astrocyte. Astrocytes have processes which cover the BBB surface. At the end of these processes lie a water channel called aquaporin-4. Following experimental TBI, aquaporin-4 had been withdrawn from the BBB, which could be related to local inflammatory reactions (paper III). In order to further elucidate how astrocytes are affected by inflammation, we conducted paper IV, in which we cultured stem cells that we matured into astrocytes and nerve cells. We found that astrocytes reacted promptly to inflammatory stimuli. Interestingly, an astrocyte stimulated with inflammatory substances seen among TBI patients, could also adopt a behavior that killed nerve cells.

Taken together, we characterized BBB disruption and neuroinflammation following severe TBI. Neuroinflammation is strongly related to BBB disruption and therefore entails an eligible treatment target. Locally in the damaged tissue, additional injury mechanisms are at play, some of which are mediated by astrocytes. These latter findings need further characterization in the laboratory environment preceding pursuit of therapeutical strategies in humans.

### POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

När en människas huvud utsätts för våld kan detta leda till att man förvärvar en svår traumatisk hjärnskada (TBI), vid vilken man blir medvetslös på olycksplatsen till följd av skador inuti hjärnan. Trots forskningsframsteg dör cirka 35% av drabbade patienter och bland överlevande har många funktionsnedsättningar. En delförklaring till detta är att traumat triggar en mängd reaktioner inuti hjärnan. Även om dessa har visats kunna rensa vävnaden från döda celler och laga skadade strukturer kan de också förvärra hjärnskadan. Två särskilt intressanta sådana reaktioner är blod-hjärnbarriärskada (BBB-skada) och inflammation i hjärnan (neuroinflammation). BBB-skada leder till att blodkärl som skyddar hjärnan från resten av kroppens blodflöde och förser hjärnan med näring går sönder. Detta bidrar till att provocera en inflammatorisk reaktion, vilken parallellt också drivs av hjärnans egna immunceller. Den här avhandlingen avsåg att undersöka kopplingen mellan BBB-skada och neuroinflammation vid TBI.

I studie I och II användes ryggmärgsvätska och blod från TBI-patienter. Studie I inkluderade 17 patienter och studie II inkluderade 190 patienter. I studie I fann vi att en BBB-skada uppstår hos många patienter vid skadeögonblicket och kvarstår i åtminstone en vecka. Vi upptäckte också att en BBB-skada är av betydelse för hur hjärnspecifika ämnen forslas från hjärnan till blodbanan, där några sådana ämnen fraktas över en trasig BBB. I studie II fann vi att BBB-skada är en ny prognostisk markör, som är starkt relaterad till den skadade hjärnans neuroinflammatoriska svar, och specifikt en del av detta som kallas för komplementsystemet. För att kartlägga skadeområdet i högre detalj genomförde vi därefter de experimentella studierna III och IV. I studie III undersökte vi hur en BBB-skada, neuroinflammation och hjärnsvullnad samspelar efter att råttor exponerats för en skada liknande svår traumatisk hjärnskada hos människa. Vi fann att i områden där hjärnans celler var svullna fanns en inflammatorisk aktivitet från hjärnans egna immunceller, och intressant nog så verkade detta också vara relaterat till att en av BBB:s celler - astrocyten - var påverkad. Astrocyter har utskott, som de placerar utefter BBB och på dessa sitter en särskild vattenkanal som kallas aquaporin-4. Denna hade dragits bort från BBB i studie III, vilket var associerat med lokala inflammatoriska reaktioner. För att vidare kartlägga hur astrocyter påverkas av inflammation så genomförde vi studie IV, där vi odlade stamceller som genom olika kemiska substanser utmognade till astrocyter och nervceller. Vi fann att astrocyterna reagerade prompt på inflammatoriska stimuli. Intressant nog så kunde en astrocyt stimulerad med inflammatoriska ämnen, som förekommer hos människor efter traumatisk hjärnskada, också döda nervceller.

Sammantaget kartlade vi BBB-skada och neuroinflammation efter en svår TBI. Neuroinflammation är starkt relaterat till BBB-skada och är därför någonting vi bör sträva att utveckla behandlingar mot. Lokalt i skadeområdet sker ytterligare specifika skademekanismer, som delvis medieras av astrocyter. Dessa fynd måste fortsatt utvärderas i laboratoriemiljö före de kan bli föremål för riktade behandlingar hos människor.

### ABSTRACT

A severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) holds deleterious consequences for the afflicted, its next-of-kin and society. Still today, prognosis is semi-desolate. One explanation for this might be pathophysiological processes ensuing the primary trauma that are but indirectly targeted for treatment. Among such processes, blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption and neuroinflammation constitute two astrocyte-dependent mechanisms that interplay in the aftermath of a severe TBI. The overall aim of this thesis was to characterize both BBB disruption and neuroinflammation translationally.

In paper I, n = 17 patients with severe TBI were included in a prospective observational longitudinal study. Here, the protein biomarkers S100B and neuron-specific enolase (NSE) were sampled with high temporal resolution from both cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and blood. We found that BBB disruption occurred among numerous patients and remained throughout the first week following injury. Interestingly, BBB disruption also affected clearance from brain to blood of S100B, but not NSE. This indicates that biomarkers are cleared differently from the injured CNS. We elaborated on this by utilizing a larger cohort size (n = 190)patients), which enabled outcome prediction modelling, in paper II. In this prospective, observational, cross-sectional study, we found that BBB disruption comprised a novel, independent outcome predictor that strongly related to levels of neuroinflammatory proteins in CSF and inflammatory processes within the injured brain. Among pathways assessed, particularly the complement system entailed proteins of future interest. We next assessed the relationship between in situ neuroinflammatory protein expression, BBB disruption, and brain edema in paper III. By utilizing a rodent model of severe TBI, we found that the cytotoxic edema region was associated with an innate neuroinflammatory response, and astrocytic aquaporin-4 retraction from the BBB interface. In fact, the astrocyte itself is an important neuroinflammatory cell, which we showed in paper IV, where we constructed a disease-modelling system of stem cell-derived astrocytes that we exposed to neuroinflammatory substances. Following neuroinflammatory stimulus, astrocytes exhibited an important increase in canonical stress-response pathways. Importantly, following stimulation with clinically relevant neuroinflammatory substances seen in human TBI from paper II, they also acquired a neurotoxic potential, of plausible importance for local cell survival following a severe TBI.

Taken together, BBB disruption and neuroinflammation ensue a severe TBI. Neuroinflammation, particularly mediated by the complement system, stands out as a future therapeutic target in order to mitigate exacerbated BBB disruption. Locally in the lesion vicinity, additional neuroinflammatory mechanisms are in part mediated by astrocytes, where these cells seem to have an important role in local cell survival. Onwards, our findings suggest that future efforts should be directed at evaluating if neuroinflammatory modulation of complement inhibition yields improved outcome, while elaborating on the promising experimental data of astrocyte-mediated effects in the lesion vicinity.

### LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Lindblad C, Nelson DW, Zeiler FA, Ercole A, Ghatan PH, von Horn H, Risling M, Svensson M, Agoston DV, Bellander B-M, Thelin EP. Influence of Blood–Brain Barrier Integrity on Brain Protein Biomarker Clearance in Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: A Longitudinal Prospective Study. J Neurotrauma. 2020;11:1–11.
- II. Lindblad C, Pin E, Just D, Al Nimer F, Nilsson P, Bellander B-M, Svensson M, Piehl F, Thelin EP. Fluid Proteomics of CSF and Serum Reveal Important Neuroinflammatory Proteins in Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption and Outcome Prediction Following Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: A Prospective, Observational Study. *Crit Care*. 2021;1–28.
- III. Lindblad C, Mitsios N, Falk-Delgado A, Mattsson P, Morganti-Kossmann MC, Frostell A, Mulder J, Risling M, Damberg P, Bellander BM, Thelin EP, Svensson M. Cytotoxic Brain Edema is Associated with Neuroinflammation and Retraction of Perivascular Aquaporin-4 following Experimental Severe Traumatic Brain Injury – a Multi-Modal Imaging Study. *Manuscript*.
- IV. Lindblad C, Neumann S, Kolbeinsdóttir S, Zachariadis V, Thelin EP, Enge M, Thams S, Brundin L, Svensson M. Embryonic stem cell-derived brainstem and spinal astrocyte-like cells develop a neurotoxic phenotype *in vitro* following clinically relevant pro-inflammatory stimulation. *Manuscript*.

## CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION1			
	1.1	Clinic	al Aspects of Traumatic Brain Injury	1
		1.1.1	Definition and Classification	1
		1.1.2	Epidemiology and Outcome	2
		1.1.3	Structural Injury Panorama	3
		1.1.4	Clinical Management	4
	1.2	TBI P	athophysiology	6
		1.2.1	Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption following TBI	7
		1.2.2	Post-Traumatic Cerebral Edema following TBI	8
		1.2.3	Neuroinflammation following TBI	9
		1.2.4	Astrocytes in the Healthy and Injured CNS	13
	1.3	Summ	nary, Knowledge-Gap, and Overarching Hypotheses	16
2	AIM	[S		17
3	MA	ΓERIAI	LS AND METHODS	19
	3.1	Select	ed Methods and Methodological Considerations	20
		3.1.1	Paper I: Longitudinal Statistical Techniques	20
		3.1.2	Paper II: Proteomic Data Analysis and Cross-Sectional Statistical	
			Techniques	22
		3.1.3	Paper III: The Controlled Cortical Impact Model and	
			Development of a Multi-Modal Imaging System for Protein	
			Assessment within Edema Subtypes	26
		3.1.4	Paper IV: Stem Cell-Based Disease-Modelling	30
	3.2	Ethica	al Considerations	32
		3.2.1	Ethical Reflections on Clinical Studies	32
		3.2.2	Ethical Reflections on Experimental Studies	33
4	RES	RESULTS		35
	4.1	4.1 Severe Traumatic Brain Injury is Accompanied by Blood-Brain Barrie		
	Disruption, Which C		ption, Which Constitutes a Novel Prognostic Marker for Long-Term	
		Outcome		35
	4.2	4.2 Innate Neuroinflammatory Responses Demonstrate an Association v		
	Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption Clinically and Experimentally.		-Brain Barrier Disruption Clinically and Experimentally	39
	4.3 Astrocytes Adopt a Neurotoxic Phenotype Upon Neuroinflammate Stimulation, of Importance for Cellular Interplay within Defined O Niches		cytes Adopt a Neurotoxic Phenotype Upon Neuroinflammatory	
			lation, of Importance for Cellular Interplay within Defined CNS	
			s	43
5	DISCUSSION			47
	5.1	Outco	me Prediction Following Severe TBI Improves upon Inclusion of	
		Cellul	ar Injury Mechanisms	47
	5.2	Blood	-Brain Barrier Disruption Ensues TBI and Is Associated with	
		Neuro	binflammatory Events	48
	5.3	Neuro	inflammatory Astrocytes Exert Neurotoxic Functions Following	
		Stimu	lation with Clinically Relevant Inflammatory Mediators	51

6	CON	ICLUSIONS	53
7	FUT	URE RESEARCH AVENUES	55
	7.1	TBI Management Warrants Tools to Monitor BBB Disruption and	
		Neuroinflammation	55
	7.2	Pathophysiology-Guided, Individualized Treatment	56
8	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
9	FUNDING STATEMENT67		
10	REFERENCES		69

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADC	Apparent Diffusion Coefficient	GLT-1	Glutamate Transporter-1
ARMA	Autoregressive Moving Average	GOS(e)	Glasgow Outcome Scale (extended)
AQP4	Aquaporin-4	(h)iPS	(Human) Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell
BBB	Blood-Brain Barrier	ICP	Intracranial Pressure
С	Complement Component	IgG	Immunoglobulin G
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow	IHC	Immunohistochemistry
CCI	Controlled Cortical Impact	IL-	Interleukin-
CD34	Hematopoietic Progenitor Cell Marker	IMPACT	International Mission for Prognosis and Analysis of Clinical Trials
CNS	Central Nervous System	MAP	Mean Arterial Blood Pressure
СРР	Cerebral Perfusion Pressure	MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
CRASH	Corticosteroid Randomisation after Significant Head Injury	MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid	NSE	Neuron-Specific Enolase
СТ	Computerized Tomography	OX42	Microglia Marker
CVR	Cerebrovascular Resistance	PRx	Pressure-Reactivity Index
C5b9	Complement Membrane Attack Complex	QA	Albumin Quotient
DAMP	Damage-Associated Molecular Pattern	SMI-71	Blood-Brain Barrier Endothelial Marker
DWI	Diffusion-Weighted Image	S <sub>0</sub>	Non-Diffusion Weighted Image
ED1	Macrophage, Activated Microglia	TBI	Traumatic Brain Injury
ES cell	Embryonic Stem Cell	TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor $\beta$
GCS	Glasgow Coma Scale	TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor α
GFAP	Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein	VEGF-α	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor $\alpha$

### **1 INTRODUCTION**

The first known attempts to treat injuries within the head were in pre-historic times, demonstrated by ancient skulls subjected to trepanation (1). Hippocrates (460-377 BC) compiled the first systematic assessment on head injuries - "On Wounds in the Head" (2). More than 2000 years later, traumatic brain injuries (TBI) and the injury processes involved still constitute an enigma for the medical profession. This thesis addresses and expands our current knowledge on TBI through clinical and experimental studies, specifically focusing on the blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption and neuroinflammation that ensue a severe TBI.

#### 1.1 CLINICAL ASPECTS OF TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

TBI denotes a heterogeneous group of injuries. Globally, large discrepancies in societal resources impact how TBI occurs and how it is managed, both of which hold consequences for TBI prognosis. Unless otherwise stated, the assumed context below is severe TBI in high-income countries, where patients are treated in neurocritical care units for their injuries.

#### 1.1.1 Definition and Classification

TBI is defined as "an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (3). Thus, the head is struck or penetrated by an exogenous force, or else undergo a movement so that the brain itself is struck against the cranium. This is verifiable as temporary or enduring neurological symptoms. Alternatively, the altered brain function manifests through additional assessments, such as biofluid analyses of brain markers of injury or radiological examinations (3) detecting structural injuries.

The injury panorama following TBI is heterogeneous, thus warranting subgroup classifications. Clinically, the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) (4) joint with neuroradiological findings comprise the gold-standard approach (5). The GCS is a summarized score of the level of consciousness, combining neurological features of best eye (4 points), motor (6 points), and verbal (5 points) response, ranging from 3 (worst) to 15 (best). GCS  $\leq$  8, where the GCS can be attributed to the TBI, is classified as a severe TBI. Further classification commonly necessitates the use of neuroradiology, where computerized tomography (CT) is the gold-standard modality in the acute phase (6).

Aside from GCS and neuroradiology, additional injury severity scoring tools have gained popularity within the research field. The most commonly used tools are the Abbreviated Injury Scale (7) and its derivative scores, e.g. the Injury Severity Score (8). As patients with a TBI are commonly subject to multi-trauma, these scoring systems compile intra- and extracranial injuries. The Abbreviated Injury Scale provides organ-system specific scores, from which the three most severely injured body regions are used to derive the Injury Severity Score. This possibly renders the Abbreviated Injury Scale more pragmatic to use in a TBI context since it allows for comparison between head-injury severity and other injuries' severity.

#### 1.1.2 Epidemiology and Outcome

Epidemiological TBI data is hampered by substantial data quality issues (9,10), why caution is advised when interpreting it. Globally and independent on severity (9), TBI annually afflicts between 10 and 50 million people (9,11). Adjusting for age and by geographical region, Sweden and Western Europe demonstrate an incidence of 282 and 292 per 100,000 citizens, respectively (5). Of these, 10-15% are claimed to be more severe injuries (12). In Sweden, age-adjusted TBI mortality rate was 9.2 per 100,000 citizens in 2012 (13). Hence, even when restricting the discussion to severe TBI, it is globally amongst the most high-frequent etiologies of mortality and persistent disability (14).

Severe TBI holds a semi-desolate prognosis, with a mean mortality of ~35% (15). Across Europe, 37% of all injury-related deaths can be attributed to TBI (9). Recently, it was estimated that age-standardized TBI-related years of life lost in Europe was 259.1 per 100,000 citizens (16). From a historical perspective, current TBI outcomes are the result of a substantial improvement stretching up until the 1990s. Following this, prognosis improvements have largely stagnated (15). The underlying reason for this is unclear, but one hypothesis is the increasing number of older, frailer patients that sustain a TBI (10,15).

Among TBI survivors, residual neurologic function and the extent of neurologic disability vary, which can be systematized using outcome classification systems (17). Traditionally, functional outcome following TBI has been defined by Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) stretching from 1 (deceased) to 5 (full recovery) (18), or GOS extended (GOSe) stretching from 1 (deceased) to 8 (upper good recovery) (19). Both GOS and GOSe constitute the recommended outcome metrics as deemed by various international bodies (20). Both being ordinal scale variables, they are commonly dichotomized into "favorable" (GOS 4-5 (21), GOSe 5-8 (22)) and "unfavorable" outcome. Global data collection initiatives such as the International Mission for Prognosis and Analysis of Clinical Trials in TBI (IMPACT) (23) has developed a prognostic model for 6-month outcome following TBI using GOS and GOSe. The model comprises clinical, radiological, and laboratory variables (24). Cumulatively, these variables merely explain  $\sim$ 35% of outcome variance following TBI (25), highlighting that other yet unknown variables contribute importantly to patient outcome. For researchers attempting to discern new potential outcome predictors accounting for the residual 65% in explained variance, the new variable should be tested together with current prognostic variables included in e.g. the IMPACT. If the new variables confer additional, independent outcome information, they may be of interest to study further. GOS and GOSe have thus proven useful for multiple reasons. Yet, they have also been critiqued for not fully

capturing the complexity of sequelae seen after TBI (17), why more granular outcome metrics might be expected to gain popularity in the future although there is still some debate surrounding this (26).

#### 1.1.3 Structural Injury Panorama

Upon arrival, a TBI patient is clinically assessed with regard to GCS, pupillary features (reactivity and diameter) (12), and neurological symptoms (27) followed by CT examination. The latter distinguishes between focal and diffuse injuries (28). Between 25 and 60 % of severe TBI patients exhibit an intracranial hematoma (29,30), defined anatomically as either epidural, subdural, intraparenchymal (traumatic intracerebral hemorrhage) (30), contusion hemorrhage (31), or traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage (32) (Figure 1). The most common focal intracranial pathology is traumatic intracerebral hemorrhage, seen in 13-35% of severe TBI patients (33), followed by acute subdural hematoma with an incidence of 12-29% (34), and epidural hematoma that accounts for 2.7-4% of all severe TBIs (35). Diffuse injuries comprise diffuse/traumatic axonal injuries (36), but also edema (31,32). In severe TBI, as many as 90% of patients exhibit diffuse axonal injury (37), of which lesions in the ventral brainstem have been associated with particularly poor prognosis (38,39). Many severe TBI patients present with multiple different lesions (29). For example, concurrent lesions of diffuse axonal injury type and other lesions have been observed in 67% of severe TBI cases (37).



Figure 1: Hemorrhagic Lesions following a Severe TBI. A normal brain is shown in (A). The following lesions are depicted: traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage (B), diffuse axonal injury (C), intracerebral contusions and an intracerebral hemorrhage (D), epidural hematoma (E), and (acute) subdural hematoma (F).

Different CT classification models have been developed in severe TBI (40). The superior imaging modality for diffuse axonal injury is magnetic resonance imaging (41), which is a limitation to all CT scores. The internationally most recognized CT scores are the Marshall CT classification (40), and Rotterdam CT scores (6), of which the Rotterdam CT score confers superior mortality prediction compared with the Marshall CT classification (6) (which was actually not originally developed as a prognostic tool (42)). For discrimination between favourable and unfavourable outcome, the more recently developed Stockholm CT score confers the highest accuracy (43). Other CT models comprise the Radboud CT model (44) and the Helsinki CT score (42). The Stockholm, Helsinki, Rotterdam scores, and Marshall CT classification were recently externally validated and compared (45). Both the Stockholm and Helsinki CT score seemed to be the overall stronger radiologic tool for outcome prognostication (45). Of note, all of these are developed on blunt head traumas, why external validation of these CT scores in two penetrating TBI cohorts was recently undertaken (46), showing that both exhibit prognostic utility in this cohort as well.

#### 1.1.4 Clinical Management

Clinical TBI management evolves around the primary injury (inflicted by the trauma) and secondary insults, that ensue swiftly or slowly (47). In-hospital management of TBI patients strive to hinder and treat secondary insults (12,47), in order to improve clinical outcome (48).

#### 1.1.4.1 Clinical Dilemmas

Secondary insults can be either systemic or intracranial (49), and entail among else hypoxemia, hypo-/hypercarbia, hypotension, metabolic disturbances, hyponatremia, seizures, vasospasm, and increments in intracranial pressure (ICP) (48–50). If left untreated, secondary insults may result in a secondary injury of predominantly ischemic nature (49). The reason for this can be derived from the Monro-Kellie doctrine, stating that within an enclosed cranium the sum of the intracranial constituents is constant (48,51). Thus, the intracranial volumes (cerebrospinal fluid [CSF], blood, brain parenchyma, and pathological constituents) are confined to a restricted space. Upon intracranial volume alterations that yield ICP increases, CSF, venous, and arterial blood are displaced from the brain. If arterial blood flow is diminished, inadequate cerebral perfusion results in ischemia and subsequent infarctions (50). The arterial blood flow needed to meet the metabolic demands of the brain, the cerebral blood flow (CBF) (47), can be defined mathematically (Eq 1, Eq2).

$$CBF = \frac{(MAP - ICP)}{CVR}$$
(Eq 1)

$$CPP = MAP - ICP$$

(Eq 2)

In short, CBF relies on cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) divided by cerebrovascular resistance (CVR) (Eq 1, 2) (47,52). CPP itself is the difference between mean arterial (blood) pressure (MAP) and ICP (Eq 2) (47,50). The CVR is dependent on among else the partial pressure of carbon dioxide and CPP, and is (under homeostasis) strictly maintained through cerebral autoregulation (50). This results in stable CBF across a broad range of CPP (and MAP) alterations (52–54). In the setting of a severe TBI, efforts are taken to maintain cerebral homeostasis as failure to detect physiological deterioration could impact outcome negatively (48). This usually encompasses multi-disciplinary decision making, involving both surgical, medical, and neurocritical care management (9,12).

#### 1.1.4.2 Surgical Management

Surgical approaches following TBI primarily strives to remove mass-lesions, decrease ICP, or insert neuromonitoring equipment (9), the latter to detect derangement of intracranial homeostasis. Both epidural hematoma (55) and acute subdural hematoma (56) seem to benefit from surgical removal if causing a clinically relevant mass effect, even though neither has been evaluated in any randomized controlled trial (34,35). In contrast, traumatic intracerebral hemorrhage has not shown similar benefits of surgery as the STITCH trial (30) could not find any difference in 6-month outcome (primary study endpoint). However, secondary endpoint analysis revealed that patients with GCS 9-12 benefited from early surgery, whereas for patients presenting with GCS 13-15, watchful observation seemed sufficient (30). For diffuse TBI patients with therapy-refractory ICP, decompressive craniectomy is a tentative surgical strategy (9,12). One randomized study showed worse long-term outcome following early surgery (58). However, in the latter study (58), this was at the expense of increased extent of vegetative state patients, posing a grand ethical dilemma.

#### 1.1.4.3 Neuromonitoring and Medical Management

In adjunct to surgical treatment a plethora of medical treatment options aim to counteract secondary insults (12). In order to tailor these treatment strategies, TBI patients obtain (neuro)monitoring equipment (9,12), of which ICP and CPP monitoring (59) are key. However, there are other neuromonitoring modalities not yet within international guidelines. Some noteworthy examples are: brain tissue oxygenation (60), cerebral microdialysis (61,62), electroencephalography, intraparenchymal temperature monitoring, transcranial doppler, near-infrared spectroscopy (12), and serial sampling of brain-enriched protein biomarkers of tissue fate (63). A multi-modal approach is considered superior, as monitoring data will comprise of several proxy metrics of intracranial conditions (9).

In spite of rigorous monitoring and versatile treatment options, 50% of TBI-related mortality is believed to be inferred by post-traumatic brain-swelling leading to increased ICP (64). A pivotal part of neuro-critical care monitoring is thus continuous ICP measurement (48,65), where values  $\geq 22$  mmHg should prompt treatment according to the most recent Brain

Trauma Foundation Guidelines (59). One multicentre randomized study (65) failed to show an effect of ICP monitoring on long-term outcome, but study design issues complicates interpretation (66). As such, ICP measurement is still recommended by the Brain Trauma Foundation Guidelines (59). Moreover, CPP can be calculated from concurrent ICP and MAP measurements (48), and normally acts as a surrogate for CBF. The Brain Trauma Foundation recommends CPP thresholds of 60-70 mmHg, depending on autoregulatory state (59), as ~50% of TBI patients suffer from a perturbed autoregulation (67). Autoregulation is difficult to assess (68), why proxy metrics such as the pressure-reactivity index (PRx) (69), have gained popularity (48). This has enabled optimization of individual patient autoregulation (12), by targeting CPP to minimum PRx (68). Recent results from a multicenter randomized controlled trial has demonstrated the safety and relative feasibility of such treatment (70). ICP versus CPP guided treatment have also been studied (71). An ICP-based treatment was superior when autoregulation was perturbed, and CPP-based treatment was superior when autoregulation was intact (71).

Aside from conventional monitoring, fluid "biomarkers" (brain-enriched proteins of tissue fate), have gained interest (72), and are regionally implemented clinically (73,74). Biomarkers of current interest comprise S100B, neuron-specific enolase (NSE), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-L1, tau, and neurofilament-light (75). S100B (76), NSE (77), GFAP, and neurofilament-light (75) have emerged as independent severe TBI outcome predictors. An extension of biomarker monitoring is neuroinflammatory marker measurement (62,78). Neuroinflammation can be assessed through chemical assays in brain tissue, CSF, brain extracellular fluid, or blood, but also through imaging modalities (62). Using these, cytokine/chemokine profiles following trauma have been shown to organize temporally (79), but also into patient clusters, predictive of outcome (80). Modulation of cytokines responses shift cytokine/chemokine profiles (81), in a complex fashion that warrants further research before conclusions concerning clinical efficacy can be drawn.

#### 1.2 TBI PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

The primary injury and the secondary insults which may culminate in secondary injuries depend intracranially on multiple parallel, intertwined, and complex cellular injury processes (32,82,83). These are believed to be amenable to treatment (83,84), why understanding of them at the molecular level might prove pivotal in improving outcome for TBI patients.

A plethora of intracellular injury processes exist, and entail e.g. vascular injuries, hypoxia/ischemia, metabolic derangements, mitochondrial dysfunction, ion homeostasis perturbation, excitotoxicity, BBB injury, edema, neuroinflammation, and free

radicals/reactive oxygen species (28,82,83,85,86). It would be unfeasible to discuss all these jointly. However, two secondary injuries – BBB disruption and neuroinflammation – are inter-dependent, operate at the same anatomical unit, and are possible therapeutic targets to diminish ICP. They also relate to edema development following TBI. These will therefore be discussed below.

#### 1.2.1 Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption following TBI

The adult central nervous system (CNS) comprise three barriers, namely the blood-brain barrier (BBB), the blood-CSF barrier, and the arachnoid barrier (87,88). Of note, a potentially fourth type of barrier denoted *the glymphatic system* was recently described *in vivo* (89), and emerging clinical data (90,91) support the existence of a human glymphatic system. For simplicity, this section primarily discusses the BBB. Other barriers will be mentioned where applicable.

The BBB between the CNS and the periphery was discovered in the Ehrlich and Goldmann experiments where different dyes were found to stain/not stain the CNS based on the site of dye injection (87). Anatomically, the BBB constitutes multiple layers of cells and extracellular material so that it forms a unit of tissue organized (orderly from the capillary blood vessel lumen into the parenchyma): endothelial cells, endothelial basement membrane with pericytes, meningeal epithelium and basement membrane, and astroglial basement membrane together with astrocyte end-feet (92). The endothelial cells lack fenestrations and form a sealed border through tight junction proteins (93,94). These unique anatomical features of cerebral endothelial cells at the BBB (or equivalently choroid plexus epithelial cells at the blood-CSF barrier interface (92)) restrict passive diffusion from the periphery into the CNS (93,95,96). The scope of the BBB has recently broadened into "the neurovascular (gliovascular) unit" (93,94,97), which refers to the intrinsic BBB function to relay stimuli from one compartment (peripheral or CNS) and yield a response in the opposite one (93), pivotal for CNS function (97).

The BBB is injured following TBI (84,94,97). In animals, the temporal trajectory and duration of BBB disruption, differs across injury models (98,99). Clinically, BBB disruption is commonly assessed through the CSF:serum albumin quota ( $Q_A$ ), the current gold standard technique (100–102). In patients, BBB disruption has been reported to cease within hours following TBI (103,104), whereas other reports claim that BBB integrity can be compromised for days to weeks (105,106), and possibly even years (97,107). One tentative explanation for these data discrepancies are that BBB disruption can be caused by both the initial trauma and through downstream secondary insults (97), one of which is post-traumatic edema.

#### 1.2.2 Post-Traumatic Cerebral Edema following TBI

TBI-induced cerebral edema is defined as an increased brain water content (108), and subcategorized into vasogenic, ionic, and cytotoxic components. Historically, the vasogenic counterpart was believed to be of primary importance following TBI (64). Later work instead suggested post-traumatic brain edema to be primarily cytotoxic i.e. due to intracellular water accumulation (108), and even independent of BBB integrity (98). This was claimed to hold true both in the experimental (64,98) and clinical setting (109). Yet, it would be impossible to infer brain edema exclusively to cellular swelling, as a net-increase in brain water content could not be caused by a mere water redistribution within the CNS (110,111). In accordance, current data support the existence of both vasogenic and cytotoxic edema in the context of TBI (94,99), possibly at different time points following injury (94,112).

Vasogenic edema formation initiates upon BBB disruption, when blood leak from vessels and accumulate in the brain parenchyma (97,113) (Figure 2). In experimental studies, BBB disruption peaks at 1-3 hours after injury (113), whereafter BBB closes promptly (64,98). In accordance, the contribution of vasogenic edema to overall edema diminishes. Edema progression, however, ensues as cells in the vicinity of the injury region die, whereupon they leak intracellular content e.g. neurotransmitters, and ions. As local osmolarity thus increases, additional water movement from the vessels to the brain parenchyma yields an ionic edema (112) (Figure 2). Importantly, both these processes increase total brain water content. Following this early phase of vasogenic and ionic edema, cytotoxic edema ensues and remains dominant throughout the first week following the TBI (64).



**Figure 2: Vasogenic and Ionic Edema following Severe TBI.** Following trauma, BBB integrity is compromised (vasogenic edema, left in panel), whereupon proteinaceous fluid rich in otherwise blood-bound molecules leak into the brain parenchyma. In parallel, CNS cells die upon which intracellular substances leak to the CNS extracellular milieu, increasing local osmolarity and thus triggering additional water movement from CNS vessels into the brain parenchyma (ionic edema, right in panel). Both processes increase net brain water content. **Abbreviations:** BBB, blood-brain barrier, CNS, central nervous system; TBI, traumatic brain injury.

In contrast to vasogenic edema, cytotoxic edema (Figure 3) is caused by restricted blood flow into the lesion core. This yields a depletion of nutrients and notably adenosine triphosphate locally. When adenosine triphosphate-dependent cellular ion pumps fail, ions accumulate intracellularly, with consequent intracellular water inlet (113). The cell type predominantly afflicted by these processes is the astrocyte (113,114), although both neurons and BBB endothelial cells are also subjected to cytotoxic swelling (112). The swelling of these cells can lead to oncotic cell death (113), thus potentially creating a vicious cycle whereby additional BBB disintegration ensues causing a delayed vasogenic edema with exacerbated cytotoxic edema (112) due to an increasing cell death. The delayed vasogenic edema has been suggested to occur after 3-7 days following injury (112,113,115). The total duration of edema following TBI is not fully elucidated. One experimental study reported persistent edematous changes using magnetic resonance imaging even at 30 days following injury (116).



**Figure 3: Cytotoxic Edema following Severe TBI.** Cytotoxic edema onset occurs upon diminished cerebral blood flow into the lesion core. This generates nutrient depletion, and importantly ATP deficiency locally. As cellular ATP-driven pumps fail, intracellular ion accumulation ensues which eventually increases intracellular water content. Of note, this puts cells at risk for oncotic cell death, which can exacerbate BBB disruption (right in panel). **Abbreviations:** ATP, adenosine triphosphate; BBB, blood-brain barrier.

Importantly, post-traumatic cerebral edema has also been linked to neuroinflammation (111,117). Interestingly, neuroinflammatory signaling have been implied in brain edema and inhibition of it in edema mitigation (118–120).

#### 1.2.3 Neuroinflammation following TBI

Acute neuroinflammation affects, aside from edema, also BBB disruption (97), and might even by triggered by it (85). Neuroinflammation has emerged as a key cellular injury process subsequent to TBI (83,84,121), following decades of conviction that the CNS was immune privileged (122). The concept of "neuroinflammation" denotes CNS specific inflammatory events (123), and is today believed to be an intricate sequence of processes, with some being

deleterious and some beneficial for the injured CNS (124). As there is an elaborate interdependency between BBB disruption and the neuroinflammatory response, I discuss these in parallel below chronologically. I omit chronic neuroinflammation from the discussion. Although this is an emerging field of important implications for neurodegenerative diseases (125) it is currently predominantly explored in mild TBI.

#### 1.2.3.1 Early Innate Reaction

Acute neuroinflammation ensues the trauma immediately (Figure 4), due to tissue injury (124) and CNS barrier breakage (83,85). BBB disruption allows inlet of otherwise bloodborne substances, such as complement (84,126,127), albumin, thrombin, and fibrinogen (94), which triggers the innate immune system (125). Further, substances released from damaged CNS tissue and/or the disrupted BBB, so called damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (85,124,126) trigger the immune response. The subgroup of DAMPs that are endogenously derived are referred to as alarmins, and comprise among else adenosine triphosphate, high-mobility group protein B1, and various interleukins (IL-) such as e.g. IL-33 (124). The DAMPs cause a cascade of early innate immune system effects. Within the CNS, the DAMPs activate glial cells (microglia and astrocytes) momentarily (124).



**Figure 4: Alarmin Release and Early Initiation of the Innate Neuroinflammatory Response.** BBB disruption and cell death within the CNS leads to the inlet and leakage of DAMPs and alarmins, which trigger the neuroinflammatory cascade. Importantly, microglia and astrocytes are immediately evoked in response to DAMPs. **Abbreviations:** ATP, adenosine triphosphate; BBB, blood-brain barrier; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; HMGB1, high-mobility group protein B1; IL-, interleukin.

Microglia, a latent immune surveillance cell of the CNS (123), are chemotactically attracted to sites of alarmin release (124) and respond by rapid morphological alteration (85). This enables microglia to shield the injury site from the healthy CNS (Figure 5) (83), but also to initiate phagocytosis (123,128) thus enabling debris clearance. Importantly, microglia activation also induces cytokine production (83,123), comprising e.g. IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF-  $\alpha$ ), and reactive oxygen species (85). This leads to increasing BBB permeability (129), and down-stream consequences.



Figure 5: Microglia-Mediated Early Neuroinflammatory Response. Microglia are chemotactically attracted to the lesion site in response to DAMPs, where they shield the injury region. They also initiate pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling, that can cause e.g. exacerbated BBB disruption, and neurotoxicity. In addition, recent data suggests that microglia activates astrocytes. **Abbreviations:** BBB, blood-brain barrier; CNS, central nervous system; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; IL-, interleukin, MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TNF-, tumor necrosis factor.

Alarmins, DAMPS, and mechanical triggers also activate astrocytes (Figure 6) (130), possibly through the Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3-signaling pathway (131). This leads to feedback loops promoting incremental alarmin release, and astrocyte-mediated production of chemoattractant signals that recruit peripheral immune cells (124). Recent evidence suggests that microglia may also trigger astrocytes through microglial-mediated cytokine secretion of IL-1 $\alpha$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and complement component (C) 1q (132). Further, astrocytes secrete IL-6 and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-) 9, which promotes BBB disruption (88,133) and has been implicated in vasogenic edema formation (85).



**Figure 6: Astrocyte-Mediated Early Neuroinflammatory Response.** In response to DAMPs, astrocytes release chemoattractant signals which promote leukocyte recruitment. Astrocytes also secrete pro-inflammatory substances e.g. IL-6, and MMP-9, possibly contributing to exacerbated BBB disruption. Abbreviations: BBB, blood-brain barrier; DAMP, damage-associated molecular pattern; IL, interleukin; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase.

The immediately triggered neuroinflammatory response following TBI is ensued by further inflammatory responses that span the first minutes to hours following TBI (124). Microgliaderived cytokines and cytokines produced as a consequence of alarmin release trigger the activation of the inflammasome (124). The inflammasome is a cytoplasmic oligomerized protein complex localized to microglia (134,135), and possibly other CNS cells (124) as well as peripheral immune cells migrating to the CNS (134,136) although this is somewhat debated (135). Inflammasome activation leads production of IL-1β and IL-18 in a caspase-1 mediated process (124,134). It is still not clear which CNS cells that confers the vast majority of IL-1β and IL-18 production following TBI (126). Nonetheless, both these cytokines are considered potently pro-inflammatory (123,124) and detrimental in the context of TBI (85). The effects of IL-18, although not conclusive elucidated, comprise microglial-mediated MMP production, stimulation of further cytokine production, direct/indirect neurotoxic effects, either through recruitment of peripheral immune cells (neutrophils, monocyte-derived macrophages) or directly by stimulating neuronal apoptosis (137). Similarly to IL-18, IL-1 $\beta$ exerts neurotoxic effects (83), secrete neutrophil chemoattractants (85), and induce MMPs (94,138,139). The latter causes increased BBB permeability and peripheral immune cell recruitment (85,94,133). In addition, IL-1 $\beta$  also stimulates reactive oxygen species (122), thus exacerbating the inflammatory cascade.

#### 1.2.3.2 Late Innate Reaction

Also initiated as early as a few hours (140), but peaking within 24-48 hours (126) following TBI is peripheral immune cell infiltration into the CNS. The first cell to appear is the neutrophil (125), promoted through upstream secretion of chemoattractant molecules and e.g. reactive oxygen species (94), that upregulates adhesion molecules (85) facilitating migration. Interestingly, the expression of the brain endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule 1 correlates with the extent of BBB disruption (97), why BBB disruption can be assumed to be integral to this process. The role of neutrophils highlights the duality of neuroinflammation following TBI – on the one hand they exert neurotoxic effects through degranulation (137) and aggravated BBB disruption (128) through e.g. MMPs (94,133), but on the other hand they have also been shown to exert neuroprotective actions (124).

The involvement of the innate immune system continues throughout the first days following TBI, when monocytes from the periphery are recruited to the CNS (124). Locally, they become macrophages (121). Monocyte-derived macrophage recruitment is partly mediated through the chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (85,128), acutely secreted by astrocytes in response to the alarmin IL-33 (124). Similarly to neutrophils, macrophages exert both detrimental and protective effects following TBI (124). Among the beneficial effects exerted is the production of neuroprotective cytokines such as IL-10 (124). Historically, this duality was referred to as polarization states M1 (deleterious) and M2 (adaptive/beneficial), but this is today considered an oversimplification *in vivo* (85).

#### 1.2.3.3 Adaptive Immune Responses

In the subacute phase lingering into the chronic phase (days to weeks) following TBI, there is an onset of an adaptive immune response following TBI (124,125). During this period, among else, T cells from the periphery enter the CNS (126,128) and although it confers some (neuro)protective effects such as IL-4 production (126), there are also other processes such as auto-immune T cells (125) and autoantibodies (141) for which data is beginning to emerge.

In summary, TBI encompasses a vast immune response, and many possible therapeutic avenues lie in the acute phase. Within the neurovascular unit, multiple processes are intimately intertwined in a complex meshwork. One cell type with key relevance for both BBB function, edema, and neuroinflammation is the astrocyte, why we further will indulge in this previously largely overlooked CNS cell.

#### 1.2.4 Astrocytes in the Healthy and Injured CNS

#### 1.2.4.1 Astrocytes in Health

The astrocyte – originally (and erroneously) described as a supportive cell (142–144) – is the most abundant cell within the CNS (145,146) comprising roughly half all human CNS cells (147,148). Astrocytes in the healthy CNS encompass immense heterogeneity (149), and in order to appropriately define them, one must consider morphological, antigenic, functional and locational characteristics. Common to most subgroups, astrocytes are stellate cells with multiple processes emanating from the cell soma (148), originally classified into either protoplasmic or fibrous (147). Today, more than 10 different subtypes have been described (88) in the non-injured CNS. Notably, astrocytes do not unite in a common molecular signature (142). The intermediate filament protein GFAP was previously believed to be an astrocyte-specific marker (150), but it is now well-established that there are GFAP negative astrocytes (142,151) and that some non-astrocytic cells express GFAP (152). Among other markers investigated, the one most likely to be "pan-astrocytic" is aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family member L1 (147,151). Other astrocytic markers, showing large promise is glutamate transporter-1 (GLT-1) (153), aquaporin-4 (AQP4) (154), and SOX9 (151). For SOX9, however, an important draw-back is that it is also expressed by neural progenitor cells (151).

Astrocytes also exhibit heterogeneity by harnessing the capability to exert a diverse set of functions within the CNS. These comprise, but are not limited to: neurotrophic support (148,155), synapse development and functional maintenance (147,156), and ion as well as neurotransmitter homeostasis (130,156). Of particular interest here, is the capability of astrocytes to establish, maintain, function with/repair the BBB (143,148), and interact in the regulation thereof as part of the neuro-/gliovascular unit (88). This is partly due to the water channel AQP4, that while operating in concert with the inward rectifier potassium channel Kir4.1, regulates water inlet into the CNS at the astrocytic end-feet (88) lining the BBB.

AQP4-expressing astrocytes at the BBB interface gained even more attention recently, following the discovery of the glymphatic system (89). In a seminal paper, Iliff and colleagues demonstrated how CSF is transported and cleared para-vascularly, while by-passing the CNS interstitial fluid in a transport mechanism that is AQP4-dependent (89). Recent data supports the existence of a glymphatic system in humans (90,91), although further studies are warranted.

#### 1.2.4.2 Reactive Astrocytes and TBI

Following CNS injury, astrocytes undergo alterations morphologically, transcriptionally, and functionally (130,143,157). These are commonly referred to as "reactive astrocytes", or interchangeably "reactive astrogliosis" (156). Collectively, reactive astrogliosis encompasses four key elements: situation-specific astrocyte alterations (i) developing following all CNS insults (ii) with varying features depending on insult-severity (iii), that can comprise functional alterations of deleterious or protective nature (iv) (157). Given this definition, it is not surprising that reactive astrocytes similarly to healthy astrocytes exhibit vast heterogeneity (144,158,159).

The main morphological alterations in vivo associated with reactive astrogliosis are cell soma/process hypertrophy (131,144,156), upregulation of GFAP (144,156) and other intermediary filament proteins (131). These morphological alterations do not represent a homogenous reactive astrocyte phenotype (156). In fact, different types of CNS insults inflict discrepant transcriptional alterations in astrocytes (160). Conversely, when examining astrocytic heterogeneity across brain regions following the same inductive stimuli, an even broader heterogeneity has been demonstrated (159) at single-cell resolution. These results were elaborated on in a pivotal article from the Ben Barres group, where one reactive astrocyte phenotype was shown to be neurotoxic following cytokine-mediated microglia activation (132). This phenotype was denoted "A1" and its corresponding, primarily (neuro)protective, counterpart "A2" (132). These findings have recently been corroborated for human cells (161). Albeit still not conclusively elucidated, the underlying mechanism is suggested to be a deleterious astrocytic gain-of-function, possibly mediated through saturated lipids (162). This illustrates the spectrum of reactive astrocyte heterogeneity but also the duality of reactive astrogliosis - it is not exclusively deleterious or beneficial - but rather serves different roles during different circumstances (131,144,157).

The duality of reactive astrogliosis is illustrated through the longitudinal sequence of events that ensues a TBI. Depending on the severity of trauma, early features of reactive astrogliosis include hypertrophy, cellular swelling, and proliferation (163). Data is somewhat conflicting regarding astrocyte migration, with data supporting astrocytic migration (164), while more recent data indicates the opposite (143). These astrocyte alterations occur during the first weeks following a TBI and are paralleled by BBB disruption and other inflammatory events

(163), as described above. Next, depending on lesion severity (157), reactive astrocytes form the astroglial scar (163). This scar locates at the border-zone between healthy and injured tissue (156). Over the weeks ensuing the trauma, it becomes compacted and permanent (163). The scar encapsulates the injury region at the expense of suppressing axon regeneration (143,144), possibly partly due to astrocyte-mediated production of keratan sulfate and chondroitin proteoglycans (131). Theoretically, astrocyte ablation would thus reduce the scar and improve axonal regrowth. However, astrocyte ablation has been shown to be detrimental for neuronal survival, while increasing infiltration of peripheral immune cell infiltration, and impairing BBB repair. In fact, reactive astrocytes lining the BBB have been described to be able to both increase and repair BBB disruption (130). The role of AQP4 in this process is emerging and described below.

#### 1.2.4.3 The Role of AQP4-expressing Reactive Astrocytes Lining the BBB following TBI

As previously stated, astrocytes in health are intimately related with the BBB through its AQP4 expressing end-feet and through its important function within the glymphatic system. Following injury, AQP4 expression is globally increased (164–166), but the AQP4 polarization towards the end-feet is lost (167,168), so that AQP4 instead localizes around the cell soma (166). Concomitantly, the glymphatic system is suppressed with consequent intracerebral accumulation of neurodegenerative compounds (169). Moreover, it was recently suggested that the glymphatic system was imminent for brain protein biomarker clearance (170), and that not only TBI, but also routine clinical management such as CSF drainage, and altered sleep cycle patterns, could affect biomarker clearance to blood (170). This could potentially affect the clinical utility of brain enriched protein biomarkers in serum.

AQP4 expression alterations could also be of importance for post-traumatic brain edema. AQP4 was first implicated in brain edema through experiments where AQP4 was impaired using either transgenic knock-out animals in stroke models (171) or pharmacological inhibition in TBI animals (64), with consequent brain water content reduction. Edema reduction has also been discerned using AQP4 deficient mice following TBI (172). This strongly implies AQP4 inhibition for mitigation of cytotoxic edema. This would suggest therapies directed at AQP4 inhibition in order to halt post-traumatic edema, which has been attempted but proven difficult (173). In addition, this is not necessarily beneficial following TBI, which is also accompanied by vasogenic edema. In fact, AQP4 is instrumental for vasogenic edema clearance (174,175), and thus potentially deleterious to inhibit as it would hinder water removal. Importantly, Kitchen and colleagues recently demonstrated that this deleterious effect might be circumvented by targeting the calmodulin-dependent subcellular localization of AQP4 using an already Food and Drug Administration approved substance (trifluoperazine) with consequently improved outcome following a spinal cord injury model of edema (176), but additional studies are warranted.

Another avenue by which edema might be mitigated following severe TBI is through neuroinflammatory modulation. In fact, neuroinflammation might influence both AQP4 and edema development. One tentative pathway is through High-Mobility Group Protein B1, which through microglia activates IL-1 $\beta$ , which activates Nuclear Factor Kappa-Light-Chain-Enhancer of Activated B Cells, that in its turn increases AQP4 expression (165). In accordance, edema is reduced when IL-1 $\beta$  is inhibited, either through the usage of IL-1 $\beta$ deficient mice (177), or by administration of anti-IL-1 $\beta$  (118).

#### 1.3 SUMMARY, KNOWLEDGE-GAP, AND OVERARCHING HYPOTHESES

Above, I summarize severe TBI from a translational viewpoint, highlighting the fact that TBI still today holds a semi-desolate prognosis, and that a large extent of current TBI-mortality can be inferred to deteriorated ICP. This is possibly mediated at least in part through interplay between BBB disruption and neuroinflammation, linked to one another through the involvement of astrocytes. It therefore seems possible that a more elaborate understanding of these cellular injury mechanisms both could refine severe TBI pathophysiology models and outcome prognostication, while offering potential new treatment avenues.

## 2 AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis was to characterize pathophysiological processes that ensue a severe TBI, and that are currently not commonly targeted for clinical intervention. We chose to focus on BBB disruption and neuroinflammation as these astrocyte-dependent processes might interplay in the aftermath following severe TBI and therefore could constitute eligible future treatment targets.

Specifically, we aimed to:

Paper I	Determine the longitudinal development of BBB disruption following severe TBI in humans and whether clearance from brain to blood of CNS- enriched proteins is affected by BBB disruption.
Paper II	Delineate if the CSF and blood proteome, focusing on structural and inflammatory proteins, in humans is associated with BBB disruption, and if this is of importance for long-term functional outcome.
Paper III	Describe the relation between neuroinflammation, post-traumatic brain edema, and AQP4 retraction from the BBB endothelium by developing a multi-modal imaging system in an experimental rodent model of severe TBI.
Paper IV	Define how neuroinflammatory astrocytes, from a CNS niche in which injury is associated with particularly poor prognosis, affect motor neurons <i>in vitro</i> .

## **3 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

**Table 1** contains an overview of the methods utilized across this thesis. Rather than reiterating procedural details that can be found in **papers I-IV**, I provide a theoretical rational of selected methods below, including a discussion of their strengths and limitations where applicable.

Method Type	Method specification	Study Applicability
Clinical Data Resources		
	Karolinska TBI Database	I, II
Surgical techniques		
	Controlled-cortical impact	
	Animal handling	III
In vitro techniques		
	Embryonic stem cell	IV
	techniques	
	Motor neuron differentiation	IV
	Astrocyte differentiation	IV
	Neuroinflammatory	IV
	modulation in vitro	
	Subventricular zone stem	IV
	cell culture	
	Subventricular zone stem	IV
	cell differentiation into	
	astrocytes	
	Induction of	IV
	neuroinflammation using	
	soluble proteins	
Analytical lecnniques		
	Immunonisto-/-	III, IV
		N/
	Flow-cytometry	
	Fluorescence-activated cell	IV
	Magnetia reconcesso	111
	imaging	111
	Multinley suspension head	
	antibody array	
	Other protein quantification	
	techniques	.,
	Library preparation for RNA	IV
	sequencing	
Selected Statistical and		
Bioinformatic Techniques		
	Cross-correlations	

Table 1: Overview of Methods Employed in the Thesis			
Method Type	Method specification	Study Applicability	
Selected Statistical and Bioinformatic Techniques (continued)			
	Longitudinal regression modelling	1	
	Dimensionality-reduction techniques	II	
	Clustering-techniques	П	
	Pathway analysis	11	
	Proportional odds regression modelling	11	
Softwares			
	MetaMorph	IV	
	FIJI	III	
	Python	111	
	CRAN/R	I-IV	

#### 3.1 SELECTED METHODS AND METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Paper I and II were to a large extent dependent on statistical analyses. Paper I comprised longitudinal data on severe TBI patients, whereas **paper II** comprised cross-sectional data on numerous proteins sampled from severe TBI patients, warranting different statistical considerations. In the experimental **paper III**, we utilized the controlled cortical impact model on rodents. The inferred TBI was then used to develop a multi-modal imaging system. In **paper IV**, we differentiated stem cells into astrocytes and motor neurons *in vitro*.

#### 3.1.1 Paper I: Longitudinal Statistical Techniques

In **paper I**, n = 17 patients with a severe TBI were recruited. From all patients, we collected CSF and blood samples in addition to standard clinical data and patient demographics. Of these, one patient was excluded as no CSF-albumin samples had been obtained. The remaining n = 16 patients had an external ventricular drain, from which CSF (S100B and NSE) was analyzed at 6–12-hour intervals. Concomitantly, arterial blood was analyzed. All laboratory assays were undertaken at the Karolinska University Laboratory. S100B and NSE (in CSF) and NSE (in blood) were analyzed on a Liaison XL system (Diasorin, Saluggia, Italy) through an immunoluminometric assay. S100B (in blood) was analyzed through an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (Elecsys, Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland). The different platforms utilized for S100B measurements occurred as a consequence of local procurements and technical aspects, precluding analysis of CSF samples on the Elecsys platform. The different platforms were likely of minor importance in the current study, where relative relationship was the focus of study and as the assays have shown robust association as well as run similarity (178). In addition, albumin from plasma and CSF was analyzed
repeatedly. The latter was used to derive the albumin quotient ( $Q_A$ ), i.e. the quotient between CSF-albumin and plasma-albumin, which constitutes the literature gold standard for assessing the extent of BBB disruption (100,101,179). This is motivated in theory, as albumin has a 200 times lower concentration in CSF compared with blood, owing to its lack of intracranial synthesis and catabolism (100,180). Yet,  $Q_A$  and CSF-albumin hold important limitations, of which age-dependency (100), intraventricular hemorrhage (105), and administration of intravenous fluids can affect albumin values. Despite these limitations,  $Q_A$  is robustly characterized and utilized, leading us to also employ it throughout **paper I** and **paper II**.

The data described above constituted a uniquely high sampling time-resolution. However, this also means that measurement values for each patient were consecutively dependent. This needed to be considered in regression models. For all assessments, we used R (181), through the interface RStudio®. We constructed a within-group correlation structure for all patients, thus accounting for the assumption that a measured variable at timepoint t in one patient depends on the value observed for the variable at timepoint t-1. We constructed this correlation structure as a time series model, for which we assessed stationarity, autocorrelation, and partial autocorrelation. We found the data to be stationary using the Kwiatkowski-Phillips-Schmidt-Shin test in the tseries package (182) in R. We could thus model the time series as an autoregressive moving average process (ARMA) (183). An ARMA process is dependent of p, the autoregressive component, and q, the moving average component. These can be estimated using partial autocorrelation function (for p) and autocorrelation function (for q) (183). We estimated the underlying ARMA structure by testing n = 25 different ARMA combinations. We chose the optimal structure using the Akaike Information Criterion. For both S100B and NSE we decided on an ARMA(1,1) process, i.e. a first order autoregressive model with a moving average of 1. Model fit was evaluated graphically using the forecast package in R (184). The ARMA(1,1) process was included as a within-patient correlation structure in longitudinal regression models, where S100B<sub>blood</sub> and NSE<sub>blood</sub> were modelled to be dependent on time from trauma, BBB disruption, and the biomarker<sub>CSF</sub> value. For all analyses, we used the nlme package in R (185). We used a marginal model for S100B as the variance-covariance matrix generated when using a linear mixed model was not positive-definite (186). We also excluded the first 12 hours from analysis, as this time-interval has been associated with an extracranial S100B peak (76,77). For NSE, we used a linear mixed model. Here, patient #17 constituted a suspicious outlier. We thus constructed NSE models both including and excluding patient #17, with overall similar results. Hence, patient #17 did not infer any major alterations regarding overall conclusions. Model assumptions were examined graphically and included variance homogeneity and normality, correlation between fitted/observed values, as well as individual assessments of residual autocorrelation and partial autocorrelation.

# 3.1.2 Paper II: Proteomic Data Analysis and Cross-Sectional Statistical Techniques

In **paper II**, we recruited in total n = 190 TBI patients, from which we collected CSF and blood samples in addition to clinical data. Of these, n = 4 patients were excluded *a priori* due to non-reliable sample data. Of the remaining, n = 90 patients had matched samples from CSF and serum and were used as the main study cohort. The remaining n = 96 patients had exclusively serum samples and were used as a validation cohort, thus enabling independent validation of key findings from the main cohort. In addition, we recruited n = 15 healthy control subjects. We assessed proteins in CSF and serum for all patients, including the healthy control subjects. CSF acquisition was enabled through external ventricular drains for TBI patients, and through lumbar puncture for control subjects. As CSF protein content varies along the rostro-caudal axis (187,188), some caution in interpretation is warranted. In addition, one might critique CSF to be but a proxy metric for intracranial injury processes, as CSF might fail to depict intracellular events (189). Yet, CSF provides global CNS data, whereas e.g. tissue biopsies or microdialysis merely convey information pertaining to a limited region within the brain (12,189).

#### 3.1.2.1 Reflections on Proteomic Measurement Techniques in TBI Studies

We depicted 177 proteins by utilizing a suspension bead antibody array on 220 antibodies (190,191). Antibodies were selected using the Human Protein Atlas (www.proteinatlas.org) (192). Here, sample proteins are bound to antibodies attached to color-coded beads, detected using a FlexMap3D instrument (Luminex Corporation), for which the read-out is (median) fluorescent intensity. Protein selection was made using available data from previous proteomic TBI studies, protein data on CNS enrichment, or neuroinflammation studies (78,193–200). This method allows for multiplexed protein screens in large number of patients (201) and has previously shown applicability for both serum (191,201), and CSF (190). Utilizing this technique, we could include a larger patient cohort than previous TBI proteomic efforts (189,194–196,202–208). This comes at the expense of the protein selection procedure, yielding an inherent bias in the data. Even though non-biased proteomic approaches such as mass-spectrometry could theoretically assess more proteins than we did, this method often fails to detect low-abundance proteins (209).

#### 3.1.2.2 Deriving Clinically Relevant Information from Proteomic Data

Statistical approached were different in **paper I** compared with **paper II**. The study design in **paper II** was cross-sectional, and included more patients than **paper I**, thus allowing for multivariable analyses including outcome prediction. In addition, the many proteins included in **paper II** warranted quality control considerations, protein analysis, and multiple-testing correction strategies in order to not infer a type I error in the data. For all assessments, we used R (181), through the interface RStudio®.

Quality control procedures entailed assessing bead count, and intensity across both samples and proteins. Blank and pooled samples served as sample negative and positive controls respectively. For analytes, an empty sample was used as negative control, and hIgG or rIgG as positive controls. This yielded exclusion of n = 4 patients, but no analytes (**Figure 7**).



Protein, Antibody

Figure 7: Bead Quality Control Yielded Exclusion of Four Patients but No Analytes. We assessed bead count across all patient samples (A) and analytes (B). Four TBI samples had bead count < 30, why these four patients (n = 8 samples) were excluded from analyses. All analytes exhibited median bead count  $\geq$  30. Abbreviations: CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; TBI, traumatic brain injury.

Intensity measurements across samples demonstrated that CSF samples in general had slightly higher intensity compared to serum (**Figure 8A-B**), thus warranting background subtraction to normalize all samples. When comparing intensities across all analytes, one protein was excluded due to borderline non-detectable fluorescence (**Figure 8C**).



Protein, Antibody

**Figure 8: Intensity** Assessments across Samples and Analytes. Median fluorescent intensity (MFI) was assessed per sample (A, B) and analyte (C). CSF samples (inset A) had higher MFI than serum samples. To overcome this, background subtraction was executed with improved results (inset B). Following background subtraction, MFI pe analyte was examined. Analytes that exhibited MFI < MFI for the positive control rlgG were examined in detail, whereupon CFI HPA024061 was excluded (C, inset). Abbreviations: C, CSF; S, serum; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; MFI, median fluorescent intensity.

We also assessed protein correlations, both between compartments and within samples, between compartments between samples (within analytes), and within compartments for individual analytes portrayed through two antibodies (**Figure 9**). For proteins represented by one antibody, low correlation between serum and CSF is difficult to evaluate. For proteins represented by different antibodies (i.e. *sibling antibodies* (210)), low between-compartment

correlations for one antibody but not the other led to exclusion of the low-correlating antibody. In total, we excluded n = 9 of in total n = 42 sibling antibodies using this strategy.



Figure 9: Patient Samples Correlated between CSF and Serum, whereas Individual Analytes Had a variable CSF/Serum Correlation. Individual samples showed good protein correlations between serum and CSF (A, B). In contrast, analytes (C,D) had variable CSF-serum correlations. For proteins depicted through multiple antibodies, this was examined in greater detail (E-H). Here antibodies showed either acceptable within-compartment correlations (E,F), or good correlations within one compartment (G), while not in the other (H), leading to additional analyte exclusion. Abbreviations: CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; MFI, median fluorescent intensity; TBI, traumatic brain injury.

Following data quality control, we integrated protein data with clinical data analysis techniques. Protein characterization was enabled through the Human Protein Atlas data using both protein/RNA, and Brain Atlas data (192,211,212). We conducted dimensionality reduction analyses using t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (213,214) to identify protein patterns. We used hierarchical clustering techniques to discern the presumptuous importance of BBB disruption for protein levels, and pathway analysis (215) to understand

how the deduced proteins related to one another. Throughout these analyses, multiple testing correction was conducted using the Bonferroni method, Holm method (216), or the false-discovery rate (217).

Uniquely for **paper II**, we conducted outcome analysis. We applied a hypothesis-driven approach and defined proteins of interest for outcome analysis to be: i) proteins altered upon hierarchical clustering analysis in CSF and that were enriched in TBI patients in CSF, or ii) serum, and iii) proteins that were elevated/decreased in CSF/serum in TBI patients following BBB disruption. Aligning with the TBI field, we used GOS as dependent variable and constructed a proportional odds regression analysis through the rms package in R (218). Univariable analysis was conducted with the protein level of the individual protein as independent variable. If significant in univariable analysis, we proceeded with multivariable analysis, in which we included the previously implicated IMPACT variables (24), comprising age, GCS, pupillary reactions, pre-hospital hypoxia/hypotension, and the Stockholm CT score. When applicable, step-down modelling was performed to see how proteins performed jointly in the regression models. Of note, results are presented as both p-value and the relative variable's contribution to overall model fit ( $\Delta$ pseudo-R<sup>2</sup>), as defined by Nagelkerke (219). This stems from the notion that currently available prognostic TBI variables explain  $\sim 35\%$ (25) of TBI outcome. A new prognostic TBI marker should therefore provide independent information (i.e. be significant), while also increasing the absolute amount of explained variance to the model in order to be of potential interest.

## 3.1.3 Paper III: The Controlled Cortical Impact Model and Development of a Multi-Modal Imaging System for Protein Assessment within Edema Subtypes

#### 3.1.3.1 The Controlled Cortical Impact Model

In **paper III**, we used the controlled cortical impact (CCI) technique to mimic a focal severe TBI in rats. This method was originally described by Lighthall (220), and translated to the rodent by Dixon and colleagues (221). Both the animals operated in **paper III** (199,222) and the operating procedure (223) have been described previously by us. In brief, the CCI is inferred by craniotomizing an anesthetized rodent, discarding the bone-flap. A pneumatic piston (Precision Systems and Instrumentation) infers the contusion towards the dural surface following an apparatus calibration ("tare"). Intra- and postoperatively, animals are administered systemic and local analgesia. It is also beneficial to monitor vital parameters intra-operatively to minimize the risk for uncontrolled secondary insult development.

The injury panorama seen after CCI mimics clinical aspects of human severe TBI (224). In **paper III**, we assessed edema and its relationship with (neuro)inflammation. Both of these

cellular injury mechanisms ensue a severe TBI inferred by CCI (224,225). In addition, the CCI model allow strict control of injury parameters e.g. piston velocity, contusion depth and dwell time (224,226), thus reducing experimental heterogeneity. This comes at the expense of inflicting a craniotomy without re-attachment of the extirpated bone-flap. Although recommended by Dixon and colleagues (227), this strategy is unphysiological compared with closed skull injuries, as it ameliorates ICP development and secondary injuries (228,229).

#### 3.1.3.2 A Multi-Modal Imaging System for Parallel Assessment of Edema Subtypes and Protein Expression

Animals exposed to either a sham or TBI surgery (n = 10) in **paper III** underwent magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) followed by immunohistochemistry (IHC) assessments *ex vivo*. Notably, each experimental animal underwent both assessments, which allowed us to match each MRI section with the anatomically equivalent IHC section, which we did for n = 15 injury regions. Through computational methods, we aligned these images with one another, thus allowing for assessment of protein expression within different edema subtypes. Softwares used throughout these procedures were FIJI (230), specifically the plugins TrakEM2 (231), and Image Calculator (232). In addition, we used Python<sup>TM</sup> (233), through the interface PyCharm community (version 2020.1.2) (234).

The three most critical aspects for parallel assessment of protein expression within edema subtypes were i) image registration, ii) edema delineation, and iii) calculation of AQP4 retraction from BBB endothelium. Image registration is a method consisting of aligning images obtained under different conditions (235). Image registration comprises detection of common image elements between a reference image and a second image, followed by procedures that align these and evaluate registration quality (235). For this, we used TrakEM2 (231), considered to be a state-of-the-art technique for image registration, although other registration tools also exist, some of which have been claimed to outperform TrakEM2 registration accuracy (236). TrakEM2 was developed for registration of large volumes of consecutive electron microscopy 2D-tiles (231), but we instead registered fewer images from two different imaging modalities. We used a landmark-based approach (237), i.e. we chose intrinsic study subject features and used these for alignment (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10: Registration of Immunohistochemical Images to Magnetic Resonance Images. Raw-data IHC and MRI images differed morphologically (A). The MRI served as anatomical ground-truth depiction. When the MRI section surface area was overlayed upon the IHC image, discrepancies were even more clear (B). Using anatomical landmarks (C), IHC images were registered to the MRI image. Abbreviations: IHC, immunohistochemistry; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.

Following landmark annotation (Figure 10C), we tested four different global mapping models (235,238), that entailed the methods *translation, rigid, similarity,* and *affine*. A translation transformation allows image displacements in two dimensions, a rigid transformation in addition allows for image rotation, while a similarity transformation also enables isotropic scaling, while an affine transformation allows for all of the aforementioned techniques but also for shear transformation (238). We used the transformation that yielded the visually best image alignment (235) (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Image Registration Quality Control. MRI images served as ground-truth images (A). Following image registration (B), IHC images were harmonized to the MRI images with regard to size, scale, rotation and shear effects. The robustness of the procedure is highlighted by overlaying the modified IHC image with the MRI image (B, right panel). Abbreviations: IHC, immunohistochemistry; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.

Edema was defined sequentially (Figure 12), using diffusion and non-diffusion weighted MRI images comprising the non-diffusion weighted sequence ( $S_0$ ), the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC), and the diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) sequences. Utilizing the  $S_0$  image, we distinguished between "contusion" i.e. necrotic tissue and all types of edema ("total edema"). A contusion was defined as a hypo-intensity, and conversely edema as a hyper-intensity, in-line with current literature (116,239,240). A cytotoxic edema within the total edema area was defined as an ADC hypo-intensity, with a concurrent DWI hyper-

intensity. The opposite criteria were used to define a vasogenic edema. Remaining, noncategorized pixels within the total edema area following this was deemed to entail a "mixed edema" (111). To examine protein expression within these regions, the exact same region was cropped from the immunohistochemical image using Python.



Figure 12: Edema Subtypes Were Defined Sequentially, Using a Standardized Approach. The total edema area (yellow dotted) and the contusion (necrotic, black-shaded) area were defined using non-diffusion weighted images of the injury zone (A,B). The total edema area could be defined into a cytotoxic or vasogenic component depending on ADC and DWI sequences (C). Remaining, non-categorized pixels within the total edema region were considered to comprise a mixed type edema (C,D). Note that this image was simplified for schematic and examplifying purposes. Abbreviations: ADC, apparent diffusion coefficient; DWI, diffusion-weighted imaging.

In order to assess AQP4 retraction from astrocytic end-feet lining the BBB, we calculated AQP4 loss from the BBB endothelium using the FIJI plugin Image Calculator. Under homeostasis, the BBB is delineated by BBB-endothelial staining (SMI-71+) (241), and AQP4+ astrocytic end-feet (114) (Figure 13A). Following TBI, AQP4 retracts towards perivascular astrocytic soma (166), so that only the endothelial staining remains (Figure 13B). The ratio between SMI-71 and AQP4 thereby alters so that AQP4 withdrawal increases the SMI-71/AQP4-ratio towards infinity, which on the image-level yields an increased fluorescent signal (Figure 13C), that can be quantified for regions of interest using Python.



Figure 13: Theoretical Rationale and Assessment of AQP4 Retraction from the Injury Zone. Under homeostasis (A), AQP4 (green) covers the BBB endothelium (magenta). Following injury (B), AQP4 is believed to retract towards the astrocytic soma (B). We quantified this by dividing the BBB endothelial marker SMI-71 with AQP4, yielding increased intensities (C) in regions with AQP4 retraction. Abbreviations: AQP4, aquaporin-4; BBB, blood-brain barrier.

#### 3.1.4 Paper IV: Stem Cell-Based Disease-Modelling

We used a stem-cell based model system for **paper IV** in order to examine neuroinflammatory astrocytes. The advent of stem-cell techniques, first through embryonic stem cells (ES cells) (242,243), later followed by induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS cells) (244) and human iPS (hiPS) cells (245,246), have created a novel platform for disease-modelling, drug screening, and cell therapy (247). Human ES cell studies have largely been replaced with the hiPS equivalent, as hiPS cells overcome two of the most pressing issues with ES cells, namely ethical aspects and graft-host rejection (247). We used mouse ES cells, as **paper IV** was not aimed at cell replacement but disease-modelling. For such studies, mouse ES cells provide swifter experimental turn-over while allowing translation into either the *in vivo* or hiPS cell *in vitro* setting.

We derived ES-astrocytes and ES-motor neurons by mimicking neuronal differentiation *in vivo*. In the developing CNS, both temporal and spatial cues determine cell fate (248). The process is initiated by neurogenesis (249). We differentiated ES-motor neurons and ES-astrocytes that *in vivo* are situated in the ventral brainstem, where ES-motor neuron genesis depends on Sonic hedgehog and retinoic acid (250). We used the widely recognized Wichterle protocol (250) to generate ES-motor neurons (Figure 14).



**Figure 14: Directed Differentiation of Embryonic Stem Cells into Motor Neurons and Astrocytes with Ventral Brainstem Identity.** Neurogenesis *in vivo* was mimicked by using the Wichterle protocol (250). The gliogenic switch seen *in vivo* was then induced by exchanging medium for FBS and culturing glial progenitors in the presence of first proliferative growth factors and then forskolin to prompt astrocytic differentiation. **Abbreviations:** EGF, epidermal growth factor; eGFP, enhanced green fluorescent protein; FBS, fetal bovine serum; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; FSK, forskolin; GDNF, glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor; MN, motor neuron; RA, retinoic acid; SAG, smoothened agonist; sc, spinal cord.

Having employed this protocol, resulting cells comprised interneurons, post-mitotic motor neurons, and glial progenitors (Figure 15).



**Figure 15: Directed Differentiation of Glial Progenitors following Motor Neuron Differentiation.** Following the first eight days in culture, embryoid bodies (**A**, **left and middle panel**) were dissociated into single cells of post-mitotic motor neurons as deemed by Hb9::eGFP positivity (**A**, **right-sided panel**). Within these cultures, glial progenitors were found (**B**, **lower right quadrant**), that could be further differentiated into astrocytes. Scale bars left to right: 50 µm, 50 µm, 25 µm. Abbreviations: eGFP, enhanced green fluorescent protein.

This is well in-line with the *in vivo* setting, where astrocyte and oligodendrocyte development ensue neurogenesis through a "gliogenic switch" (249). We therefore expanded the glial progenitor pool (**Figure 14**). We applied previously described protocols for directed astrocyte differentiation (251,252), that we adapted. Notably, we prompted astrocytic differentiation through addition of a panel of differentiation factors previously implicated in astrocytic differentiation (251–256). Following screening, we used the cyclic adenosine monophosphate activator forskolin in the established differentiation protocol (176).

The rationale for differentiating ES cells into mature cell types is that ES-derived cells, e.g. ES-astrocytes, are sufficiently similar to *bona fide* astrocytes. In addition, in the CNS, cell access is difficult, which makes stem cells translationally more relevant than primary cultures. Previous work has shown that astrocytes differentiated from hiPS cells are immature (257), and that longer culture times are required for maturation (258). To overcome this, over-expression of astrocytic transcription factors (259), or sorting methods (161), have been suggested to improve the yield of homogenous, mature astrocytes. We did not attempt any of these strategies, which entails an important limitation in paper IV. Cultures undertaken are likely not entirely homogenous and some cells are expected to retain immature features. Astrocytic sorting techniques would probably have improved this. Yet, we validated the ESastrocytes robustly using versatile techniques, encompassing gene validation by RNAsequencing the cells and validating them against previously published data (260). Here we used a protocol originally adapted for single-cell RNA sequencing (261,262), but that operates equally well for bulk-RNA sequencing (263) which we undertook. We further used immunocytochemistry to validate protein expression of astrocytic markers using among else the canonical astrocytic markers GFAP (150), AQP4 (264), and GLT-1 (153). We also assessed the ES-astrocytes functionally with regard to hallmark functional features, such as inflammatory responses (132,265). Finally, we undertook primary culture validation of our protocol, using subventricular zone stem cells. Taken together, stem cell-based systems have

already shown to be valuable due to their translational versatility. Using this approach we could differentiate astrocyte-like cells that carried multiple resemblances with *bona fide* astrocytes.

## 3.2 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

All human data studies (**paper I, II**) within this thesis were conducted in accordance with Swedish Law and the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approvals were granted through the regional branch of the Swedish Ethical Review Authority. All experimental studies (**paper III, IV**) were conducted in accordance with Swedish legislation, and as stipulated in the Code of Regulations of the Swedish Board of Agriculture (266). Ethical approval was granted by the Swedish Board of Agriculture's regional Stockholm County branch ethics committee. **Table 2** entails an overview of applicable ethical permits for this thesis.

Table 2: Ethical Approvals Paper I-IV			
Ethical approval number	Paper relevance	Permit applicability	Additional information
2009/1112-31/3	1	TBI patients	NA
2005/1526-31/2	11	TBI patients	NA
2014/1201-31/1	11	Control patients	NA
N369/12	111	Rodent experiments	Amendment/renewal under #N126/13
N275/15	IV	Cell harvesting	Appeal: N38/16. Amendment/renewal under #9182- 2018.
N104/14	IV	Embryonic stem cells.	NA

## 3.2.1 Ethical Reflections on Clinical Studies

Preclinical research within the TBI field has generated promising therapeutic targets and tentative pharmacological compounds that have failed upon translational attempts (128,267). This highlights the importance for studies in humans, which were undertaken in **paper I** and **paper II**.

The most pressing ethical issue in **paper I** and **paper II** is patient inclusion procedures. In both studies, study inclusion was granted by consent from a next-of-kin. This is common practice in clinical severe TBI studies, where the patient is unconscious and therefore incapacitated to provide informed consent themselves. This strategy enables the clinical field to obtain information regarding the acute injury processes that ensue a severe TBI. The Swedish law 2003:460 (268) also supports this line of reasoning. Specifically, the 20 § accompanied by §§ 21 and 22, regulates how research *without* informed consent should be effectuated. The next-of-kin system, although imperfect, is therefore what enables these types of studies.

Patients included in both **paper I** and **paper II** were subjected to standard treatment. Neither study conferred any particular benefit to study participants. In **paper I**, patients were monitored somewhat more intensely than what is conventional. Here, all patients had external ventricular drains, from which samples were taken at a high temporal resolution. This could theoretically have inferred an augmented risk for meningitis/ventriculitis (269). This was overcome through a four-way stopcock and a LiquoGuard® CSF-pump (Möller Medical GmbH), which allowed CSF collection in an enclosed system, thus minimizing the risk for iatrogenic contamination and subsequent infection. In **paper II**, samples were taken with a lower temporal resolution, thus not necessitating the CSF-pump system.

#### 3.2.2 Ethical Reflections on Experimental Studies

For experimental studies, animals (rats) were used for experimental surgical procedures (**paper III**) and mice for stem-cell acquisition (**paper IV**). All experimental animals were housed at the Karolinska Institutet animal facility on a 12-hour dark/light cycle, with *ad libitum* access to water and food. Ethical principles guiding animal experiments were derived from the Code of Regulations of the Swedish Board of Agriculture (266), within which the "3R Principle" is described. In short, the 3Rs promote researchers to Replace (animals in research with other models when possible), Refine (experiments to improve animal well-fare), and Reduce (the numbers of animals used). Below these are contextualized within the surgical TBI model (**paper III**) and to a minor extent the cell culture procedures (**paper IV**).

Animals cannot be fully replaced in TBI research since patient and injury heterogeneity often precludes deduction of pathophysiological relationships. For this, reproducible injury models are needed. Further, *in vitro* models lack the complexity of an *in vivo* system, thus necessitating animal models. We used rodents, a traditional research animal in TBI studies. A moral-philosophical aspect of animal research is that animals with lower cognitive capacity should be used (270). Rodents fulfil these criteria but still retain acceptable CNS similarity with humans. Since TBI research involves a physical trauma, minimization of animal suffering and distress is imperative. All animals included (rats) were anesthetized and administered both systemic and local analgesia intraoperatively. Post-operatively, they were monitored closely for signs of pain, and provided analgesia if needed. Naturally, a pre-set

threshold for sacrifice was set and in case of post-operative complications, animals were sacrificed prematurely in order to avoid suffering for the individual animal. We used *ex vivo* data derived from previously published animal experiments (199,222) thus significantly limiting the number of animals used. In addition, we applied multiple *ex vivo* methods to the same animals. This was critical for the research question and had the positive benefit of reducing the number of animals needed.

Lastly, we have endeavoured in the use of *in vitro*-models (**paper IV**). Even though these models cannot encapsulate the complexity of an organism, they can serve as screening tools and mechanistic deduction so that hypothesis-generation is optimized before animal-experiments are attempted. In line with this, we used stem cell-derived astrocytes as they share many similarities with astrocytes differentiated from primary culture cells (in our hands assessed using subventricular zone stem cells). We pursued the majority of our experiments using embryonic stem-cell derived cells, thus significantly limiting the number of animals used compared with primary culture experiments.

# 4 RESULTS

In order to detect a biological effect ("signal") in human severe TBI data, its magnitude must be stronger than the "noise" inferred by patient and injury heterogeneity. In contrast, experimental models are at risk of over-simplification (271), due to artificial model homogeneity and failure to account for translational complexity (271,272). Experimental models thus risk to over-interpret small biological effects, that will not have meaningful impact when translated into the clinical setting. Accordingly, the majority of translational attempts within the TBI field have failed (272). With this in mind, I sought to first delineate biological phenomena of prognostic importance in human observational data, and thereafter characterize these using experimental models. This thesis is therefore structured from a "bed to bench" perspective.

Utilizing this approach, I have found that a severe TBI is accompanied by BBB disruption (**paper I**), that comprises a novel predictor of long-term functional outcome following TBI (**paper II**), thus stressing its clinical relevance. The underlying mechanism of this is not fully portrayed here, but I show a strong relationship between BBB disruption and neuroinflammation, using human subject data (**paper II**). I further analyze neuroinflammatory protein expression *in situ* in an experimental rodent model (**paper III**), where I find that cytotoxic edema regions with presumably more intact BBB are associated with an innate neuroinflammatory response. In these regions, astrocytes retract AQP4 from the BBB (**paper III**). Astrocytes also acquire other attributes upon neuroinflammation, which I demonstrate in **paper IV**, where astrocytes stimulated with clinically relevant neuroinflammatory stimuli adopt a neurotoxic phenotype *in vitro* (**paper IV**).

#### 4.1 SEVERE TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY IS ACCOMPANIED BY BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER DISRUPTION, WHICH CONSTITUTES A NOVEL PROGNOSTIC MARKER FOR LONG-TERM OUTCOME

Across **paper I-III**, we discerned BBB disruption following severe TBI. We assessed BBB integrity using the current clinical gold-standard metric (101,179) – the albumin quotient Q<sub>A</sub> (100) in **paper I-II**. In contrast, for the experimental **paper III**, we measured BBB integrity indirectly using both MRI sequences and *in situ* protein expression. In the cross-sectional **paper II**, n = 23 TBI patients (32%) suffered a BBB disruption as per current clinical definitions (**Figure 16**).



**Figure 16: A Severe TBI Is Accompanied by BBB Disruption.** In the cross-sectional **paper II**, we found that a subset of patients suffered a BBB breakage, quantified using Q<sub>A</sub> with current clinical reference intervals. Of note, CSF samples were in median obtained two days following trauma, possibly causing the number of patients with BBB injury to be falsely too low. **Abbreviations:** BBB, bloodbrain barrier; Q<sub>A</sub>, albumin quotient.

In **paper I**, the BBB disruption could be seen to extend longitudinally for at least the first week following the TBI (**Figure 17**). Of note, not all patients suffered a BBB disruption as defined per  $Q_A$  reference intervals. This highlights that a severe TBI for at least a subset of patients is accompanied by a BBB breakage, that is maintained following the trauma.



Figure 17: A TBI-Induced BBB Disruption Persists Longitudinally. In the longitudinal paper I, we examined  $Q_A$  for around a week following the TBI. Although  $Q_A$  could be seen to decay somewhat throughout the study period, BBB-injury persisted for around seven days for several patients. Abbreviations: BBB, blood-brain barrier.  $Q_A$ , albumin quotient; TBI, traumatic brain injury.

Whereas the data from **paper I** indicates that the BBB injury inflicted at the time of trauma is the main contributor to this BBB disruption, the experimental **paper III** brings further complexity. Here, we found that TBI-inflicted edema was maintained for at least 28 days following trauma, and moreover, that the contribution of vasogenic edema increased longitudinally (**Figure 18**). As a delayed vasogenic edema has been linked to exacerbated BBB disruption through post-traumatic cellular injury processes (113), this indicates that BBB disruption following TBI is a dynamic process caused concomitantly by the inducing trauma and other injury processes. Taken together, BBB disruption accompanies a severe traumatic brain injury. BBB disruption can be either maintained, or in the case of ongoing cellular injury-processes, exacerbated, longitudinally.





Importantly, we show that BBB disruption is of clinical importance, which is novel. In **paper I**, we show that two brain-enriched proteins of tissue fate were cleared differently from CSF to blood, at least in part dependent on the BBB. We assessed the astrocytic and neuronal proteins S100B and NSE. Overall, we found stronger correlations between blood, CSF, and Q<sub>A</sub> for S100B than for NSE. As one might expect a time-shift/lagged clearance from brain to blood, we also assessed cross correlations. Here, we could see a discretely delayed clearance of S100B from CSF to blood, which coincided with an identically lagged correlation between Q<sub>A</sub> and S100B<sub>blood</sub>, speaking in favor of a BBB-induced delayed clearance from CSF to blood (**Figure 19A-C**). We could not observe the same phenomenon for NSE (**Figure 19D-F**).



Figure 19: S100B and NSE Exhibit Discrepant Cross-Correlation Patterns. S100B (A-C) is detected in blood ~12h later than in CSF, attributed to delayed BBB clearance (B). NSE (D-F) is also cleared with a delay to blood, but this could not be related to intracranial NSE release (D) or BBB clearance (E). Abbreviations: BBB, blood-brain barrier; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; NSE, neuron-specific enolase.

The discrepancy in cross correlation patterns provide an indication that S100B and NSE are cleared through different routes from the injured CNS. In order to demonstrate this more robustly, we conducted longitudinal regression analyses. Here we found that S100B blood levels exhibited a curvilinear longitudinal decrease, that was also dependent on S100B<sub>CSF</sub> and  $Q_A$  (Figure 20A). In contrast, for NSE, only time from trauma predicted NSE concentrations (Figure 20B). Taken together, our findings indicate that S100B and NSE are cleared differently from the injured CNS, and importantly, that S100B clearance is related to BBB disruption as measured through  $Q_A$ .



**Figure 20: Longitudinal Regression Modelling of Biomarker Clearance for S100B and NSE.** For S100B **(A)**, time from trauma, Q<sub>A</sub>, and S100B<sub>CSF</sub> predicted blood levels of S100B. In contrast, NSE in blood **(B)** was only predicted by time from trauma. **Abbreviations:** NSE, neuron-specific enolase; Q<sub>A</sub>, albumin quotient.

The sample size included in **paper I** was not powered for outcome analysis. In contrast, we had a uniquely large cohort and a control cohort in **paper II**. We assessed the CSF and serum proteome following a severe TBI and compared protein levels with healthy subjects' values. We found clear discrepancies between the blood and CSF proteome following trauma (**Figure 21A**). Strikingly, the CSF proteome was related to BBB disruption, indicating that BBB disruption plays a role in pathological processes ensuing the trauma (**Figure 21B**).



**Figure 21: The CSF Proteome Is Affected by both TBI and BBB disruption.** As expected, a severe TBI elicited proteomic differences compared with healthy control patients **(A)**, that was discernible in both CSF and serum. Patient-specific attributes e.g. BBB disruption following TBI, also yielded proteomic differences, particularly in the CSF compartment **(B)**. Abbreviations: BBB, blood-brain barrier; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; TBI, traumatic brain injury; tsne, t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding.

We demonstrated that  $Q_A$  constituted an independent predictor of GOS (p = 0.044,  $\Delta$ Nagelkerke's pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> = 8.89%). This is novel, and important. We thus demonstrated the occurrence and dynamics of BBB injury following TBI, and related BBB disruption to long-term prognosis. We next sought to characterize the relationship between acute neuroinflammatory responses in the injured brain and whether they were of associative importance for BBB breakdown.

#### 4.2 INNATE NEUROINFLAMMATORY RESPONSES DEMONSTRATE AN ASSOCIATION WITH BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER DISRUPTION CLINICALLY AND EXPERIMENTALLY

We examined the relationship between BBB disruption and neuroinflammation in **paper II** and **paper III**. In **paper II**, we used fluid proteomic profiling of CSF and serum following severe TBI which we compared with a healthy control cohort. In **paper III**, we conducted *in situ* analysis of protein expression within edema subtypes determined through MRI following an experimental CCI model in rats. In **paper II**, n = 114 of the examined n = 177 proteins correlated with Q<sub>A</sub> through the CSF/serum ratio. Correlated proteins exhibited in median a correlation coefficient  $\tau = 0.33$  (0.29-0.40), of which nine of the ten proteins with highest correlation coefficient were complement proteins. The other proteins were, as assessed through the Human Protein Atlas (212), predominantly CNS enriched or inflammatory in nature (**Figure 22A**). When we assessed these proteins in higher detail, we found protein levels in CSF (but not serum) to be associated with Q<sub>A</sub> (**Figure 22B**). Interestingly, protein levels clustered both depending on Q<sub>A</sub> and dichotomized GOS, but not patient genetic attributes in the form of Apolipoprotein E  $\epsilon$ 4-allele carriership. Upon pathway analysis of these proteins, we found predominantly enrichment of inflammatory pathways (**Figure 22C**).



Figure 22: BBB Disruption Is Related to Innate Immune Pathways, Notably the Complement Cascade. Among the n = 114 proteins that were correlated with  $Q_A$ , many were CNS- or immune system-enriched (A). Interestingly, protein levels clustered depending on  $Q_A$  (B), and seemed related to outcome. Pathway analysis between cluster-specific proteins implicated structural but importantly also inflammatory pathways (C). Abbreviations: APOE4, apolipoprotein E  $\epsilon$ 4-allele; GOS, Glasgow Outcome Score;  $Q_A$ , albumin quotient.

Notably, only n = 5 proteins exhibited significantly altered levels against dichotomized Q<sub>A</sub>. In CSF, these entailed the inflammatory proteins complement factor B, C9, Ficolin 1, and IL-6. We conducted outcome analysis for numerous combinations of hypothesis-guided proteins. This included among else proportional odds regression analysis of proteins that were altered depending on if the patient had an intact or disrupted BBB. Upon multivariable modelling, merely complement factor B in serum (p = 0.003,  $\Delta R^2 = 9.2\%$ ) and C9 in CSF (p = 0.014,  $\Delta R^2 = 7.4\%$ ) were retained following step-down procedures. Taken together, this implies an intimate relationship between BBB disruption and neuroinflammation, where complement cascade proteins seem to be of particular interest.

In contrast to the global neuroinflammatory assessments undertaken in **paper II**, we examined local lesion zone expression of neuroinflammatory proteins in **paper III**. We delineated edema subtypes using MRI. The entire edema area was defined as a hyperintensity on a non-diffusion weighted MRI. We next defined a vasogenic edema as a hyperintensity on an ADC image, together with a concurrent hypo-intensity on the DWI. The opposite held true for cytotoxic edema. Following image alignment between MRI and IHC images using image registration, we assessed local protein expression within each defined edema subtype. Using this unique methodological approach, we could corroborate previous findings on both cytotoxic and vasogenic edema. We found a moderate correlation ( $\rho = -0.29$ ) between the BBB endothelial marker SMI-71 and vasogenic edema (**Figure 23A**), indicating that vasogenic edema is associated with a disrupted BBB. As this would lead to the inflow of proteinaceous fluid into the brain parenchyma (112), we also assessed local amount of immunoglobulin G (IgG), for which we found a weak correlation with vasogenic edema (**Figure 23B**,  $\rho = 0.11$ ). Both these findings are well in-line with current literature, stipulating that vasogenic edema is related to BBB disruption (113).



**Figure 23: BBB Breakdown Correlates with Vasogenic Edema.** The BBB-endothelial marker SMI-71 was negatively correlated with ADC, indicating that vasogenic edema co-occur with BBB breakdown (A). Accordingly, extravasation of otherwise vessel-restricted IgG into the brain parenchyma was (weakly) correlated with ADC (B). Abbreviations: ADC, apparent diffusion coefficient; IgG; immunoglobulin G; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.

In contrast, cytotoxic edema has been more sparsely studied. As cytotoxic edema itself could lead to (or indicate) oncotic cell death, thereby causing exacerbated BBB disruption, and a delayed vasogenic edema (112,113), we characterized this further. We found cytotoxic edema to be correlated with innate immune markers such as macrophages (ED1+, also a marker for activated phagocytic microglia), hematopoietic progenitor cells (CD34+), as well as a microglia-specific marker (OX42) (**Figure 24A-C**). Microglia is well-known to act in concert with complement (107), and in accordance, we found a strong correlation between the complement membrane attack complex (C5b9) and the cytotoxic edema region (**Figure 24D**,  $\rho = 0.75$ ). One interpretation for this, albeit speculative, is that the cytotoxic edema that ensues the TBI is accompanied by a potent (innate) inflammatory reaction, that leads to a delayed BBB breakdown, thus explaining the correlation between e.g. complement and Q<sub>A</sub> (**paper II**) as well as the correlation between complement expression and cytotoxic edema (**paper III**).



**Figure 24: Innate Neuroinflammatory Proteins Are Correlated with Cytotoxic Edema.** A positive relationship was seen between markers for macrophages and hematopoietic progenitor cells and cytotoxic edema (**A**, **B**), indicating that cytotoxic edema co-occurs with peripheral immune cell recruitment. Moreover, both the microglia-marker OX42 and the complement membrane attack complex C5b9 correlated positively with cytotoxic edema (**C**, **D**), highlighting that cytotoxic edema progression is also related to *in situ* innate immune reactions. **Abbreviations**: DWI, diffusion-weighted imaging.

As mentioned, one of the key cells in the BBB and the gliovascular unit is the astrocyte, specifically highlighted in both **paper III** and **paper IV**. Astrocytes are positioned at the abluminal BBB surface where they elongate their foot-processes (end-feet), which are AQP4-

covered towards the outer BBB surface (273). Interestingly, following TBI *in vivo*, AQP4 has been implied to be retracted from the astrocytic end-feet to the cell soma (166,167). In **paper III**, we assessed AQP4 retraction, and found a wide-spread retraction of AQP4 across all edema subtypes, that however was dominant in the cytotoxic edema area (**Figure 25**), which also emanated as a predictor for AQP4 retraction upon regression modelling ( $\beta = 0.14$ , p = 0.003,  $R^2 = 0.39$ ).



**Figure 25: Cytotoxic Edema Is Associated with AQP4-Retraction from Astrocytic End-Feet Lining the BBB.** Widespread AQP4 retraction from BBB vessels was seen following TBI, most clearly in the cytotoxic edema area (middle row). **Abbreviations:** AQP4, aquaporin-4, BBB, blood-brain barrier; DIV, the ratio between SMI-71 and AQP4. **Scale bar:** 100 µm.

Interestingly, this relationship was time-dependent, and the extent of AQP4 retraction decreased longitudinally together with cytotoxic edema (p = 0.024, p = 0.001, p = NS for 7-, 14-, and 28-days post injury as interaction effect with cytotoxic edema). We associated AQP4

retraction with co-occurring protein expression and found C5b9, IgG, OX42, transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), and vascular endothelial growth factor  $\alpha$  (VEGF- $\alpha$ ) to be moderately correlated with the extent of AQP4 retraction. Upon regression modelling, C5b9 and IgG constituted independent, albeit interacting predictors of AQP4 retraction ( $\beta = 0.015$ , p = 0.022 for the interaction) when modelled together with SMI-71 and AQP4. When constructing a regression model independent of AQP4 and SMI-71, IgG remained significant (p = 0.005), while VEGF- $\alpha$  (p = 0.009), TFG- $\beta$  (p = 0.049), and OX42 (p = 0.001) were also significant predictors of AQP4 retraction. Taken together, we found that the neuroinflammatory response is potent in regions with cytotoxic edema, and that this was associated with AQP4 retraction. This strongly implicates the astrocyte as an important cell linking BBB disruption, edema, and neuroinflammation.

#### 4.3 ASTROCYTES ADOPT A NEUROTOXIC PHENOTYPE UPON NEUROINFLAMMATORY STIMULATION, OF IMPORTANCE FOR CELLULAR INTERPLAY WITHIN DEFINED CNS NICHES

Astrocytes hold versatile functions, among else the astrogliotic response to neuroinflammatory stimulus, that at the BBB interface seemed to be strongly related to AQP4 retraction in **paper III**. In **paper IV**, we extended our studies of neuroinflammation with a specific focus on astrocytes, and how reactive (i.e. astrogliotic) astrocytes affect neurons following clinically relevant pro-inflammatory stimulation. We examined astrocytes and motor neurons *in vitro*, using cells that were derived from ES-cells using directed differentiation. We chose to differentiate cells with a positional identity in the ventral brainstem, as this region is associated with especially poor prognosis following diffuse/traumatic axonal injury (36,38). Further, even though astrocytes have been implied in mediation of neurotoxic effects (132,161), no studies have assessed astrocytes and neurons residing in the same brainstem niche.

We verified the positional identity of the ES-derived astrocytes and ES-motor neurons using RNA-sequencing. Along the rostro-caudal axis, we found all brainstem/hindbrain Hox 4 paralogs (*Hoxa4-Hoxd4*) (257,274) to be non-significant between both cell types, indicating a common origin. Further, ventral identity was assessed using the dorsoventral genes *Nkx6.1*, *Pax6*, *Slit1*, *Reln* (275). We could also discriminate between ES-motor neurons and ES-astrocytes by assessing upregulation of canonical motor neurons genes, such as *Mnx1* for motor neurons (log<sub>2</sub> fold change 7,  $p_{adjusted} < 0.001$ ), and *Slc1a3*, *Fabp7*, *Fgfr3*, *Slc1a2*, and *CD44* for astrocytes as implied in a landmark study by Cahoy and colleagues (260). As we to some extent developed a new protocol for astrocyte-differentiation, we also verified the robustness of the protocol by applying it to subventricular zone-stem cells, that we successfully differentiated into subventricular zone-astrocytes (**Figure 26**).



**Figure 26: Validation of the Astrocyte Differentiation Protocol Using Subventricular Zone Stem Cells.** SVZ-derived astrocytes exposed to the same culture protocol as ES-astrocytes expressed numerous canonical astrocytic markers at the protein level **(A)**. With the notable exception of GFAP, the majority of proteins were expressed in >75% of cells with consequent high extent of co-localization **(B, C)**. **Abbreviations:** ES-astrocytes; embryonic stem cell-derived astrocytes; FSK, forskolin; NF1A, nuclear factor 1A; SVZ, subventricular zone. For other protein abbreviations, please see list of abbreviations. **Scale bar:** 100 µm.

We used the previously implicated cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  for activation of the ESastrocytes, which we evaluated through the increased phosphorylation of c-Jun, a downstream product in the c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathway (**Figure 27A**) at 2 and 24 hours (**Figure 27B-I**).



Figure 27 (from previous page): ES-astrocytes Increase the Expression of Phosphorylated c-Jun following an Inflammatory Stimulus with IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . We verified that cells responded to inflammatory stimulus by evaluating the c-Jun N terminal kinase pathway downstream product c-Jun phosphorylation (P-c-Jun) (A). Following both 2h (B-E) and 24h (F-I) of cytokine-stimulation, P-c-Jun was increased in ES-astrocytes. Notably, this did not affect expression of canonical astrocytic markers such as GLT-1 (D, H). The inflammatory effect was not restricted to glial progenitors, as also mature ES-astrocytes were seen to be affected (E, I). Abbreviations: GLT-1, glutamate transporter 1; IL-1 $\alpha$ , interleukin 1 $\alpha$ ; MAPK, mitogen activated protein kinase; P-c-Jun, phosphorylated c-Jun; TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ . Scale bar: 25 µm.

Interestingly, following co-culture between neuroinflammatory ES-astrocytes and FACSsorted ES-motor neurons, fewer ES-motor neurons survived (Figure 28).



Figure 28: ES-Astrocytes Adopt a Neurotoxic Phenotype following Induction with IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . We cultured ventral brainstem ES-astrocytes and ES-motor neurons in parallel (A). ES-motor neurons were FACS sorted and plated on top of ES-astrocytes stimulated with inflammatory substances. Following co-culture, ES-motor neuron survival decreased when cultured together with IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ -treated ES-astrocytes (B). The effect was ES-motor neuron specific (C), and affected both absolute cell count as well as morphological metrics (C-E). Abbreviations: FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorting; IL-1 $\alpha$ , interleukin 1 $\alpha$ ; MN, motor neuron; sc, brainstem/spinal cord, TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ . Scale bar: 100 µm.

We elaborated on these findings by exposing the ES-astrocytes to neuroinflammatory factors derived as important markers from **paper II**, namely complement component C1Q, C5, IL- $1\beta$ , IL-6, and TGF- $\beta$ 2. Interestingly, and novel, IL- $1\beta$  and IL-6-stimulated ES-astrocytes adopted a neurotoxic fate in a contact-dependent co-culture system with ES-motor neurons (**Figure 29**). In a cell-autonomous system, toxic effects seemed to be at play, but were less clear.



Figure 29: Clinically Relevant Neuroinflammatory Substances Cause ES-Astrocytes to Adopt a Neurotoxic Fate. We stimulated ES-astrocytes with substances derived from paper II and subsequently co-cultured them with ES-motor neurons. Following IL-1β and IL-6 stimulation, ES-astrocytes again adopted neurotoxic phenotype. Abbreviations: C1q, а complement component C5, 1q; complement component 5; IL-, interleukin; TGF, transforming growth factor.

We assessed the "neurotoxic astrocytes" using RNA-sequencing. Upon gene set enrichment analysis, we found pathways implicated in MYC, endoplasmic reticulum stress and cell cycle mechanisms to be of particular interest (**Figure 30**).



Figure 30: Neurotoxic ES-Astrocytes Alter Gene Regulation of MYC, Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress, and Cell Cycle Pathways. We compared the transcriptome of neurotoxic and control ES-astrocytes using bulk polyA+ RNA sequencing. Here, pathways (A-C) implicated in MYC, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and cell cycle targets were differentially regulated. This provides a hypothesis-generating framework for why ES-astrocytes adopt a neurotoxic phenotype. Within these gene sets we found numerous genes implicated in reactive astrocytes as well as TBI. Abbreviations: ER, endoplasmic reticulum.

Within the leading edges of these gene sets, we found numerous genes previously implicated in reactive astrocytes, TBI (also in **paper II**), and traumatic axonal injury (159,189,276), e.g. *Ccl2*, *Cdkn1a*, *Gins1*, *Hspa5*, *LDHA*, *Mthfd2*, *Prdx3*, *Prdx4*, *Ppia*, *Psma1*, *Tubb2a*, *Vegfa*, and *Ywhaq*.

# **5 DISCUSSION**

This thesis characterizes pathophysiological injury processes that ensue a severe TBI through clinical and experimental studies. I focus particularly on BBB disruption and neuroinflammation, that share the involvement of astrocyte-mediated processes. I have found BBB disruption to occur following a severe TBI and to extend throughout the first week after injury, possibly because of the eliciting trauma but also through additional secondary insults. This is of clinical relevance, both for biomarker clearance from the injured CNS and for longterm prognosis. I further establish an important association between BBB disruption and neuroinflammation, which seems to be strongly related to complement-system mediated mechanisms, in themselves also of importance for long-term prognosis. I expand on the relationship between BBB disruption and neuroinflammation by studying the lesion vicinity following an experimental TBI. Here, I show that retraction of the astrocytic AQP4 from the BBB interface is associated with innate immune mechanisms in cytotoxic edema regions, emphasizing astrocytes as a key cell type for both BBB disruption and neuroinflammation. Lastly, I examine astrocytes in isolation through an in vitro system, where I demonstrate that astrocytes following clinically relevant neuroinflammatory stimuli adopt a neurotoxic phenotype. These findings implicate neuroinflammation as a treatment target in the aftermath following severe TBI, expanded upon below.

#### 5.1 OUTCOME PREDICTION FOLLOWING SEVERE TBI IMPROVES UPON INCLUSION OF CELLULAR INJURY MECHANISMS

We characterized BBB disruption and neuroinflammation following severe TBI in humans (**paper I and II**). We found BBB disruption measured through Q<sub>A</sub> to occur in at least a subset of patients, extend throughout the first week following a severe TBI, and comprise a novel predictor of long-term outcome. BBB disruption affected clearance from brain to blood of S100B. This is important as blood levels of S100B in many centers directs clinical management (72). Presumptuous sources of erroneously high or low S100B concentrations, e.g. BBB disruption must therefore be considered. In contrast, NSE clearance from brain to blood did not seem reliant on BBB disruption. Although this might be a mere reflection of extracranial sources of NSE, limiting its clinical utility as a biomarker (77), it might also indicate that brain-derived proteins are cleared through different mechanisms from brain to blood. As S100B and NSE exhibit different properties, stretching from size (277–279), half-life (63), and cellular sources (77,280–282), we can at this point primarily speculate that they are cleared differently. Future studies must explore this further, particularly focusing on the glymphatic system, which has previously been implicated in biomarker clearance (170).

Further, BBB disruption was associated with a unique expression profile of neuroinflammatory proteins in CSF, some of which also constituted novel and independent outcome predictor proteins. This implicates BBB disruption and neuroinflammation as new

possible outcome predictors depicting disease progression in the acute/sub-acute phase following the trauma while the patient is in neurocritical care. Yet, such "pathophysiologyoriented" biomarkers rarely form part of current outcome prediction models. In fact, numerous outcome prediction models have been derived using TBI data, but many of these are hampered by inherent methodological issues, limiting their validity (283,284). In 2007, two larger-scale collaborations denominated "Corticosteriod Randomisation after Significant Head Injury" (CRASH) and IMPACT (23,285) developed outcome prediction tools that dominate the field today (286) and that are available as clinical scoring tools (285,287). Both CRASH and IMPACT exclusively use admission and demographic data (24,285) and they have been thoroughly validated externally upon creation (285,287), and recently (288). Yet, neither CRASH nor IMPACT has been widely implemented as clinical decision-making tools (284), or in guidelines, even though their predictive ability trumps prognostic scores implemented in other disciplines (286). One explanation for this might be that neither of these models account for the full complexity ensuing a severe TBI. We used the IMPACT models for benchmarking in paper II. The original IMPACT model had an estimated model fit described as Nagelkerke's pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> of ~35% (25), meaning that ~65 % of variance in outcome prediction is unaccounted for using currently included variables. We demonstrate how this predictive capacity could be improved, by incorporating variables depicting cellular injury mechanisms that underlie the pathophysiological course of TBI, such as BBB disruption, and neuroinflammation. Previously, disease course has been suggested as a tentative component in outcome prediction following TBI (25). Secondary insults upon admission (289) or throughout neurocritical care management (290) have been described as important outcome predictors amenable to clinical intervention with improved prognostic results (291). In this context, BBB disruption and neuroinflammation should be seen as cellular injury mechanisms that can lead to secondary insults such as ICP increments, but that also form part of the expected pathophysiological trajectory following a TBI. We here demonstrate their importance throughout severe TBI in humans, and how they influence outcome. This speaks in favor of cellular injury mechanisms as possibly underlying some of the outcome variance unaccounted for, and two of these being BBB disruption and neuroinflammation. Analogous to how prevention of secondary insult-directed treatment can improve outcome, modification of pathophysiological events such as BBB disruption and the neuroinflammatory response might also lead to prognostic improvement. In order to target future monitoring and in extension, treatment of these mechanisms specifically, an improved pathophysiological understanding is warranted.

#### 5.2 BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER DISRUPTION ENSUES TBI AND IS ASSOCIATED WITH NEUROINFLAMMATORY EVENTS

We delineated BBB disruption longitudinally following clinical TBI (paper I) and experimental TBI inferred using the CCI model (paper III). In the clinical material, we found that BBB disruption developed already at the time of trauma and was maintained

throughout the first week. This indicates that BBB disruption occurs already during the primary injury inflicted by the mechanical trauma (97,113). Interestingly, not all patients seemed to be afflicted by BBB disruption, measured using Q<sub>A</sub>, in either paper I or paper II. Even though this might indicate individual variations in cellular injury mechanisms, it might also be a source of error due to wash-out of QA, particularly in paper II where QA measurements was initiated sub-acutely. In spite of this, we demonstrate how BBB disruption was maintained for patients in **paper I** for at least the first week following trauma. Previously, BBB disruption measured through Q<sub>A</sub> has been found to normalize rather steeply within the first week post-TBI (104,105), whereas others have found persistently deranged Q<sub>A</sub> values (106), occasionally even extending into the long-term (97,107). This conflicting data suggests that also other mechanisms might be at play, exacerbating or alleviating BBB disruption throughout the course of disease. One of these might be events occurring at the neuro-/gliovascular unit, leading to exacerbated BBB disruption. We corroborated this hypothesis in **paper III**, where we modelled edema progression following experimental TBI. Here we found that although the total edema region diminished longitudinally, there was a shift towards a vasogenic edema at later time-points. This speaks in favor of the occurrence of a delayed vasogenic edema and hence a more prolonged disruption of the BBB, similarly to what has been previously described (112,116).

One mechanism potentially contributing to extended BBB disruption is neuroinflammation. We found that neuroinflammation was strongly associated with BBB disruption using fluid proteomics following human TBI (paper II) and with AQP4 retraction from the BBB in situ following experimental TBI (paper III). In paper II, particularly complement proteins demonstrated a strong association with BBB disruption. In fact, among proteins that discriminated between patients with intact and disrupted BBB, the complement proteins complement factor B, C9, and Ficolin 1 stood out. Of these, both C9 and complement factor B were predictive of outcome. This implies the complement system strongly in posttraumatic BBB disruption, well in-line with the literature that has implied complement in both the brain parenchyma (195,197,292), and CSF (194,203,293,294) following TBI. The complement system proteins entail ~50 proteins (295), that circulate or else are membranebound (107). In the systemic circulation, complement proteins are derived from hepatic synthesis (107). Additionally, studies show that all complement system proteins can likely be locally produced in the brain (296,297), implying that complement activation following TBI can occur concomitantly through BBB leakage and local activation. Within the injured CNS, the complement system targets cells for destruction through opsonization, induce cell lysis through the membrane attack complex, and stimulates inflammatory mechanisms through anaphylatoxins (298). Activation occurs through three (classical, lectin, alternative) or possibly four different pathways (299), that independent of the inductive pathway culminates with cleavage of the protein C3 to C3a (anaphylatoxin) and C3b, where the latter forms a complex together with complement factor B thus enabling cleavage of C5 into C5a

(anaphylatoxin) and C5b (84). C5b can together with C6, C7, C8, and numerous C9 molecules form the membrane attack complex (C5b9) thus causing cell lysis (84).

Within the brain following TBI, the suggested mechanism for complement-mediated neuroinflammation is that C3b (and breakdown products) deposit on e.g. neuronal cell surfaces and thereby target them for subsequent phagocytosis and C5b9 formation (297,298,300). Meanwhile, the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a activate infiltrating immune cells, microglia, and astrocytes (107,295,297), which migrate to the injury site. Both microglia and astrocytes have been implicated in the complement-mediated response (296,298,300,301). Whereas microglia has been implied to participate in phagocytosis (302,303), the role of astrocytes is less clear. Astrocytes have been shown to express complement proteins and anaphylatoxin receptors (107,295), synthesize complement system proteins (296), be involved in phagocytosis (298), be activated following complement activation (300), and reduce astrogliosis following complement inhibition (303,304). Moreover, astrocytes have been suggested to induce astrocytic scars following complement activation, and to be involved in exacerbation of BBB disruption through anaphylatoxin signaling (301). Anaphylatoxins may also promote vascular permeability, thus potentially exacerbating the BBB leakage, while promoting recruitment of phagocytic or lytic leukocytes (84,295,301). We assessed all complement pathways in **paper II**, and we implicated primarily complement factor B (the alternative pathway) and C9 (one of the proteins involved in C5b9 formation (301)) in relation to outcome. This is in-line with recent data, suggesting that C5b9 formation is critical in the acute phase following TBI, while inhibition of the alternative pathway has been shown to be critical for sustained complement inhibition following TBI (300). We thus associated BBB disruption and the neuroinflammatory response following TBI with a prognostically important altered complement regulation. We expanded on these findings in paper III, where we assessed the neuroinflammatory response in situ at the BBB interface and related this to retraction of AQP4 end-feet from the BBB. We found a strong association between both C5b9 and microglia with cytotoxic edema. This might indicate that cell death in this region, of presumptive importance for exacerbated BBB breakdown, is related to the neuroinflammatory response. It has been suggested that complement activation in this region is also associated with BBB disruption through shearing of the astrocytic end-feet in close proximity to the BBB (301). In fact, we found that C5b9 and microglia served as predictors in a model of AQP4 retraction from the BBB, strengthening the notion that BBB breakdown, and neuroinflammation are intertwined. In addition, we found the inflammatory mediators TGF- $\beta$  and VEGF- $\alpha$  to also be predictive of AQP4 retraction from the BBB. Together with complement, both of these have been implicated in BBB breakdown (105,113,293,305). This makes the astrocyte a cell of particular interest within the neurovascular unit. In order to characterize this further, we assessed the effect of neuroinflammatory reactive astrocytes on neurons (paper IV).

#### 5.3 NEUROINFLAMMATORY ASTROCYTES EXERT NEUROTOXIC FUNCTIONS FOLLOWING STIMULATION WITH CLINICALLY RELEVANT INFLAMMATORY MEDIATORS

In **paper IV**, we differentiated AQP4-expressing astrocytes with a ventral brainstem profile utilizing ES cells *in vitro*. We demonstrated that these cells respond similarly to primary culture astrocytes in response to neuroinflammatory triggers, and interestingly, that these ES-astrocytes adopted a neurotoxic phenotype when stimulated with pro-inflammatory factors discerned in **paper II**. Here, the ES-astrocytes exhibited neurotoxic attributes upon stimulation with IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, but not with complement components.

In neuroscience, there has been a growing interest in astrocytes, owing to their substantial involvement in many disease processes within the CNS (147), complicated by astrocyte heterogeneity in both health and disease (88,149,159,160). Astrocyte heterogeneity likely arises already during developmental processes (146), and hold functional implications (306,307). Therefore, we chose to differentiate astrocytes and neurons from one CNS niche. We chose the ventral brainstem niche, which in the setting of diffuse/traumatic axonal injuries, is particularly important (36,38,39). In this niche, we demonstrated that ESastrocytes stimulated with IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  adopts a phenotype which is toxic to ES-motor neurons, in line with what has previously been demonstrated for forebrain astrocytes, and spinal astrocytes together with cortical neurons (132,161). We however show this for one anatomical CNS niche, which is novel and likely portrays the in vivo situation more stringently. By utilizing the neuroinflammatory factors delineated in **paper II**, we expanded the assessment of astrocyte-neuronal interactions by stimulating astrocytes with clinically relevant pro-inflammatory factors. Notably, complement component proteins did not elicit neurotoxic effects on motor neurons following astrocytic stimulation with C1q and C5. A multitude of causes might underlie this finding. As of now, we can say that astrocytic complement stimulation with a limited number of factors is non-sufficient to elicit astrocytemediated neurotoxicity. In contrast, we demonstrate how IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, of which IL-6 was significantly increased between patients with intact and disrupted BBB in paper II, inferred astrocyte-mediated neurotoxicity.

Numerous CNS cell types express the IL-1 $\beta$  receptor (78). Similarly, IL-6 is expressed by a multitude of cell types within the CNS (78). Interestingly, both these cytokines have been implied in BBB disruption in themselves and/or through astrocyte-mediated mechanisms. Injection of IL-1 $\beta$  *in vivo* has been shown to induce BBB permeability (308), highlighting that IL-1 $\beta$  might have a broad function in the CNS encompassing both inflammatory, BBB disruption, and edema mechanisms (129). When astrocytes specifically were stimulated with IL-1 $\beta$ , however, they produce MMPs indicating detrimental effects as MMPs degrade the BBB (133). Following human TBI, a strong correlation has been noted between IL-6 and MMP-9 (309), as well as between IL-6 and BBB disruption (310). This speaks in favor of

neuroinflammatory modulation in order to mitigate post-traumatic BBB disruption. The culture-system that we employed in paper IV did not mimic the full gliovascular unit, but rather astrocytic and neuronal interactions. In a seminal paper of Liddelow and colleagues (132), astrocytes were shown to exert a neurotoxic effect following stimulation with IL-1 $\alpha$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and C1q. This has been corroborated recently using astrocytes and neurons differentiated from human induced pluripotent stem cells (161), and by emerging work (311). We corroborated these findings, while expanding on them by also showing that human disease-relevant inflammatory mediators can exert similar effects. Taken together, we thus possibly uncover an additional local cellular injury process of importance following a severe TBI. Why astrocytes adopt a neurotoxic fate is not yet clear. Nearest at hand would be to assume that reactive astrocytes due to loss-of-function develop less neurotrophic attributes. We cannot rule this out in our data, as cultures with merely motor neurons overall exhibited a very low survival following fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Studies in vivo, deleting the "A1 genes", however, have found improved neuronal survival, arguing against the loss-offunction hypothesis (132). Other suggested mechanisms for astrocyte-mediated neurotoxicity involve gain-of-function hypotheses and are under investigation. Early work preceding the A1 delineation implied astrocyte-mediated neurotoxic effects through reactive nitrogen oxide-related pathways (312), but also through astrocyte-released MMP-1 (313). Recently, astrocytes were demonstrated to secrete lipids that confer the neurotoxic effect (162). Recent work which still has not undergone scientific peer-review interestingly implies IL-6 through autocrine-paracrine signaling mechanisms to be of particular importance for at least the astrocyte inflammatory state (311). More data concerning this is expected to emerge in the future, especially following the delineation of astrocyte heterogeneity in the reactive state (159). We present no definitive mechanistic answers, but we describe a genetic signature of the neurotoxic astrocytes with implications towards endoplasmic reticulum stress and altered MYC pathway regulation. Although this is but correlative in our data, we find interesting overlaps between genes in the leading edges of these gene sets and genes highlighted following TBI and traumatic axonal injury (189). Of note, even though these genes entail interesting translational avenues, the mouse and human astrocyte genome differ (314), why it will be beneficial to explore this further in hiPS cell systems. Yet, we show that the neuroinflammatory response that occurs in humans following TBI hold implications for how astrocytes fail to support neurons, possibly representing a novel cellular injury mechanism amenable to treatment.

# **6 CONCLUSIONS**

Across this thesis I have characterized BBB disruption and neuroinflammation, two cellular injury mechanisms contributing to severe TBI pathophysiology. I link them together using both clinical and experimental data. In addition, I focus particularly on the astrocyte, a key cell type involved in both these processes.

Across the papers within this thesis, I have found that:

- Paper IA severe TBI is ensued by a BBB injury that extends for at least a week among<br/>human subjects. BBB disruption is important as it influences how S100B, but<br/>not NSE, is cleared from the injured brain to blood.
- Paper IIBBB disruption following TBI is predictive of long-term prognosis in humans,<br/>possibly as BBB disruption is strongly associated with a neuroinflammatory<br/>response in the CSF, especially implicating complement proteins.
- **Paper III** Neuroinflammation, including complement, is associated with cytotoxic edema, and post-traumatic AQP4-retraction from the BBB following a rodent model of severe TBI, which we delineated by developing a multi-modal imaging system.
- **Paper IV** ES-astrocytes with a ventral brainstem identity may adopt a toxic phenotype for neurons when exposed to clinically relevant soluble inflammatory mediators.

Taken together, I demonstrate how BBB disruption is of clinical and prognostic importance and that BBB disruption is strongly associated with neuroinflammation. In the local lesion zone, astrocytes exhibit neuroinflammatory functions, of possible importance for both BBB disruption and local cell survival. My findings suggest that modulation of the neuroinflammatory response represents an important therapeutic avenue for future TBI studies, as it might concomitantly mitigate BBB disruption while also ameliorate otherwise deleterious neuroinflammatory processes in the local lesion vicinity.

# 7 FUTURE RESEARCH AVENUES

Much work remains before the findings presented above can be implemented into clinical practice. Below I highlight tentative approaches in order to steer treatment towards diminishing BBB disruption through neuroinflammatory modulation.

## 7.1 TBI MANAGEMENT WARRANTS TOOLS TO MONITOR BBB DISRUPTION AND NEUROINFLAMMATION

In order to treat BBB disruption and neuroinflammation, new monitoring tools are needed. We assessed BBB disruption through the albumin quotient  $Q_A$  across **paper I** and **paper II**, while we employed joint magnetic resonance imaging and protein expression in **paper III**. Shortcomings of  $Q_A$  has been highlighted above and within **paper I** and **II**. We therefore suggest that CSF-albumin alone could be used as a marker for BBB disruption (**paper I**). Importantly, CSF sampling is not readily available among patients without external ventricular drains, which could hamper its utilization. An alternative approach could be to assess BBB disruption radiologically, as has been suggested using dynamic enhanced contrast magnetic resonance imaging (315–318) and as we did in **paper III** experimentally. This also seems more reasonable than employing blood, as protein clearance from the CNS could be both dependent and independent of BBB disruption as we show in **paper I**. A key future priority should thus be to prospectively validate radiological protocols for BBB integrity. The optimal design for this experiment would be to recruit subjects with external ventricular drains, so that BBB damage could be assessed in relation to  $Q_A$ .

For neuroinflammation, it is ill-advised to argue against the use of CSF, since we in paper II demonstrated how neuroinflammatory proteins in CSF, but not blood, clustered to injury attributes. For neuroinflammatory assessments, access to CSF or other brain-derivative fluids therefore seems to be a priority. One approach to access brain extracellular fluid, without the need for an external ventricular drain, is to employ microdialysis. Microdialysis can be independently inserted, or as part of e.g. a triple lumen cranial access device, indicating that this might be a feasible avenue for a broader range of patients. Neuroinflammatory assessments through microdialysis was initiated ~20 years ago, first by measuring a handful of cytokines (319-321), and later expanded to broader cytokine screens (198,322). An important aspect of this is the microdialysis catheter probe size. Even though one study reports the usage of a 3000 kDa probe (319), the clinically most feasible is 100 kDa (198,322–324). Helmy and colleagues reported the cytokine recovery from the brain extracellular fluid to be inversely correlated with the molecular weight of the protein (322). In addition, the perfusion fluid used in the microdialysis catheter influences the cytokine recovery (322,325). Using microdialysis therefore seems a possible avenue for future neuroinflammatory assessments among TBI patients. Yet, as highlighted in paper II, the molecular size of e.g. many complement proteins exceed 100 kDa, therefore precluding

assessment of these in current set-ups. In addition, broader cytokine screens referenced above (198,322,324), were analyzed on a Luminex platform. In order to fully integrate these monitoring techniques into clinical routine, commercial assays need to be made more fully automated to better fit the hospital environment in terms of sampling volume and assay accuracy, or sampling on available platforms be done more readily. In order to undertake this work, neuroinflammatory mediators of interest need to be targeted. We provide strong associations between complement proteins in CSF and clinical outcome, that we also externally validate in **paper II**. We therefore suggest that nuanced neuroinflammatory monitoring should be a prioritized area within microdialysis research, in order to corroborate the findings done in CSF. Of particular interest is targeted complement monitoring, currently likely unfeasible using available microdialysis equipment.

#### 7.2 PATHOPHYSIOLOGY-GUIDED, INDIVIDUALIZED TREATMENT

Across this thesis, I provide data that indirectly supports neuroinflammatory modulation among TBI patients. Among the putative inflammatory targets that I highlight, some are already eligible to pursue in clinical interventional trials, whereas others currently are premature to study outside the experimental setting. Independent of treatment target, substantial humility should accompany all studies of neuroinflammatory modulation following severe TBI, given its complexity. This is highlighted across **paper II-IV**. **Paper II** depicts global inflammatory aspects in CSF and implicates complement in BBB disruption and long-term outcome. In contrast, **paper III** and **paper IV** portrays the local inflammatory response at the BBB interface and in a vulnerable CNS niche. Here, both microglia- and astrocyte-mediated inflammatory aspects were of importance.

Previous neuroinflammatory modulation attempts have been undertaken following severe TBI. Notably, Helmy and colleagues completed a phase II prospective randomized controlled trial using the human recombinant IL-1-receptor antagonist (81,324). The first study (324) assessed safety and feasibility, while verifying that the study drug could reach the brain, as assessed per microdialysis measurements of the IL-1 receptor antagonist. In subsequent work, the authors found that the study intervention shifted the CNS cytokine profile towards a "M1 microglial phenotype" (81). Some important aspects of clinical trials in TBI research can be deduced from this. Firstly, a study drug needs to reach the CNS. Secondly, inflammatory reactions within the CNS are inter-related, thus making it difficult to foresee all possible treatment downstream effects. Thirdly, the prognostic consequence of a neuroinflammatory modulator is difficult to predict based on neuroinflammatory alterations in the CNS milieu, why studies need to be powered for clinical outcome such as magnitude of BBB disruption, or extent of secondary injury, before assessments can be made. In this thesis and through previous work, the complement system seems to be one of the best targets for neuroinflammatory modulation. In fact, an up-coming multi-center randomized controlled
safety-trial evaluating complement inhibition has recently been described (326). Here, TBI patients are planned to be treated with a C1-inhibitor, utilizing a drug already approved for treatment of hereditary angioedema. The study drug will be given intravenously, which raises some questions regarding BBB passage. Further, the planned study intervention targets all complement pathways and some steps within the coagulation cascade (326). Speculatively, this approach might decrease the risk for false negative results due to too narrow drug targets. In the planned study, merely a single dose of C1-inhibitor will be administered (326). Although reasonable for a safety trial, an important future study question is whether continuous complement inhibition is required as indicated by experimental data (303).

The neuroinflammatory responses assessed in the local lesion vicinity in paper III and paper IV are interesting but warrant further experimental characterization. In paper III the neuroinflammatory response seems to be related to retraction of AQP4 from the BBB interface, speculatively indicating that incremented BBB disruption is mediated through an inflammatory process. This could be assessed through both exacerbation/alleviation of inflammation using our multi-modal imaging technique. If our findings can be externally validated, the study should be pursued by mechanistically oriented studies. A similar line of reasoning can be applied to **paper IV**. The notion that astrocytes can acquire a neurotoxic phenotype is new (132), and currently incompletely characterized. Although emerging data (162) suggest underlying mechanisms, much work remains. Global astrocytic ablation in vivo has proved detrimental in previous work (327,328), suggesting that astrocytic modulation rather than ablation is an eligible strategy. Other important questions that need to be addressed are if all astrocytes or merely astrocytes in the lesion vicinity should be targeted, and - perhaps most importantly - if there is a beneficial evolutionary consequence of neurotoxic astrocytes. Improved neuronal survival might hold deleterious side effects that currently are unforeseeable, such as an increased risk for epileptic seizures.

Taken together and allowing for speculation, the long-term possibilities of pathophysiologyguided treatment following severe TBI is vast. A tantalizing future scenario would be to be able to steer global neuroinflammatory responses ensuing TBI into a favorable state, while concomitantly treat local, lesion-specific attributes. This would open an avenue for at this stage still far-fetched notions of cell replacement therapy using e.g. hiPS cells. The feasibility, efficacy, and safety of such ideas must be robustly validated through experimental, observational, and eventual clinical studies. Yet, when Hippocrates wrote the first essay on TBI, the state of the TBI field today likely would have seemed highly astonishing. Or, as the astrocyte-legend Ben Barres quoted Nobel Laureate Richard Axel: *Before you know, you must imagine* (147).

## 8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many exquisite people made this thesis possible. I would like to extend my particular gratitude to:

All **patients** across paper I, II, and other studies not part of this thesis. Without you and your families' trust, this work could not have been undertaken.

Karolinska Institutet and the Department of Clinical Neuroscience, currently directed by Mats J Olsson, but at the time of my admission, Jan Hillert. Thank you for awakening my early research interest and accepting me as a doctoral student within your department under the excellent guidance of our former and current study directors Robert Harris and Ingrid Skelton Kockum.

### My supervisor team.

**Mikael Svensson**, you took me on as a student in the lab at a time when I was a bit of a wild card,,, Thank you for giving me that first chance. Ever since, you have been an anchor throughout my PhD studies. You dream big in science, and you inspire me to do so as well. Thank you for always encouraging me to pursue my own ideas, and to seek the answer to the important (neuro)scientific questions, all of which made me dare to embark on my own scientific journey. When I came to the lab it was because of a curiosity and an eagerness to learn experimental techniques that still retained a clear clinical and translational applicability. These years in your lab have been a dream-start and foundation for the rest of my professional life.

**Eric Thelin**, from the minute that you became my co-supervisor you believed in me, long before I believed in myself. In a very uncomplicated fashion, you decided that I had a distinguished skillset or else, that I had the capacity to obtain it. Your trust, support, inclusivity, and infinite amount of time spent on me culminated in me learning I think almost everything that you had foreseen. In parallel to this, you have generated and produced vast amounts of excellent research that is matched in quality and quantity by few. I am so happy that we met. You are my role model.

**Sebastian Thams,** who sat by my side and taught me practical lab-work when I barely knew what a pipette was. In the early days, we spent weekends, evenings, and long days at the lab. Through patience, and stories/gossip covering the history of neuroscience and the key

discoveries, you walked me through the process of Hynek's protocol for stem-cell culture. Following that, you have spent long hours looking at my astrocytes. It was also you who provided me with a quality-standard for how scientific presentations should be done, something that I have profited on almost every day since. You are an amazing teacher, and you have forced me to become a more knowledgeable aspiring researcher.

**Per Mattsson**, the academic surgeon who leads by example. You are an un-stoppable optimist and force of nature. I am not surprised that you have now tamed time and learned how to make more out of 24 hours per day than everyone else. You taught me to trust my data, get it published, and start a new project.

#### Researchers that I was lucky to stumble upon.

**Bo-Michael "Bomme" Bellander** - you stormed in one day in Rolf Luft at Karolinska and held the TBI lecture that would change my life. When I approached you in the break you fired off the classic "let's have a lunch and discuss this further", which later became my very first scientific article. You are the founder of the vivid TBI research environment seen at Karolinska today and you are the reason that I also became enticed by TBI.

**David Nelson**, who told me to learn R, and then when I had, told me to learn Python. You introduced me to the world of statistical programming. Of all methodological skills that I have obtained throughout these years, these are the most versatile. Thank you for encouraging me to explore and develop this.

**Lou Brundin**, who have managed to combine intense and important research with a passion for the clinic. Throughout all my years at the lab, but particularly for paper IV, you have encouraged me, while providing important scientific input.

**Maria Cristina Morganti-Kossmann** – your important work on neuroinflammation and complement in TBI has guided my journey through the intricacies of post-traumatic acute neuroinflammation. Thank you for scientific input and meticulous involvement in my work.

My amazing co-authors across papers within this thesis. In paper I, Frederick A ("Fred") Zeiler, taught me to conduct the ARMA modelling. Ari Ercole supported my longitudinal data modelling and has endowed me with inspirational talks and spiritual

conversations at conferences across the globe. Thanks also to Per Hamid Ghatan, Mårten Risling, and Denes V Agoston, who enabled paper I through fundamental work preceding my involvement in the project, and Henrik von Horn, who provided important methodological advice and input on everything that the Karolinska University Laboratory had undertaken. In paper II – thank you to the whole awesome SciLife gang from the Peter Nilsson Lab!! David Just and Elisa Pin undertook the proteomic assessments and introduced me to the world of computational approaches to proteomic data. Peter Nilsson guided me and supported my vision to make the most out of this world-unique data. Faiez Al Nimer knows everything about the biobank and provided me with both data and advice across all steps of the project. Finally, thanks to Fredrik Piehl, who entrusted me to materialize this enormous research effort into a paper. In paper III, Anna Falk-Delgado and Peter Damberg taught me the radiological and MRI aspects of interpreting the edema regions. Nicholas Mitsios and Jan Mulder supported and enabled the whole-brain immunohistochemistry. In paper IV, Sólrún Kolbeinsdóttir spent hours with me patiently describing and instructing me on RNA sequencing using the Smart-Seq2 platform. Thanks also to Vasilios Zachariadis for design advice on the experiment, and Martin Enge for enabling this collaboration.

**My lab members throughout these years. Susanne Neumann** – you have been my companion and helped me out no matter the hour, no matter the reason! You attack every emerging lab disaster with a laugh and then everything seems to work out and solve itself in your company. You are one of the most generous people I have met, in science and in life. Thank you for everything. Jacob Kjell and Yongtao Xue-Franzén – you complete each other and while Jacob urges me to seek the truth in all research questions at an even deeper level than is sometimes possible, Yongtao encourages me and approaches science with pure joy. Let's go to Vingåker soon! Alexander Fletcher-Sandersjöö; I have really enjoyed our work on the Erling-Persson project. Midnight mouse controlled cortical impact surgery is best done in your company. The clinical branch of the lab – Ann-Christin "Anki" von Vogelsang, Peter Alpkvist, Ellen Iacobaeus, Dagur Ingi Jónsson, and Olivia Kiwanuka. Thanks for widening my scientific horizon and for excellent discussions. All present and past CMMites – thank you Ruxandra Covacu, Sreenivasa Sankavaram, Cynthia Perez Estrada, and Maria Bergsland for important feedback during presentations, and for improving my molecular biology knowledge.

All former lab members that I had the honor to meet before they pursued different endeavours. Marcus Ohlsson provides me with marvellous glimpses from the life of a globetrotter – whether it be Paris, California, New York, or Stockholm – I envy your research adventures and your *joie de vivre*. Markus "Mackan" Karlsson – cell culture buddy, the best host of Japanse dinners in Stockholm, and friend in the office landscape; Jonathan Nordblom who provided me with many well put life-advice; Pendar Khalili who was my

friend and supporter when I was new in the lab and who instructed me on my very first experimental effort (mix PBS...); **Nasren Jaff** for many laughs; **Pernilla Klyve Busa** who always supported and saw me; and **Paula Mannström** who made my transition into the lab smooth by introducing me to everything and always helped me out – even when you were sailing to Scotland.

To students whom I have had the honor to work closely with. Emma Hammarlund, thank you for allowing me to develop my leadership skills together with you, while introducing me to the world of microdialysis. I look forward to learning much more from you in the upcoming future! Philipp Lassarén and Jonathan Tjerkaski, who inspire me to explore machine learning and also to get really serious about the regexp crossword. Susanna Friberg, who shows a devotion to the long-term sequelae of TBI patients, a lesser-known aspect of TBI that I think will be clarified onwards through your efforts.

My half-time committee: Eva Hedlund, Elham Rostami, and Mattias Günther. Thank you for taking the time to read my work, and provide me with constructive criticism, which helped me when I was mid-way but far from finished. You forced me to take a new look at my data and fill voids that I had not myself realized present.

My mentor Maria Herthelius. You supported my vision to move into research following my med-school graduation. Long before all of this, I had spent so many evenings at your marvellous kitchen table, and I think that both you and your husband, my unofficial mentor Karl-Johan Lidefelt, inspired me to pursue medicine. Throughout my years at the lab, Lisa Arvidsson has been an important role model and my unofficial mentor. Thank you for pushing me to embrace surgery while not letting go of research!

**Coauthors in other projects not part of this thesis. Michael Nekludov** – who collaborated with me on my first scientific article and who paved the way for platelet function assessments in the neurocritical care unit at Karolinska. **Jiri Bartek Jr**, who is enthusiastic and inclusive no matter the day or time. Thank you for organizing awesome events in Stockholm (and for inviting me!!). **Adrian Elmi Terander**, who helped me a lot during my clinical rotation at the Neurosurgical Department preceding my Forskar-AT. You inspire me to utility-maximization. **Lars Mikael Broman**, who invited me to participate in the joint ECMO work that we undertook. Thank you for always listening to my viewpoint, and for teaching me about the world of ECMO. **The Cambridge people in the Neurochemistry Research Group.** Thank you for inviting me to spend a week in your lab and see a small fragment of all the ground-breaking research that you conduct. Thank you **Peter Hutchinson**, and **Adel** 

Helmy for including me in one of your microdialysis projects, Keri Carpenter for taking care of me while in the lab, and Susan Giorgi-Coll and Monica J Killen for taking me to my very first "formal"! The Helsinki Collaborators Rahul Raj and Matias Lindfors. Thank you for introducing me to the world of research concerning penetrating TBI and for excellent company at conferences. My current collaborators Katrine Dahl Bjørnholm and Cecilia Åkerlund. You inspire me with your diverse skill sets, grand ideas, and enthusiasm! Let us work more onwards!!

Everyone who helped me across the Karolinska Institutet and the Karolinska University Hospital. The full neurocritical care staff, and notably, Gunilla "Nilla" Malmborg Bornhall for her work with the Karolinska TBI Database. All people at the animal facility, and of course Ann-Mari "Mirre" Mikkola, who always helped me out - day, night, and weekend. At CMM, Annika van Vollenhoven who knows more about flow cytometry than anyone else. Thank you for mending the flow cytometer when it did not calibrate and for helping me out on a Saturday when I had forgotten to ask you for a Sony chip in advance. Mohsen Khademi, who was instrumental in making it possible for me to work at CMM 24/7 in addition to the BioClinicum lab... All administrative staff at the Karolinska Institutet and the Karolinska University Hospital. Helena Martinelle, the most positive person at the Karolinska University Hospital. Thank you for always making everything work out and for making my dissertation possible by navigating the room booking system. Thanks also to Mainy Kisangi, Peter Rydén, Sandra Hoväng, and Nils-Johan Lindborg. At the Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Vendela Breeze helped me out by affiliating a pivotal person to KI on a holiday. Alexandre Beckman and Kseniya Hartvigsson have known everything worth knowing about the doctoral student education. And Gullan Rydén thank you for always keeping perfect track of all my research money!

**People at my various clinical rotations in between and during these PhD studies.** During my first clinical endeavour in **Värnamo Sjukhus** I was put in the marvellous position of being in the OR for almost 4 weeks straight. Thanks to the **Department of General Surgery** for giving me such a privileged opportunity. At **Lindesbergs lasarett** the subsequent summer, **Paula Wallmon** became a surgeon role model. At the **Department of Neurosurgery** at Karolinska, **Jenny Pettersson Segerlind** gave me an early opportunity to meet the patient groups that I had conducted research on. During my **Forskar-AT**, I found myself at **Capio S:t Görans sjukhus**, where I again faced excellent role models in surgery – thank you so much **Cecilia Billkvist, Fariba Kamran**, and **Frida Ledel**. Moving on to my internal-medicine rotation I of course met **Jan Mathé** in the **Department of Neurology** – thank you for being such an optimist and for thoughtful comments on life generally and my half-time report specifically.

My teachers in school that inspired me to make the most of myself. Nothing compares to a fabulous teacher, and you shaped my journey. Thank you Eva Modig, and Gunvor Johansson Hajdu at Saltsjöbadens Samskola. Thank you Robin Smith and Ellenor Öström at Viktor Rydberg Gymnasium Odenplan.

All my distinguished, talented, and wonderful friends. My child-hood friends "The Fantastic Four" – Lovisa "Ojlinne" Olin, Åse Ellman, and Lovisa Vildö. Thanks for always being there for me, in tears, laughter and controversial "Vildö's sailing boat is on a ground"situations. From Sjövärnskåren Caroline Söderberg, Maria Oddbjörn Finnerman, and David Forslund. Maria – I am so glad that we met and that you agreed to join me in Sjövärnskåren! I relied on you after ten very awful minutes in a tent "i fält" and I still do. Caroline - thanks for being my best Sjövärnskåren-Charlie in the archipelago and the best party hostess in-town. David - thanks for being my best-read friend on all social science matters. From Viktor Rydberg, Emelie Krantz and Jenny Barck, who accompanied me on the quite existential journey that it means to become an adult. Thanks also to **Klara Schaar**, Denise Sandquist, and Adam Larsson, who provided me with numerous laughs along the way. Entering Karolinska, I met Johanna Friberg, Emil "Papadog" Röckner Hedlund, and Henrik Dagerskog. We had some quite fabulous and intense years. Although some of the parties we attended hosted Nobel laureates, your company was always the best. Gabriella "Dr dr Smeden" Smedfors - min fantastiska väninna who is bound for greatness. I do not know how you do it, but well-before anyone else you understand what the future will bring and then you pursue it. Thank you for your impeccable taste, and for allowing me to see the future through your grand ideas. Also thanks to Elin Roos, inspirational clinician-researcherglobetrotter, and Ylva Kaiser, the latter for fun days at Medicor. From the days in Paris -Lea Lund Sjögren for making me braver than I am and for bringing me along the world may it be Greenland, Copenhagen, or Nice. I have missed you so much during the pandemic. Other people made Paris unforgettable - notably Tuan-Huy "Thiou" Tran, who made the best french food I have ever tasted, and Benoit Le Pape, my artistic friend who dreams bigger than most of us. From my AT - Susanna Bouvier, Christine Takami Lageborn, Lisa Hellerström, and all other hilarious people in both of my AT groups. Not all days were bright and sunny at St Göran but you always made it worth the while. Lab mates from floor 5 at BioClinicum and other KI lab groups - Ioannis, Maria, Shervin, Alonso, Ellen, Marcus, Arvin, Jonathan, Jik, Embla, and Rika – thank you for helping me out, for excellent chats and for broadening my scientific horizon. All awesome people that I have met across marvellous dinners at Västmannagatan or Torsten Alms gata - Christian Glaumann, Per Engzell, Gustaf Hellspong, and Ola Wong. Ola, thanks for making me publish my first nonscientific text in *Kvartal*. I hope to pursue this branch of my writing onwards. And Sophie Ankarcrona Thelin – thank you for welcoming me into your home throughout all these years, for letting me get to know your lovely children, and for providing me with a distinguished analysis of important future political avenues for Sweden.

My extended family. Tack Florian, Arthur, Nadi, Daan, Celia och Aron för att ni har introducerat mig till era roliga föräldrar, far-/morföräldrar, bonusditton, och farbröder så att jag har kunnat lära känna dem ordentligt. Tack till alla mina fastrar, farbröder och min moster. Tack för att ni har gett mig underbara kusiner och en enastående uppväxt. Tack till Irina, Artem och Erik för fina friluftsögonblick. Tack fantastiska Folke och Ines för att ni har välkomnat mig in i er underbara tillvaro på ett storslaget sätt.

Farmor Gunilla Alsén-Lindblad och farfar Per-Olof Lindblad. Tack för en magisk uppväxt på Observatoriet och för att ni uppmuntrar mina vetenskapliga och litterära intressen sida vid sida. Morfar Sture Gustafsson, som var den mest uppfinningsrika person jag träffat. Tack för att du ägnade din livstid åt din familj. Jag saknar dig. Mormor Ingrid Gustafsson. Jag tillägnar min avhandling till dig för att du var den modigaste kvinnan jag träffat. Du vågade följa dina drömmar och du trodde alltid på mig när jag berättade om mina. Du rycktes bort från oss alldeles för tidigt och jag saknar dig så.

Tack **mamma Agneta** och **pappa Hans**. Tack för underbara sagor under Plommonträdet, tack för lekar mellan raukar, tack för läxläsning, tack för resor och tack för att ni alltid uppmanat mig att vara sann mot mig själv. *Att vilja är att kunna*, men det blir oändligt mycket lättare om man har er vid sin sida.

Tack underbara **Arvid**. Den mest ovetenskapliga utsagan i historien var kanske Platons när han beskrev att man i någon dimension före sin existens befinner sig rygg-mot-rygg med sin livskamrat, att man skiljs åt när man kommer till världen och att man därefter ägnar sitt liv åt att försöka hitta varandra igen. Jag har letat färdigt. Jag älskar dig.

Tack **Madeleine**. Den finaste och viktigaste händelsen under hela min uppväxt var att bli storasyster till dig. Vi har därefter delat alla livets viktigaste, och svåraste ögonblick. Du är den bästa och mest fantastiska lillasyster jag kunnat drömma om. Tack för att du alltid alltid alltid villkorslöst finns där.

### 9 FUNDING STATEMENT

This PhD thesis was funded, in part, by the Karolinska Institutet Funds The Clinical Scientist Training Program (former MD/PhD program) and Research Internship ("Forskar-AT"), awarded in competition to Caroline Lindblad (the PhD Student).

Additional funders specific to the included papers in this thesis entailed:

Paper I: The Swedish Society for Medical Research, the Swedish Armed Forces Research and Development Fund, and Stockholm County ALF. Frederick A Zeiler received funding from the University of Manitoba Vice-President Research and International Research Investment Fund, the University of Manitoba Rudy Falk Clinician-Scientist Professorship, the Health Sciences Centre Foundation in Winnipeg, the University of Manitoba Centre on Aging Fellowship, the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (432061), and the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (RO3NS114335).

Paper II: The Swedish Society for Medical Research, the Swedish Brain Foundation, and Stockholm County ALF.

Paper III: StratNeuro (Karolinska Institutet), The Erling-Persson Family Foundation, Region Stockholm, The Swedish Brain Foundation, SENSUS Region Mellansverige, and The Swedish Armed Forces.

Paper IV: StratNeuro (Karolinska Institutet), The Erling-Persson Family Foundation, Region Stockholm, The Swedish Brain Foundation. The Enge laboratory is supported by SFO StratRegen, the Swedish Cancer Society, The Swedish Childhood Cancer Fund, Radiumhemmets forskningsfonder, The Swedish Research Council, and Cancer Research KI.

The funders did not participate in study conceptualization, data acquisition, data analysis/interpretation, manuscript compilation, or submission decision.

# **10 REFERENCES**

- 1. Fåraeus R. Läkekonstens historia. Stockholm: Albert Bonniers Förlag; 1944.
- 2. Panourias IG, Skiadas PK, Sakas DE, Marketos SG. Hippocrates: A pioneer in the treatment of head injuries. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(1):181–8.
- 3. Menon DK, Schwab K, Wright DW, Maas AI. Position statement: Definition of traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2010;91(11):1637–40.
- 4. Teasdale G, Jennett B. Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. Lancet (London, England). 1974 Jul;2(7872):81–4.
- 5. James SL, Theadom A, Ellenbogen RG, Bannick MS, Montjoy-Venning W, Lucchesi LR, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of traumatic brain injury and spinal cord injury, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol. 2019;18(1):56–87.
- 6. Maas AIR, Hukkelhoven CWPM, Marshall LF, Steyerberg EW. Prediction of outcome in traumatic brain injury with computed tomographic characteristics: A comparison between the computed tomographic classification and combinations of computed tomographic predictors. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(6):1173–81.
- 7. Copes WS, Champion HR, Sacco WJ, Lawnick MM, Keast SL, Bain LW. The Injury Severity Score revisited. J Trauma. 1988 Jan;28(1):69–77.
- 8. Baker SP, O'Neill B, Haddon W, Long WB. The injury severity score: a method for describing patients with multiple injuries and evaluating emergency care. J Trauma. 1974 Mar;14(3):187–96.
- 9. Maas AIR, Menon DK, Adelson PD, Andelic N, Bell MJ, Belli A, et al. Traumatic brain injury: integrated approaches to improve prevention, clinical care, and research. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(12):987–1048.
- 10. Roozenbeek B, Maas AIR, Menon DK. Changing patterns in the epidemiology of traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurol. 2013 Apr 26;9(4):231–6.
- Hyder AA, Wunderlich CA, Puvanachandra P, Gururaj G, Kobusingye OC. The impact of traumatic brain injuries: A global perspective. NeuroRehabilitation. 2007;22(5):341–53.
- 12. Stocchetti N, Carbonara M, Citerio G, Ercole A, Skrifvars MB, Smielewski P, et al. Severe traumatic brain injury: targeted management in the intensive care unit. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(6):452–64.
- Majdan M, Plancikova D, Brazinova A, Rusnak M, Nieboer D, Feigin V, et al. Epidemiology of traumatic brain injuries in Europe: a cross-sectional analysis. Lancet Public Heal. 2016 Dec 1;1(2):e76–83.
- 14. Jennett B. Epidemiology of head injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1996/04/01. 1996;60(4):362–9.
- 15. Stein SC, Georgoff P, Meghan S, Mizra K, Sonnad SS. 150 years of treating severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic review of progress in mortality. J Neurotrauma.

2010/04/16. 2010;27(7):1343-53.

- Majdan M, Plancikova D, Maas A, Polinder S, Feigin V, Theadom A, et al. Years of life lost due to traumatic brain injury in Europe: A cross-sectional analysis of 16 countries. Schreiber M, editor. PLOS Med. 2017 Jul 11;14(7):e1002331.
- Nelson LD, Ranson J, Ferguson AR, Giacino J, Okonkwo DO, Valadka AB, et al. Validating Multi-Dimensional Outcome Assessment Using the Traumatic Brain Injury Common Data Elements: An Analysis of the TRACK-TBI Pilot Study Sample. J Neurotrauma. 2017 Nov 15;34(22):3158–72.
- Jennett B, Bond M. ASSESSMENT OF OUTCOME AFTER SEVERE BRAIN DAMAGE. A Practical Scale. Lancet. 1975;305(7905):480–4.
- 19. Jennett B, Snoek J, Bond MR, Brooks N. Disability after severe head injury: Observations on the use of the Glasgow Outcome Scale. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1981;44(4):285–93.
- McMillan T, Wilson L, Ponsford J, Levin H, Teasdale G, Bond M. The Glasgow Outcome Scale-40 years of application and refinement. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12(8):477–85.
- Yamal J-M, Hannay HJ, Gopinath S, Aisiku IP, Benoit JS, Robertson CS. Glasgow Outcome Scale Measures and Impact on Analysis and Results of a Randomized Clinical Trial of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. J Neurotrauma. 2019 Sep 1;36(17):2484–92.
- 22. Alali AS, Vavrek D, Barber J, Dikmen S, Nathens AB, Temkin NR. Comparative Study of Outcome Measures and Analysis Methods for Traumatic Brain Injury Trials. J Neurotrauma. 2015 Apr 15;32(8):581–9.
- Marmarou A, Lu J, Butcher I, McHugh GS, Mushkudiani NA, Murray GD, et al. IMPACT Database of Traumatic Brain Injury: Design And Description. J Neurotrauma. 2007 Feb;24(2):239–50.
- 24. Murray GD, Butcher I, McHugh GS, Lu J, Mushkudiani NA, Maas AI, et al. Multivariable prognostic analysis in traumatic brain injury: results from the IMPACT study. J Neurotrauma. 2007/03/23. 2007;24(2):329–37.
- 25. Lingsma HF, Roozenbeek B, Steyerberg EW, Murray GD, Maas AI. Early prognosis in traumatic brain injury: from prophecies to predictions. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(5):543–54.
- 26. Wilson L, von Steinbuechel N, Menon DK, Maas AIR. Outcome assessment after traumatic brain injury Authors' reply. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17(4):299–300.
- 27. Clark A, Mesfin FB. Trauma Neurological Exam. StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing; 2018.
- 28. Mckee AC, Daneshvar DH. The neuropathology of traumatic brain injury. 1st ed. Vol. 127, Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Elsevier B.V.; 2015. 45–66 p.
- 29. Bullock MR, Chesnut R, Ghajar J, Gordon D, Hartl R, Newell DW, et al. Introduction. Neurosurgery. 2006 Mar 1;58(Supplement):S2-1-S2-3.
- 30. Mendelow AD, Gregson BA, Rowan EN, Francis R, McColl E, McNamee P, et al.

Early Surgery versus Initial Conservative Treatment in Patients with Traumatic Intracerebral Hemorrhage (STITCH[Trauma]): The First Randomized Trial. J Neurotrauma. 2015;32(17):1312–23.

- 31. Andriessen TMJC, Jacobs B, Vos PE. Clinical characteristics and pathophysiological mechanisms of focal and diffuse traumatic brain injury. J Cell Mol Med. 2010 Oct 1;14(10):2381–92.
- 32. Hill CS, Coleman MP, Menon DK. Traumatic Axonal Injury: Mechanisms and Translational Opportunities. Trends Neurosci. 2016 May;39(5):311–24.
- 33. Bullock MR, Chesnut R, Ghajar J, Gordon D, Hartl R, Newell DW, et al. Surgical management of traumatic parenchymal lesions. Neurosurgery. 2006;58(SUPPL. 3).
- 34. Bullock MR, Chesnut R, Ghajar J, Gordon D, Hartl R, Newell DW, et al. Surgical management of acute subdural hematomas. Neurosurgery. 2006;58(SUPPL. 3).
- Bullock MR, Chesnut R, Ghajar J, Gordon D, Hartl R, Newell DW, et al. Surgical Management of Acute Epidural Hematomas. Neurosurgery. 2006 Mar 1;58(suppl\_3):S2-7-S2-15.
- Adams JH, Doyle D, Ford I, Gennarelli TA, Graham DI, Mclellan DR. Diffuse axonal injury in head injury: Definition, diagnosis and grading. Histopathology. 1989 Jul;15(1):49–59.
- 37. Skandsen T, Kvistad KA, Solheim O, Strand IH, Folvik M, Anne V. Prevalence and impact of diffuse axonal injury in patients with moderate and severe head injury: A cohort study of early magnetic resonance imaging findings and 1-year outcome: Clinical article. J Neurosurg. 2010;113(3):556–63.
- Abu Hamdeh S, Marklund N, Lannsjö M, Howells T, Raininko R, Wikström J, et al. Extended Anatomical Grading in Diffuse Axonal Injury Using MRI: Hemorrhagic Lesions in the Substantia Nigra and Mesencephalic Tegmentum Indicate Poor Long-Term Outcome. J Neurotrauma. 2017;34(2):341–52.
- 39. Tjerkaski J, Nyström H, Raj R, Lindblad C, Bellander B-M, Nelson DW, et al. Extended analysis of axonal injuries detected using magnetic resonance imaging in critically ill traumatic brain injury patients. J Neurotrauma. 2021;1–28.
- 40. Marshall LF, Marshall SB, Klauber MR, Van Berkum Clark M, Eisenberg HM, Jane JA, et al. A new classification of head injury based on computerized tomography. J Neurosurg. 1991;75(SUPPL.).
- Paterakis K, Karantanas AH, Komnos A, Volikas Z. Outcome of patients with diffuse axonal injury: The significance and prognostic value of MRI in the acute phase. J Trauma - Inj Infect Crit Care. 2000;49(6):1071–5.
- 42. Raj R, Siironen J, Skrifvars MB, Hernesniemi J, Kivisaari R. Predicting outcome in traumatic brain injury: Development of a novel computerized tomography classification system (Helsinki Computerized Tomography Score). Neurosurgery. 2014;75(6):632–46.
- 43. Nelson DW, Nystrom H, MacCallum RM, Thornquist B, Lilja A, Bellander BM, et al. Extended analysis of early computed tomography scans of traumatic brain injured patients and relations to outcome. J Neurotrauma. 2009/08/25. 2010;27(1):51–64.

- 44. Jacobs B, Beems T, Van Der Vliet TM, Van Vugt AB, Hoedemaekers C, Horn J, et al. Outcome prediction in moderate and severe traumatic brain injury: A focus on computed tomography variables. Neurocrit Care. 2013;19(1):79–89.
- 45. Thelin EP, Nelson DW, Vehviläinen J, Nyström H, Kivisaari R, Siironen J, et al. Evaluation of novel computerized tomography scoring systems in human traumatic brain injury: An observational, multicenter study. PLoS Med. 2017;14(8):1–19.
- Lindfors M, Lindblad C, Nelson DW, Bellander B-M, Siironen J, Raj R, et al. Prognostic performance of computerized tomography scoring systems in civilian penetrating traumatic brain injury: an observational study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2019 Dec;161(12):2467–78.
- 47. Donnelly J, Budohoski KP, Smielewski P, Czosnyka M. Regulation of the cerebral circulation: Bedside assessment and clinical implications. Crit Care. 2016;20(1):1–17.
- 48. Hawthorne C, Piper I. Monitoring of Intracranial Pressure in Patients with Traumatic Brain Injury. Front Neurol. 2014 Jul 16;5.
- 49. Jones PA, Andrews PJ, Midgley S, Anderson SI, Piper IR, Tocher JL, et al. Measuring the burden of secondary insults in head-injured patients during intensive care. J Neurosurg Anesth. 1994/01/01. 1994;6(1):4–14.
- 50. Greenberg MS. Handbook of Neurosurgery. Eigth edit. Hiscock T, Landis SE, Scheihagen T, editors. New York: Thieme; 2016.
- 51. Mokri B. The Monro-Kellie hypothesis: Applications in CSF volume depletion. Neurology. 2001;56(12):1746–8.
- 52. LASSEN NA. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in man. Physiol Rev. 1959 Apr;39(2):183–238.
- 53. Segal SS. Special Circulations. In: Boron WF, Boulpaep EL, editors. Medical Physiology: A Cellular and Molecular Approach. Second edi. Philadelphia: Saunders, an imprint of Elsevier Inc.; 2009.
- Liu X, Czosnyka M, Donnelly J, Budohoski KP, Varsos G V, Nasr N, et al. Comparison of Frequency and Time Domain Methods of Assessment of Cerebral Autoregulation in Traumatic Brain Injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2015 Feb 19;35(2):248–56.
- 55. Mendelow AD, Karmi MZ, Paul KS, Fuller GAG, Gillingham FJ. Extradural haematoma: Effect of delayed treatment. Br Med J. 1979 May 12;1(6173):1240–2.
- 56. Seelig JM, Becker DP, Miller JD, Greenberg RP, Ward JD, Choi SC. Traumatic acute subdural hematoma: major mortality reduction in comatose patients treated within four hours. N Engl J Med. 1981 Jun;304(25):1511–8.
- 57. Cooper DJ, Rosenfeld J V., Murray L, Arabi YM, Davies AR, D'Urso P, et al. Decompressive Craniectomy in Diffuse Traumatic Brain Injury. N Engl J Med. 2011 Apr 21;364(16):1493–502.
- Hutchinson PJ, Kolias AG, Timofeev IS, Corteen EA, Czosnyka M, Timothy J, et al. Trial of Decompressive Craniectomy for Traumatic Intracranial Hypertension. N Engl J Med. 2016 Sep;375(12):1119–30.

- 59. Carney N, Totten AM, O'Reilly C, Ullman JS, Hawryluk GWJ, Bell MJ, et al. Guidelines for the Management of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury, Fourth Edition. Neurosurgery. 2017;80(1):6–15.
- 60. Okonkwo DO, Shutter LA, Moore C, Temkin NR, Puccio AM, Madden CJ, et al. Brain oxygen optimization in severe traumatic brain injury phase-II: A phase II randomized trial. Crit Care Med. 2017;45(11):1907–14.
- 61. Persson L, Hillered L. Chemical monitoring of neurosurgical intensive care patients using intracerebral microdialysis. J Neurosurg. 1992;76(1):72–80.
- 62. Thelin EP, Tajsic T, Zeiler FA, Menon DK, Hutchinson PJA, Carpenter KLH, et al. Monitoring the neuroinflammatory response following acute brain injury. Front Neurol. 2017;8(JUL):1–14.
- 63. Thelin EP, Zeiler FA, Ercole A, Mondello S, Buki A, Bellander BM, et al. Serial Sampling of Serum Protein Biomarkers for Monitoring Human Traumatic Brain Injury Dynamics: A Systematic Review. Front Neurol. 2017/07/19. 2017;8:300.
- 64. Marmarou A. Pathophysiology of traumatic brain edema: Current concepts. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2003;86(86):7–10.
- Chesnut RM, Temkin N, Carney N, Dikmen S, Rondina C, Videtta W, et al. A Trial of Intracranial-Pressure Monitoring in Traumatic Brain Injury. N Engl J Med. 2012 Dec 27;367(26):2471–81.
- 66. Forsyth RJ, Raper J, Todhunter E. Routine intracranial pressure monitoring in acute coma. Cochrane database Syst Rev. 2015 Nov;(11):CD002043.
- 67. Rangel-Castilla L, Gasco J, Nauta HJW, Okonkwo DO, Robertson CS. Cerebral pressure autoregulation in traumatic brain injury. Neurosurg Focus. 2008;25(4):1–8.
- 68. Steiner LA, Czosnyka M, Piechnik SK, Smielewski P, Chatfield D, Menon DK, et al. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular pressure reactivity allows determination of optimal cerebral perfusion pressure in patients with traumatic brain injury. Crit Care Med. 2002 Apr;30(4):733–8.
- 69. Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Kirkpatrick P, Laing RJ, Menon D, Pickard JD. Continuous assessment of the cerebral vasomotor reactivity in head injury. Neurosurgery. 1997;41(1):11–9.
- 70. Tas J, Beqiri E, Van Kaam RC, Czosnyka M, Donnelly J, Haeren RH, et al. Targeting Autoregulation-Guided Cerebral Perfusion Pressure after Traumatic Brain Injury (COGiTATE): A Feasibility Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. J Neurotrauma. 2021;38(20):2790–800.
- 71. Howells T, Elf K, Jones PA, Ronne-Engström E, Piper I, Nilsson P, et al. Pressure reactivity as a guide in the treatment of cerebral perfusion pressure in patients with brain trauma. J Neurosurg. 2005;102(2):311–7.
- 72. Thelin EP, Nelson DW, Bellander BM. A review of the clinical utility of serum S100B protein levels in the assessment of traumatic brain injury. Acta Neurochir. 2016/12/14. 2017;159(2):209–25.
- 73. Unden J, Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B, Scandinavian Neurotrauma C. Scandinavian guidelines for initial management of minimal, mild and moderate head injuries in

adults: an evidence and consensus-based update. BMC Med. 2013/02/26. 2013;11:50.

- 74. Thelin EP, Nelson DW, Bellander BM. Secondary peaks of S100B in serum relate to subsequent radiological pathology in traumatic brain injury. Neurocrit Care. 2013/10/23. 2014;20(2):217–29.
- 75. Thelin EP, Al Nimer F, Frostell A, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Nystrom H, et al. A serum protein biomarker panel improves outcome prediction in human traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2019/05/11. 2019;
- 76. Thelin EP, Johannesson L, Nelson D, Bellander BM. S100B is an important outcome predictor in traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2013/01/10. 2013;30(7):519–28.
- 77. Thelin EP, Jeppsson E, Frostell A, Svensson M, Mondello S, Bellander BM, et al. Utility of neuron-specific enolase in traumatic brain injury; relations to S100B levels, outcome, and extracranial injury severity. Crit Care. 2016/09/09. 2016;20:285.
- 78. Woodcock T, Morganti-Kossmann MC. The role of markers of inflammation in traumatic brain injury. Front Neurol. 2013;4 MAR(March):1–18.
- 79. Helmy A, Antoniades CA, Guilfoyle MR, Carpenter KLH, Hutchinson PJ. Principal component analysis of the Cytokine and Chemokine response to human traumatic brain injury. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):1–14.
- 80. Kumar RG, Rubin JE, Berger RP, Kochanek PM, Wagner AK. Principal components derived from CSF inflammatory profiles predict outcome in survivors after severe traumatic brain injury. Brain Behav Immun. 2016;53:183–93.
- Helmy A, Guilfoyle MR, Carpenter KLH, Pickard JD, Menon DK, Hutchinson PJ. Recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist promotes M1 microglia biased cytokines and chemokines following human traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2016;36(8):1434–48.
- 82. Werner C, Engelhard K. Pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99(1):4–9.
- 83. Kumar A, Loane DJ. Neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury: Opportunities for therapeutic intervention. Brain Behav Immun. 2012;26(8):1191–201.
- 84. Hammad A, Westacott L, Zaben M. The role of the complement system in traumatic brain injury: A review. J Neuroinflammation. 2018;15(1):1–15.
- 85. Jassam YN, Izzy S, Whalen M, McGavern DB, El Khoury J. Neuroimmunology of Traumatic Brain Injury: Time for a Paradigm Shift. Neuron. 2017;95(6):1246–65.
- 86. Park E, Bell JD, Baker AJ. Traumatic brain injury: Can the consequences be stopped? Can Med Assoc J. 2008 Apr 22;178(9):1163–70.
- 87. Liddelow SA. Fluids and barriers of the CNS: a historical viewpoint. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2011/02/26. 2011;8(1):2.
- 88. Abbott NJ, Rönnbäck L, Hansson E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the bloodbrain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2006;7(1):41–53.
- 89. Iliff JJ, Wang M, Liao Y, Plogg BA, Peng W, Gundersen GA, et al. A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid beta. Sci Transl Med. 2012/08/17.

2012;4(147):147ra111.

- 90. Ringstad G, Vatnehol SAS, Eide PK. Glymphatic MRI in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. Brain. 2017/10/04. 2017;140(10):2691–705.
- 91. Eide PK, Vatnehol SAS, Emblem KE, Ringstad G. Magnetic resonance imaging provides evidence of glymphatic drainage from human brain to cervical lymph nodes. Sci Rep. 2018/05/10. 2018;8(1):7194.
- 92. Engelhardt B, Sorokin L. The blood-brain and the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers: Function and dysfunction. Semin Immunopathol. 2009;31(4):497–511.
- 93. Banks WA, Erickson MA. The blood-brain barrier and immune function and dysfunction. Neurobiol Dis. 2010;37(1):26–32.
- 94. Chodobski A, Zink BJ, Szmydynger-Chodobska J. Blood-Brain Barrier Pathophysiology in Traumatic Brain Injury. Transl Stroke Res. 2011;2(4):492–516.
- 95. Saunders NR, Knott GW, Dziegielewska KM. Barriers in the immature brain. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2000;20(1):29–40.
- 96. Janzer RC, Raff MC. Astrocytes induce blood-brain barrier properties in endothelial cells. Vol. 325, Nature. 1987. p. 253–7.
- 97. Shlosberg D, Benifla M, Kaufer D, Friedman A. Blood-brain barrier breakdown as a therapeutic target in traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010;6(7):393–403.
- 98. Beaumont A, Marmarou A, Hayasaki K, Barzo P, Fatouros P, Corwin F, et al. The Permissive Nature of Blood Brain Barrier (BBB) Opening in Edema Formation Following Traumatic Brain Injury. In: Brain Edema XI. Vienna: Springer Vienna; 2000. p. 125–9.
- Blixt J, Svensson M, Gunnarson E, Wanecek M. Aquaporins and blood-brain barrier permeability in early edema development after traumatic brain injury. Brain Res. 2015;1611:18–28.
- Tibbling G, Link H, Ohman S. Principles of albumin and IgG analyses in neurological disorders. I. Establishment of reference values. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1977/09/01. 1977;37(5):385–90.
- 101. Reiber H. Proteins in cerebrospinal fluid and blood: barriers, CSF flow rate and source-related dynamics. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 2003/10/08. 2003;21(3–4):79–96.
- 102. Nag S (editor). The Blood-Brain and Other Neural Barriers. Reviews and Protocols. 1st ed. Walker JM, editor. New York: Springer Science + Business Media LLC; 2011.
- 103. Blyth BJ, Farhavar A, Gee C, Hawthorn B, He H, Nayak A, et al. Validation of serum markers for blood-brain barrier disruption in traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2009/03/05. 2009;26(9):1497–507.
- 104. Blyth BJ, Farahvar A, He H, Nayak A, Yang C, Shaw G, et al. Elevated serum ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 is associated with abnormal blood-brain barrier function after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2011/03/25. 2011;28(12):2453–62.
- 105. Bellander BM, Olafsson IH, Ghatan PH, Bro Skejo HP, Hansson LO, Wanecek M, et al. Secondary insults following traumatic brain injury enhance complement activation

in the human brain and release of the tissue damage marker S100B. Acta Neurochir. 2010/08/06. 2011;153(1):90–100.

- 106. Kleindienst A, Schmidt C, Parsch H, Emtmann I, Xu Y, Buchfelder M. The Passage of S100B from Brain to Blood Is Not Specifically Related to the Blood-Brain Barrier Integrity. Cardiovasc Psychiatry Neurol. 2010/07/31. 2010;2010:801295.
- 107. Dinet V, Petry KG, Badaut J. Brain–Immune Interactions and Neuroinflammation After Traumatic Brain Injury. Front Neurosci. 2019;13(November).
- 108. Unterberg AW, Stover J, Kress B, Kiening KL. Edema and brain trauma. Neuroscience. 2004/11/25. 2004;129(4):1021–9.
- 109. Marmarou A, Signoretti S, Fatouros PP, Portella G, Aygok GA, Bullock MR. Predominance of cellular edema in traumatic brain swelling in patients with severe head injuries. J Neurosurg. 2006;104(5):720–30.
- 110. Stokum JA, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. Molecular pathophysiology of cerebral edema. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2016;36(3):513–38.
- 111. Donkin JJ, Vink R. Mechanisms of cerebral edema in traumatic brain injury: Therapeutic developments. Curr Opin Neurol. 2010;23(3):293–9.
- 112. Jha RM, Kochanek PM, Simard JM. Pathophysiology and treatment of cerebral edema in traumatic brain injury. Neuropharmacology. 2019;145(July 2018):230–46.
- 113. Lemarchant S, Badaut J. Brain Edema Formation in Traumatic Brain Injury. In: Plesnila N, Badaut J, editors. Brain edema: From Molecular Mechanisms to Clinical Practice. San Diego: Elsevier Science & Technology.; 2017. p. 236–59.
- 114. Clément T, Rodriguez-Grande B, Badaut J. Aquaporins in brain edema. J Neurosci Res. 2020;98(1):9–18.
- 115. Hu Y, Seker B, Exner C, Zhang J, Plesnila N, Schwarzmaier SM. Longitudinal Characterization of Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability after Experimental Traumatic Brain Injury by in Vivo 2-Photon Microscopy. J Neurotrauma. 2021;38(4):399–410.
- 116. Wei XE, Zhang YZ, Li YH, Li MH, Li W Bin. Dynamics of rabbit brain edema in focal lesion and perilesion area after traumatic brain injury: A MRI study. J Neurotrauma. 2012;29(14):2413–20.
- 117. Tourdias T, Mori N, Dragonu I, Cassagno N, Boiziau C, Aussudre J, et al. Differential aquaporin 4 expression during edema build-up and resolution phases of brain inflammation. J Neuroinflammation. 2011;8(1):143.
- 118. Clausen F, Hånell A, Israelsson C, Hedin J, Ebendal T, Mir AK, et al. Neutralization of interleukin-1β reduces cerebral edema and tissue loss and improves late cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury in mice. Eur J Neurosci. 2011 Jul;34(1):110– 23.
- 119. Laird MD, Shields JS, Sukumari-Ramesh S, Kimbler DE, Fessler RD, Shakir B, et al. High mobility group box protein-1 promotes cerebral edema after traumatic brain injury via activation of toll-like receptor 4. Glia. 2014;62(1):26–38.
- 120. Okuma Y, Liu K, Wake H, Zhang J, Maruo T, Date I, et al. Anti-high mobility group box-1 antibody therapy for traumatic brain injury. Ann Neurol. 2012 Sep;72(3):373–

84.

- 121. Russo M V., McGavern DB. Inflammatory neuroprotection following traumatic brain injury. Science (80-). 2016 Aug 19;353(6301):783–5.
- 122. Lucas S-M, Rothwell NJ, Gibson RM. The role of inflammation in CNS injury and disease. Br J Pharmacol. 2006 Feb 2;147(S1):S232–40.
- 123. DiSabato DJ, Quan N, Godbout JP. Neuroinflammation: the devil is in the details. J Neurochem. 2016 Oct;139:136–53.
- 124. Gadani SP, Walsh JT, Lukens JR, Kipnis J. Dealing with Danger in the CNS: The Response of the Immune System to Injury. Neuron. 2015;87(1):47–62.
- 125. Lindblad C, Thelin EP. Inflammation, Neurovascular Clearance and Associated Pathologies: A Translational Review Focusing on Traumatic Brain Injury. In: Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences. Elsevier; 2019.
- 126. Simon DW, McGeachy MJ, Baylr H, Clark RSB, Loane DJ, Kochanek PM. The farreaching scope of neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13(3):171–91.
- 127. Shi K, Zhang J, Dong J fei, Shi FD. Dissemination of brain inflammation in traumatic brain injury. Cell Mol Immunol. 2019;16(6):523–30.
- 128. Corps KN, Roth TL, McGavern DB. Inflammation and neuroprotection in traumatic brain injury. JAMA Neurol. 2015 Mar 1;72(3):355–62.
- 129. Abdul-Muneer PM, Chandra N, Haorah J. Interactions of Oxidative Stress and Neurovascular Inflammation in the Pathogenesis of Traumatic Brain Injury. Mol Neurobiol. 2015;51(3):966–79.
- 130. Burda JE, Bernstein AM, Sofroniew M V. Astrocyte roles in traumatic brain injury. Exp Neurol. 2016;275:305–15.
- Pekny M, Nilsson M. Astrocyte activation and reactive gliosis. Glia. 2005;50(4):427– 34.
- Liddelow SA, Guttenplan KA, Clarke LE, Bennett FC, Bohlen CJ, Schirmer L, et al. Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. Nature. 2017;541(7638):481–7.
- Abdul-Muneer PM, Pfister BJ, Haorah J, Chandra N. Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases in the Pathogenesis of Traumatic Brain Injury. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53(9):6106–23.
- 134. Hanamsagar R, Hanke ML, Kielian T. Toll-like receptor (TLR) and inflammasome actions in the central nervous system. Trends Immunol. 2012;33(7):333–42.
- Xu X, Yin D, Ren H, Gao W, Li F, Sun D, et al. Selective NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor reduces neuroinflammation and improves long-term neurological outcomes in a murine model of traumatic brain injury. Neurobiol Dis. 2018;117(February):15– 27.
- 136. Di Virgilio F. Liaisons dangereuses: P2X7 and the inflammasome. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2007;28(9):465–72.

- Felderhoff-Mueser U, Schmidt OI, Oberholzer A, Bührer C, Stahel PF. IL-18: A key player in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration? Trends Neurosci. 2005;28(9):487–93.
- 138. Sulhan S, Lyon KA, Shapiro LA, Huang JH. Neuroinflammation and blood–brain barrier disruption following traumatic brain injury: Pathophysiology and potential therapeutic targets. J Neurosci Res. 2020;98(1):19–28.
- 139. Rosenberg GA. Matrix metalloproteinases in neuroinflammation. Glia. 2002;39(3):279–91.
- 140. Semple BD, Bye N, Ziebell JM, Morganti-Kossmann MC. Deficiency of the chemokine receptor CXCR2 attenuates neutrophil infiltration and cortical damage following closed head injury. Neurobiol Dis. 2010;40(2):394–403.
- 141. Needham EJ, Stoevesandt O, Thelin EP, Zetterberg H, Zanier ER, Al Nimer F, et al. Complex Autoantibody Responses Occur following Moderate to Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. J Immunol. 2021;207(1):90–100.
- 142. Oberheim NA, Goldman SA, Nedergaard M. Heterogeneity of astrocytic form and function. Methods Mol Biol. 2011/12/07. 2012;814:23–45.
- 143. Pekny M, Pekna M. Astrocyte reactivity and reactive astrogliosis: Costs and benefits. Physiol Rev. 2014;94(4):1077–98.
- 144. Adams KL, Gallo V. The diversity and disparity of the glial scar. Nat Neurosci. 2017/12/23. 2018;21(1):9–15.
- 145. Freeman MR. Specification and morphogenesis of astrocytes. Science (80-). 2010/11/06. 2010;330(6005):774–8.
- 146. Tsai HH, Li H, Fuentealba LC, Molofsky A V., Taveira-Marques R, Zhuang H, et al. Regional astrocyte allocation regulates CNS synaptogenesis and repair. Science (80-). 2012;337(6092):358–62.
- 147. Barres BA. The mystery and magic of glia: a perspective on their roles in health and disease. Neuron. 2008/11/11. 2008;60(3):430–40.
- Liddelow S, Barres B. SnapShot: Astrocytes in Health and Disease. Cell. 2015;162(5):1170-1170.e1.
- 149. Emsley JG, Macklis JD. Astroglial heterogeneity closely reflects the neuronal-defined anatomy of the adult murine CNS. Neuron Glia Biol. 2007/03/16. 2006;2(3):175–86.
- 150. Eng LF, Ghirnikar RS, Lee YL. Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein: GFAP-Thirty-One Years (1969-2000)\*. Neurochem Res. 2000;25(9):1439–51.
- 151. Sun W, Cornwell A, Li J, Peng S, Joana Osorio M, Aalling N, et al. SOX9 is an astrocyte-specific nuclear marker in the adult brain outside the neurogenic regions. J Neurosci. 2017 Apr 26;37(17):4493–507.
- Middeldorp J, Hol EM. GFAP in health and disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;93(3):421–43.
- 153. Regan MR, Huang YH, Yu SK, Dykes-Hoberg MI, Jin L, Watkins AM, et al. Variations in promoter activity reveal a differential expression and physiology of glutamate transporters by glia in the developing and mature CNS. J Neurosci.

2007;27(25):6607-19.

- 154. Lovatt D, Sonnewald U, Waagepetersen HS, Schousboe A, He W, Lin JHC, et al. The transcriptome and metabolic gene signature of protoplasmic astrocytes in the adult murine cortex. J Neurosci. 2007;27(45):12255–66.
- 155. Banker GA. Trophic interactions between astroglial cells and hippocampal neurons in culture. Science (80- ). 1980/08/15. 1980;209(4458):809–10.
- 156. Anderson MA, Ao Y, Sofroniew M V. Heterogeneity of reactive astrocytes. Neurosci Lett. 2013/12/24. 2014;565:23–9.
- 157. Sofroniew M V. Molecular dissection of reactive astrogliosis and glial scar formation. Trends Neurosci. 2009;32(12):638–47.
- 158. Zhang Y, Barres BA. Astrocyte heterogeneity: an underappreciated topic in neurobiology. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2010 Oct;20(5):588–94.
- 159. Hasel P, Rose IVL, Sadick JS, Kim RD, Liddelow SA. Neuroinflammatory astrocyte subtypes in the mouse brain. Nat Neurosci. 2021;24(10):1475–87.
- 160. Zamanian JL, Xu L, Foo LC, Nouri N, Zhou L, Giffard RG, et al. Genomic analysis of reactive astrogliosis. J Neurosci. 2012/05/04. 2012;32(18):6391–410.
- 161. Barbar L, Jain T, Zimmer M, Kruglikov I, Sadick JS, Wang M, et al. CD49f Is a Novel Marker of Functional and Reactive Human iPSC-Derived Astrocytes. Neuron. 2020;107(3):436-453.e12.
- Guttenplan KA, Weigel MK, Prakash P, Wijewardhane PR, Hasel P, Rufen-Blanchette U, et al. Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes induce cell death via saturated lipids. Nature. 2021;
- 163. Burda JE, Sofroniew M V. Reactive gliosis and the multicellular response to CNS damage and disease. Neuron. 2014/01/28. 2014;81(2):229–48.
- 164. Fukuda AM, Badaut J. Aquaporin 4: A player in cerebral edema and neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation. 2012;9:1–9.
- 165. Ohnishi M, Monda A, Takemoto R, Fujimoto Y, Sugitani M, Iwamura T, et al. Highmobility group box 1 up-regulates aquaporin 4 expression via microglia-astrocyte interaction. Neurochem Int. 2014/06/04. 2014;75:32–8.
- 166. Ren Z, Iliff JJ, Yang L, Yang J, Chen X, Chen MJ, et al. "Hit & Run" model of closedskull traumatic brain injury (TBI) reveals complex patterns of post-traumatic AQP4 dysregulation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2013/02/28. 2013;33(6):834–45.
- 167. Fukuda AM, Pop V, Spagnoli D, Ashwal S, Obenaus A, Badaut J. Delayed increase of astrocytic aquaporin 4 after juvenile traumatic brain injury: Possible role in edema resolution? Neuroscience. 2012;222:366–78.
- 168. Steiner E, Enzmann GU, Lin S, Ghavampour S, Hannocks MJ, Zuber B, et al. Loss of astrocyte polarization upon transient focal brain ischemia as a possible mechanism to counteract early edema formation. Glia. 2012;60(11):1646–59.
- Iliff JJ, Chen MJ, Plog BA, Zeppenfeld DM, Soltero M, Yang L, et al. Impairment of glymphatic pathway function promotes tau pathology after traumatic brain injury. J Neurosci. 2014/12/05. 2014;34(49):16180–93.

- Plog BA, Dashnaw ML, Hitomi E, Peng W, Liao Y, Lou N, et al. Biomarkers of traumatic injury are transported from brain to blood via the glymphatic system. J Neurosci. 2015/01/16. 2015;35(2):518–26.
- 171. Manley GT, Fujimura M, Ma T, Noshita N, Filiz F, Bollen AW, et al. Aquaporin-4 deletion in mice reduces brain edema after acute water intoxication and ischemic stroke. Nat Med. 2000;6(2):159–63.
- 172. Yao X, Uchida K, Papadopoulos MC, Zador Z, Manley GT, Verkman AS. Mildly Reduced Brain Swelling and Improved Neurological Outcome in Aquaporin-4 Knockout Mice following Controlled Cortical Impact Brain Injury. J Neurotrauma. 2015 Oct;32(19):1458–64.
- 173. Verkman AS, Anderson MO, Papadopoulos MC. Aquaporins: Important but elusive drug targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2014;13(4):259–77.
- 174. Papadopoulos MC, Manley GT, Krishna S, Verkman AS. Aquaporin-4 facilitates reabsorption of excess fluid in vasogenic brain edema. FASEB J. 2004;18(11):1291–3.
- 175. Verkman AS, Smith AJ, Phuan P wah, Tradtrantip L, Anderson MO. The aquaporin-4 water channel as a potential drug target in neurological disorders. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2017;21(12):1161–70.
- 176. Kitchen P, Salman MM, Halsey AM, Clarke-Bland C, MacDonald JA, Ishida H, et al. Targeting Aquaporin-4 Subcellular Localization to Treat Central Nervous System Edema. Cell. 2020;181(4):784-799.e19.
- 177. Lazovic J, Basu A, Lin HW, Rothstein RP, Krady JK, Smith MB, et al. Neuroinflammation and both cytotoxic and vasogenic edema are reduced in interleukin-1 type 1 receptor-deficient mice conferring neuroprotection. Stroke. 2005;36(10):2226–31.
- 178. Smit LH, Korse CM, Bonfrer JM. Comparison of four different assays for determination of serum S-100B. Int J Biol Markers. 2005/04/19. 2005;20(1):34–42.
- Johanson CE, Stopa EG, McMillan PN. The blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier: structure and functional significance. Methods Mol Biol. 2010/11/18. 2011;686:101– 31.
- Correale J, Rabinowicz AL, Heck CN, Smith TD, Loskota WJ, DeGiorgio CM. Status epilepticus increases CSF levels of neuron-specific enolase and alters the blood-brain barrier. Neurology. 1998/05/22. 1998;50(5):1388–91.
- 181. Team RC. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2018.
- Trapletti A, Hornik K. tseries: Time Series Analysis and Computation Finance. 0.10-45. R package; 2018.
- Helfenstein U. Box-Jenkins modelling in medical research. Stat Methods Med Res. 1996 Mar;5(1):3–22.
- 184. Hyndman RJ, Khandakar Y. Automatic time series forecasting: The forecast package for R. J Stat Softw. 2008;27(3):1–22.
- 185. Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, D. S. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects

Models. . version 3. R package: R Core Team; 2018.

- 186. West BT, Welch KB, Galecki AT. Linear Mixed Models A Practical Guide Using Statistical Software. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2015.
- 187. Weisner B, Bernhardt W. Protein fractions of lumbar, cisternal, and ventricular cerebrospinal fluid. J Neurol Sci. 1978 Jul;37(3):205–14.
- 188. Zetterberg H, Blennow K. Fluid biomarkers for mild traumatic brain injury and related conditions. Nat Publ Gr. 2016;
- 189. Abu Hamdeh S, Shevchenko G, Mi J, Musunuri S, Bergquist J, Marklund N. Proteomic differences between focal and diffuse traumatic brain injury in human brain tissue. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):1–15.
- 190. Pin E, Sjöberg R, Andersson E, Hellström C, Olofsson J, Jernbom Falk A, et al. Array-Based Profiling of Proteins and Autoantibody Repertoires in CSF. In: Santamaría E, Fernández-Irigoyen J, editors. Cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF) Proteomics: Methods and Protocols. New York: Springer Science + Business Media LLC; 2019. p. 303–18.
- 191. Schwenk JM, Gry M, Rimini R, Uhlén M, Nilsson P. Antibody Suspension Bead Arrays within Serum Proteomics. J Proteome Res. 2008;7(8):3168–79.
- 192. Collaborators. HPA. The Human Protein Atlas [Internet]. 2005.
- 193. Sjostedt E, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Haggmark A, Mitsios N, Nilsson P, et al. Defining the Human Brain Proteome Using Transcriptomics and Antibody-Based Profiling with a Focus on the Cerebral Cortex. PLoS One. 2015/06/16. 2015;10(6):e0130028.
- 194. Hanrieder J, Wetterhall M, Enblad P, Hillered L, Bergquist J. Temporally resolved differential proteomic analysis of human ventricular CSF for monitoring traumatic brain injury biomarker candidates. J Neurosci Methods. 2009;177(2):469–78.
- 195. Xu B, Tian R, Wang X, Zhan S, Wang R, Guo Y, et al. Protein profile changes in the frontotemporal lobes in human severe traumatic brain injury. Brain Res. 2016 Jul 1;1642:344–52.
- 196. Harish G, Mahadevan A, Pruthi N, Sreenivasamurthy SK, Puttamallesh VN, Keshava Prasad TS, et al. Characterization of traumatic brain injury in human brains reveals distinct cellular and molecular changes in contusion and pericontusion. J Neurochem. 2015 Jul 1;134(1):156–72.
- 197. Bellander B-M, Singhrao SK, Ohlsson M, Mattsson P, Svensson M. Complement Activation in the Human Brain after Traumatic Head Injury. J Neurotrauma. 2001 Dec;18(12):1295–311.
- 198. Helmy A, Carpenter KLH, Menon DK, Pickard JD, Hutchinson PJA. The cytokine response to human traumatic brain injury: Temporal profiles and evidence for cerebral parenchymal production. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;31(2):658–70.
- 199. Thelin EP, Just D, Frostell A, Häggmark-Månberg A, Risling M, Svensson M, et al. Protein profiling in serum after traumatic brain injury in rats reveals potential injury markers. Behav Brain Res. 2018;340:71–80.
- 200. Salim A, Hadjizacharia P, Brown C, Inaba K, Teixeira PGR, Chan L, et al.

Significance of troponin elevation after severe traumatic brain injury. J Trauma - Inj Infect Crit Care. 2008;64(1):46–52.

- 201. Schwenk JM, Nilsson P. Antibody Suspension Bead Arrays. In: Wu CJ, editor. Protein Microarray for Disease Analysis Methods and Protocols. New York: Springer Science + Business Media LLC; 2011. p. 29–36.
- 202. Berger RP, Ta'asan S, Rand A, Lokshin A, Kochanek P. Multiplex assessment of serum biomarker concentrations in well-appearing children with inflicted traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Res. 2009;65(1):97–102.
- 203. Sjödin MOD, Bergquist J, Wetterhall M. Mining ventricular cerebrospinal fluid from patients with traumatic brain injury using hexapeptide ligand libraries to search for trauma biomarkers. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2010;878(22):2003–12.
- 204. Connor DE, Chaitanya G V., Chittiboina P, McCarthy P, Scott LK, Schrott L, et al. Variations in the cerebrospinal fluid proteome following traumatic brain injury and subarachnoid hemorrhage. Pathophysiology. 2017;24(3):169–83.
- 205. Conti A, Sanchez-Ruiz Y, Bachi A, Beretta L, Grandi E, Beltramo M, et al. Proteome Study of Human Cerebrospinal Fluid following Traumatic Brain Injury Indicates Fibrin(ogen) Degradation Products as Trauma-Associated Markers. J Neurotrauma. 2004;21(7):854–63.
- 206. Halford J, Shen S, Itamura K, Levine J, Chong AC, Czerwieniec G, et al. New astroglial injury-defined biomarkers for neurotrauma assessment. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2017;37(10):3278–99.
- 207. Stefini R, Catenacci E, Piva S, Sozzani S, Valerio A, Bergomi R, et al. Chemokine detection in the cerebral tissue of patients with posttraumatic brain contusions. J Neurosurg. 2008;108(5):958–62.
- 208. Buttram SDW, Wisniewski SR, Jackson EK, Adelson PD, Feldman K, Bayir H, et al. Multiplex Assessment of Cytokine and Chemokine Levels in Cerebrospinal Fluid following Severe Pediatric Traumatic Brain Injury: Effects of Moderate Hypothermia. J Neurotrauma. 2007 Nov;24(11):1707–18.
- 209. Kingsmore SF. Multiplexed protein measurement: Technologies and applications of protein and antibody arrays. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2006;5(4):310–20.
- 210. Neiman Kungliga Tekniska Högskolan M. Bead based protein profiling in blood.
- Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science (80-). 2015/01/24. 2015;347(6220):1260419.
- 212. The human brain The Human Protein Atlas [Internet]. [cited 2020 May 19]. Available from: https://www.proteinatlas.org/humanproteome/brain
- 213. Van Der Maaten L, Hinton G. Visualizing Data using t-SNE. J Mach Learn Res. 2008;9:2579–605.
- 214. Krijthe JH. Rtsne: T-Distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding using a Barnes-Hut Implementation. GitHub; 2015.

- 215. Ulgen E, Ozisik O, Sezerman OU. PathfindR: An R package for comprehensive identification of enriched pathways in omics data through active subnetworks. Front Genet. 2019;10(SEP):1–33.
- 216. Holm S. A Simple Sequentially Rejective Multiple Test Procedure A Simple Sequentially Rejective Multiple Test Procedure. Scand J Stat. 1979;6(6):65–70.
- 217. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. CONTROLLING THE FALSE DISCOVERY RATE A PRACTICAL AND POWERFUL APPROACH TO MULTIPLE TESTING. J R Stat Soc Ser B-Methodological. 1995;57(1):289–300.
- 218. Harrell Jr FE. rms: Regression Modeling Strategies. 2019.
- 219. J D Nagelkerke BN. Miscellanea A note on a general definition of the coefficient of determination. Biometrika. 1991;78(3):691–2.
- 220. Lighthall JW. Controlled Cortical Impact: A New Experimental Brain Injury Model. J Neurotrauma. 1988;5(1):1–15.
- Edward Dixon C, Clifton GL, Lighthall JW, Yaghmai AA, Hayes RL. A controlled cortical impact model of traumatic brain injury in the rat. J Neurosci Methods. 1991;39(3):253–62.
- 222. Thelin EP, Frostell A, Mulder J, Mitsios N, Damberg P, Aski SN, et al. Lesion size is exacerbated in hypoxic rats whereas hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha and vascular endothelial growth factor increase in injured normoxic rats: A prospective cohort study of secondary hypoxia in focal traumatic brain injury. Front Neurol. 2016;7(MAR):1–17.
- 223. Lindblad C, Thelin EP. Secondary Insults in Experimental Traumatic Brain Injury: The Addition of Hypoxia. In: Risling M, Davidsson J, editors. Neuromethods: Animal Models of Neurotrauma. First edit. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2019. (Neuromethods; vol. 149).
- Osier ND, Dixon CE. The controlled cortical impact model: Applications, considerations for researchers, and future directions. Front Neurol. 2016;7(AUG):1–14.
- 225. Unterberg AW, Stroop R, Thomale UW, Kiening KL, Päuser S, Vollmann W. Characterisation of brain edema following "controlled cortical impact injury" in rats. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 1997;70(70):106–8.
- 226. Xiong Y, Mahmood A, Chopp M. Animal models of traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013/01/19. 2013;14(2):128–42.
- 227. Osier ND, Dixon CE. The Controlled Cortical Impact Model of Experimental Brain Trauma: Overview, Research Applications, and Protocol. In: Kobeissy F, Dixon CE, Hayes RL, Mondello S, editors. Injury Models of the Central Nervous System Methods in Molecular Biology. New York: Springer Protocols; 2016. p. 357–72.
- 228. Zweckberger K, Stoffel M, Baethmann A, Plesnila N. Effect of Decompression Craniotomy on Increase of Contusion Volume and Functional Outcome after Controlled Cortical Impact in Mice. J Neurotrauma. 2003;20(12):1307–14.
- 229. Friess SH, Lapidus JB, Brody DL. Decompressive Craniectomy Reduces White Matter Injury after Controlled Cortical Impact in Mice. J Neurotrauma.

2015;32(11):791-800.

- Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, et al. Fiji: An open-source platform for biological-image analysis. Nat Methods. 2012;9(7):676– 82.
- 231. Cardona A, Saalfeld S, Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Preibisch S, Longair M, et al. TrakEM2 software for neural circuit reconstruction. PLoS One. 2012;7(6).
- 232. ImageJ User Guide IJ 1.46r | Process Menu [Internet]. [cited 2021 Nov 9]. Available from: https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/docs/guide/146-29.html#toc-Subsection-29.13
- 233. Welcome to Python.org [Internet]. [cited 2021 Sep 28]. Available from: https://www.python.org/
- 234. PyCharm: the Python IDE for Professional Developers by JetBrains [Internet]. [cited 2021 Sep 27]. Available from: https://www.jetbrains.com/pycharm/
- 235. Zitová B, Flusser J. Image registration methods: A survey. Image Vis Comput. 2003;21(11):977–1000.
- 236. Wang CW, Ka SM, Chen A. Robust image registration of biological microscopic images. Sci Rep. 2014;4:1–12.
- 237. Brown LG. A survey of image registration techniques. ACM Comput Surv. 1992;24(4):325–76.
- 238. Cardona A, Douglas R. TrakEM2 User Manual [Internet]. [cited 2021 Sep 17]. Available from: https://www.ini.uzh.ch/~acardona/trakem2\_manual.html
- Linfante I, Llinas RH, Caplan LR, Warach S. MRI Features of Intracerebral Hemorrhage Within 2 Hours From Symptom Onset. Stroke. 1999 Nov;30(11):2263–7.
- 240. Little P, Kvist O, Grankvist R, Jonsson S, Damberg P, Söderman M, et al. Preserved collateral blood flow in the endovascular M2CAO model allows for clinically relevant profiling of injury progression in acute ischemic stroke. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):1–15.
- 241. Quinn M, McMillin M, Galindo C, Frampton G, Pae HY, DeMorrow S. Bile acids permeabilize the blood brain barrier after bile duct ligation in rats via Rac1-dependent mechanisms. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46(6):527–34.
- 242. Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature. 1981;292(5819):154–6.
- 243. Martin GR. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1981;78(12 II):7634–8.
- 244. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Mouse Embryonic and Adult Fibroblast Cultures by Defined Factors. Cell. 2006;126(4):663– 76.
- Park IH, Zhao R, West JA, Yabuuchi A, Huo H, Ince TA, et al. Reprogramming of human somatic cells to pluripotency with defined factors. Nature. 2008;451(7175):141–6.
- 246. Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction

of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Adult Human Fibroblasts by Defined Factors. Cell. 2007;131(5):861–72.

- 247. Shi Y, Inoue H, Wu JC, Yamanaka S. Induced pluripotent stem cell technology: A decade of progress. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2017;16(2):115–30.
- 248. Rowitch DH, Kriegstein AR. Developmental genetics of vertebrate glial-cell specification. Nature. 2010;468(7321):214–22.
- 249. Zuchero JB, Barres BA. Glia in mammalian development and disease. Dev. 2015;142(22):3805–9.
- 250. Wichterle H, Lieberam I, Porter JA, Jessell TM. Directed differentiation of embryonic stem cells into motor neurons. Cell. 2002/08/15. 2002;110(3):385–97.
- 251. Kleiderman S, Sá J V., Teixeira AP, Brito C, Gutbier S, Evje LG, et al. Functional and phenotypic differences of pure populations of stem cell-derived astrocytes and neuronal precursor cells. Glia. 2016;64(5):695–715.
- 252. Roybon L, Lamas NJ, Garcia-Diaz A, Yang EJ, Sattler R, Jackson-Lewis V, et al. Human stem cell-derived spinal cord astrocytes with defined mature or reactive phenotypes. Cell Rep. 2013/09/03. 2013;4(5):1035–48.
- 253. Kim BJ, Kim SS, Kim YI, Paek SH, Lee YD, Suh-Kim H. Forskolin promotes astroglial differentiation of human central neurocytoma cells. Exp Mol Med. 2004 Feb 1;36(1):52–6.
- 254. McManus MF, Chen LC, Vallejo I, Vallejo M. Astroglial differentiation of cortical precursor cells triggered by activation of the cAMP-dependent signaling pathway. J Neurosci. 1999/10/12. 1999;19(20):9004–15.
- 255. Rajan P, McKay RDG. Multiple routes to astrocytic differentiation in the CNS. J Neurosci. 1998;18(10):3620–9.
- 256. Bonni A, Sun Y, Nadal-Vicens M, Bhatt A, Frank DA, Rozovsky I, et al. Regulation of gliogenesis in the central nervous system by the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. Science (80-). 1997/10/23. 1997;278(5337):477–83.
- Krencik R, Weick JP, Liu Y, Zhang ZJ, Zhang SC. Specification of transplantable astroglial subtypes from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2011;29(6):528–34.
- 258. Sloan SA, Darmanis S, Huber N, Khan TA, Birey F, Caneda C, et al. Human Astrocyte Maturation Captured in 3D Cerebral Cortical Spheroids Derived from Pluripotent Stem Cells. Neuron. 2017;95(4):779-790.e6.
- Canals I, Ginisty A, Quist E, Timmerman R, Fritze J, Miskinyte G, et al. Rapid and efficient induction of functional astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Methods. 2018;15(9):693–6.
- 260. Cahoy JD, Emery B, Kaushal A, Foo LC, Zamanian JL, Christopherson KS, et al. A Transcriptome Database for Astrocytes, Neurons, and Oligodendrocytes: A New Resource for Understanding Brain Development and Function. J Neurosci. 2008 Jan 2;28(1):264–78.
- 261. Zachariadis V, Cheng H, Andrews N, Enge M. A Highly Scalable Method for Joint

Whole-Genome Sequencing and Gene-Expression Profiling of Single Cells. Mol Cell. 2020;80(3):541-553.e5.

- 262. Zachariadis V, Cheng H, Andrews N, Enge M. Direct nuclear tagmentation and RNAsequencing (DNTR- seq ). protocols.io. 2020;
- 263. Picelli S, Faridani OR, Björklund ÅK, Winberg G, Sagasser S, Sandberg R. Fulllength RNA-seq from single cells using Smart-seq2. Nat Protoc. 2014;9(1):171–81.
- 264. Molofsky A V, Krenick R, Ullian E, Tsai H -h., Deneen B, Richardson WD, et al. Astrocytes and disease: a neurodevelopmental perspective. Genes Dev. 2012 May 1;26(9):891–907.
- 265. Pekny M, Wilhelmsson U, Pekna M. The dual role of astrocyte activation and reactive gliosis. Neurosci Lett. 2014;565:30–8.
- 266. Statens jordbruksverks författningssamling [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Mar 13]. Available from: http://www.jordbruksverket.se/download/18.7c1e1fce169bee5214fad877/1553851490 782/2019-009.pdf
- 267. Morganti-Kossmann MC, Semple BD, Hellewell SC, Bye N, Ziebell JM. The complexity of neuroinflammation consequent to traumatic brain injury: from research evidence to potential treatments. Acta Neuropathol. 2019;137(5):731–55.
- 268. Lag (2003:460) om etikprövning av forskning som avser människor Svensk författningssamling 2003:2003:460 t.o.m. SFS 2019:1144 - Riksdagen [Internet]. [cited 2020 Mar 27]. Available from: https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokumentlagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/lag-2003460-om-etikprovning-avforskning-som\_sfs-2003-460
- Korinek AM, Reina M, Boch AL, Rivera AO, De Bels D, Puybasset L. Prevention of external ventricular drain - Related ventriculitis. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2005;147(1):39–46.
- 270. Franco N. Animal Experiments in Biomedical Research: A Historical Perspective. Animals. 2013 Mar 19;3(1):238–73.
- 271. McConeghy KW, Hatton J, Hughes L, Cook AM. A review of neuroprotection pharmacology and therapies in patients with acute traumatic brain injury. CNS Drugs. 2012;26(7):613–36.
- 272. Janowitz T, Menon DK. Exploring new routes for neuroprotective drug development in traumatic brain injury. Sci Transl Med. 2010;2(27):1–11.
- 273. MacAulay N, Zeuthen T. Water transport between CNS compartments: Contributions of aquaporins and cotransporters. Neuroscience. 2010;168(4):941–56.
- 274. Philippidou P, Dasen JS. Hox Genes: Choreographers in Neural Development, Architects of Circuit Organization. Neuron. 2013;80(1):12–34.
- 275. Hochstim C, Deneen B, Lukaszewicz A, Zhou Q, Anderson DJ. Identification of Positionally Distinct Astrocyte Subtypes whose Identities Are Specified by a Homeodomain Code. Cell. 2008;133(3):510–22.
- 276. Lindblad C, Pin E, Just D, Al Nimer F, Nilsson P, Bellander B-M, et al. Fluid

Proteomics of CSF and Serum Reveal Important Neuroinammatory Proteins in Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption and Outcome Prediction Following Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: A Prospective, Observational Study. Crit Care. 2021;1–28.

- 277. Kaiser E, Kuzmits R, Pregant P, Burghuber O, Worofka W. Clinical biochemistry of neuron specific enolase. Clin Chim Acta. 1989/07/31. 1989;183(1):13–31.
- Isgro MA, Bottoni P, Scatena R. Neuron-Specific Enolase as a Biomarker: Biochemical and Clinical Aspects. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2015/11/05. 2015;867:125–43.
- 279. Donato R. S100: a multigenic family of calcium-modulated proteins of the EF-hand type with intracellular and extracellular functional roles. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2001/06/08. 2001;33(7):637–68.
- Steiner J, Bernstein HG, Bielau H, Berndt A, Brisch R, Mawrin C, et al. Evidence for a wide extra-astrocytic distribution of S100B in human brain. BMC Neurosci. 2007/01/04. 2007;8:2.
- Anderson RE, Hansson LO, Nilsson O, Dijlai-Merzoug R, Settergren G. High serum S100B levels for trauma patients without head injuries. Neurosurgery. 2001/06/01. 2001;48(6):1255–60.
- 282. Johnsson P, Blomquist S, Luhrs C, Malmkvist G, Alling C, Solem JO, et al. Neuronspecific enolase increases in plasma during and immediately after extracorporeal circulation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000/04/06. 2000;69(3):750–4.
- 283. Perel P, Edwards P, Wentz R, Roberts I. Systematic review of prognostic models in traumatic brain injury. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2006;6:1–10.
- 284. Mushkudiani NA, Hukkelhoven CWPM, Hernández A V., Murray GD, Choi SC, Maas AIR, et al. A systematic review finds methodological improvements necessary for prognostic models in determining traumatic brain injury outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(4):331–43.
- 285. Perel PA, Olldashi F, Muzha I, Filipi N, Lede R, Copertari P, et al. Predicting outcome after traumatic brain injury: Practical prognostic models based on large cohort of international patients. Bmj. 2008;336(7641):425–9.
- 286. Dijkland SA, Foks KA, Polinder S, Dippel DWJ, Maas AIR, Lingsma HF, et al. Prognosis in moderate and severe traumatic brain injury: A systematic review of contemporary models and validation studies. J Neurotrauma. 2020;37(1):1–13.
- 287. Steyerberg EW, Mushkudiani N, Perel P, Butcher I, Lu J, McHugh GS, et al. Predicting outcome after traumatic brain injury: Development and international validation of prognostic scores based on admission characteristics. PLoS Med. 2008;5(8):1251–61.
- 288. Dijkland SA, Helmrich IRAR, Nieboer D, Van Der Jagt M, Dippel DWJ, Menon DK, et al. Outcome Prediction after Moderate and Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: External Validation of Two Established Prognostic Models in 1742 European Patients. J Neurotrauma. 2021;38(10):1377–88.
- 289. McHugh GS, Engel DC, Butcher I, Steyerberg EW, Lu J, Mushkudiani N, et al. Prognostic value of secondary insults in traumatic brain injury: Results from the IMPACT study. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(2):287–93.

- 290. Volpi PC, Robba C, Rota M, Vargiolu A, Citerio G. Trajectories of early secondary insults correlate to outcomes of traumatic brain injury: Results from a large, single centre, observational study 11 Medical and Health Sciences 1103 Clinical Sciences. BMC Emerg Med. 2018;18(1):1–9.
- 291. Elf K, Nilsson P, Enblad P. Outcome after traumatic brain injury improved by an organized secondary insult program and standardized neurointensive care. Crit Care Med. 2002;30(9):2129–34.
- 292. Longhi L, Orsini F, De Blasio D, Fumagalli S, Ortolano F, Locatelli M, et al. Mannose-binding lectin is expressed after clinical and experimental traumatic brain injury and its deletion is protective. Crit Care Med. 2014;42(8):1910–8.
- 293. Stahel PF, Trentz O, Kossmann T, Morganti-Kossmann MC, Perez D, Redaelli C, et al. Intrathecal levels of complement-derived soluble membrane attack complex (sc5b-9) correlate with blood-brain barrier dysfunction in patients with traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2001;18(8):773–81.
- 294. Kossmann T, Stahel PF, Morganti-Kossmann MC, Jones JL, Barnum SR. Elevated levels of the complement components C3 and factor B in ventricular cerebrospinal fluid of patients with traumatic brain injury. J Neuroimmunol. 1997;73(1–2):63–9.
- 295. Kanmogne M, Klein RS. Neuroprotective versus Neuroinflammatory Roles of Complement: From Development to Disease. Trends Neurosci. 2021;44(2):97–109.
- 296. Veerhuis R, Nielsen HM, Tenner AJ. Complement in the brain. Mol Immunol. 2011;48(14):1592–603.
- 297. Woodruff TM, Ager RR, Tenner AJ, Noakes PG, Taylor SM. The role of the complement system and the activation fragment C5a in the central nervous system. NeuroMolecular Med. 2010;12(2):179–92.
- 298. Carpanini SM, Torvell M, Morgan BP. Therapeutic inhibition of the complement system in diseases of the central nervous system. Front Immunol. 2019;10(MAR):1–17.
- 299. Alawieh A, Tomlinson S. Injury site-specific targeting of complement inhibitors for treating stroke. Immunol Rev. 2016;274(1):270–80.
- Alawieh A, Langley EF, Weber S, Adkins D, Tomlinson S. Identifying the role of complement in triggering neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury. J Neurosci. 2018;38(10):2519–32.
- 301. Stahel PF, Morganti-Kossmann MC, Kossmann T. The role of the complement system in traumatic brain injury. Brain Res Rev. 1998;27(3):243–56.
- 302. Alawieh A, Chalhoub RM, Mallah K, Langley EF, York M, Broome H, et al. Complement Drives Synaptic Degeneration and Progressive Cognitive Decline in the Chronic Phase after Traumatic Brain Injury. J Neurosci. 2021 Feb 24;41(8):1830–43.
- 303. Mallah K, Couch C, Alshareef M, Borucki D, Yang X, Alawieh A, et al. Complement mediates neuroinflammation and cognitive decline at extended chronic time points after traumatic brain injury. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2021;1–14.
- 304. Toutonji A, Mandava M, Guglietta S, Tomlinson S. Chronic complement dysregulation drives neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury: a transcriptomic

study. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2021;9(1):1–18.

- 305. Morganti-Kossmann MC, HANS VHJ, LENZLINGER PM, DUBS R, LUDWIG E, TRENTZ O, et al. TGF-β Is Elevated in the CSF of Patients with Severe Traumatic Brain Injuries and Parallels Blood-Brain Barrier Function. J Neurotrauma. 1999 Jul;16(7):617–28.
- 306. Morel L, Chiang MSR, Higashimori H, Shoneye T, Iyer LK, Yelick J, et al. Molecular and functional properties of regional astrocytes in the adult brain. J Neurosci. 2017;37(36):8706–17.
- 307. Clarke BE, Taha DM, Ziff OJ, Alam A, Thelin EP, Garcia NM, et al. Human stem cell-derived astrocytes exhibit region-specific heterogeneity in their secretory profiles. Brain. 2020;143(10):8–11.
- 308. Blamire AM, Anthony DC, Rajagopalan B, Sibson NR, Perry VH, Styles P. Interleukin-1β-induced changes in blood-brain barrier permeability, apparent diffusion coefficient, and cerebral blood volume in the rat brain: A magnetic resonance study. J Neurosci. 2000;20(21):8153–9.
- 309. Suehiro E, Fujisawa H, Akimura T, Ishihara H, Kajiwara K, Kato S, et al. Increased matrix metalloproteinase-9 in blood in association with activation of interleukin-6 after traumatic brain injury: Influence of hypothermic therapy. J Neurotrauma. 2004;21(12):1706–11.
- 310. Kossmann T, Hans VHJ, Imhof H-G, Stocker R, Grob P, Trentz O, et al. INTRATHECAL AND SERUM INTERLEUKIN-6 AND THE ACUTE-PHASE RESPONSE IN PATIENTS WITH SEVERE TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURIES. Shock. 1995 Nov;4(5):311–7.
- 311. Leng K, Rooney B, Kim H, Xia W, Koontz M, Krawczyk M, et al. CRISPRi screens in human astrocytes elucidate regulators of distinct inflammatory reactive states. bioRxiv. 2021;2021.08.23.457400.
- 312. Skaper SD, Facci L, Leon A. Inflammatory Mediator Stimulation of Astrocytes and Meningeal Fibroblasts Induces Neuronal Degeneration via the Nitridergic Pathway. J Neurochem. 1995;64(1):266–76.
- 313. Vos CMP, Sjulson L, Nath A, McArthur JC, Pardo CA, Rothstein J, et al. Cytotoxicity by matrix metalloprotease-1 in organotypic spinal cord and dissociated neuronal cultures. Exp Neurol. 2000;163(2):324–30.
- 314. Li J, Pan L, Pembroke WG, Rexach JE, Godoy MI, Condro MC, et al. Conservation and divergence of vulnerability and responses to stressors between human and mouse astrocytes. Nat Commun. 2021;12(1):1–20.
- 315. Heye AK, Culling RD, Valdés Hernández MDC, Thrippleton MJ, Wardlaw JM. Assessment of blood-brain barrier disruption using dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI. A systematic review. NeuroImage Clin. 2014;6:262–74.
- 316. Wei XE, Wang D, Li MH, Zhang YZ, Li YH, Li W Bin. A useful tool for the initial assessment of blood-brain barrier permeability after traumatic brain injury in rabbits: Dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. J Trauma - Inj Infect Crit Care. 2011;71(6):1645–50.
- 317. Winter C, Bell C, Whyte T, Cardinal J, Macfarlane D, Rose S. Blood-brain barrier

dysfunction following traumatic brain injury: correlation of K trans (DCE-MRI) and SUVR (99mTc-DTPA SPECT) but not serum S100B. Neurol Res. 2015/03/10. 2015 Jun 2;37(7):599–606.

- 318. Dadas A, Washington J, Marchi N, Janigro D. Improving the clinical management of traumatic brain injury through the pharmacokinetic modeling of peripheral blood biomarkers. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2016/12/03. 2016 Dec 30;13(1):21.
- 319. Winter CD, Iannotti F, Pringle AK, Trikkas C, Clough GF, Church MK. A microdialysis method for the recovery of IL-1β, IL-6 and nerve growth factor from human brain in vivo. J Neurosci Methods. 2002;119(1):45–50.
- Winter CD, Pringle AK, Clough GF, Church MK. Raised parenchymal interleukin-6 levels correlate with improved outcome after traumatic brain injury. Brain. 2004;127(2):315–20.
- 321. Hutchinson PJ, O'Connell MT, Rothwell NJ, Hopkins SJ, Nortje J, Carpenter KLH, et al. Inflammation in human brain injury: Intracerebral concentrations of IL-1α, IL-1β, and their endogenous inhibitor IL-1ra. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(10):1545–57.
- Helmy A, Carpenter KLH, Skepper JN, Kirkpatrick PJ, Pickard JD, Hutchinson PJ. Microdialysis of cytokines: Methodological considerations, scanning electron microscopy, and determination of relative recovery. J Neurotrauma. 2009;26(4):549– 61.
- 323. Hillman J, Åneman O, Andersen C, Sjögren F, Säberg C, Mellergård P. A microdialysis technique for routine measurement of macromolecules in the injured human brain. Neurosurgery. 2005;56(6):1264–8.
- 324. Helmy A, Guilfoyle MR, Carpenter KLH, Pickard JD, Menon DK, Hutchinson PJ. Recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in severe traumatic brain injury: A phase II randomized control trial. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2014;34(5):845–51.
- 325. Giorgi-Coll S, Thelin EP, Lindblad C, Tajsic T, Carpenter KLH, Hutchinson PJA, et al. Dextran 500 Improves Recovery of Inflammatory Markers: An In Vitro Microdialysis Study. J Neurotrauma. 2020 Jan 1;37(1):106–14.
- 326. van Erp IAM, van Essen TA, Fluiter K, van Zwet E, van Vliet P, Baas F, et al. Safety and efficacy of C1-inhibitor in traumatic brain injury (CIAO@TBI): study protocol for a randomized, placebo-controlled, multi-center trial. Trials. 2021;22(1):1–11.
- 327. Bush TG, Puvanachandra N, Horner CH, Polito A, Ostenfeld T, Svendsen CN, et al. Leukocyte infiltration, neuronal degeneration, and neurite outgrowth after ablation of scar-forming, reactive astrocytes in adult transgenic mice. Neuron. 1999;23(2):297– 308.
- 328. Anderson MA, Burda JE, Ren Y, Ao Y, O'Shea TM, Kawaguchi R, et al. Astrocyte scar formation aids central nervous system axon regeneration. Nature. 2016/03/31. 2016;532(7598):195–200.